
 

   
 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
   

 
NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA 

 
Marin Local Agency Formation Commission  

 
Thursday, February 9, 2023  ▪  7:00 PM 

 
*** BY VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE ONLY *** 

 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of AB 361, this meeting will be held by teleconference only. No physical location 
will be available for this meeting. However, members of the public will be able to access and participate in the 
meeting. 

PUBLIC ACCESS AND PUBLIC COMMENT INSTRUCTIONS 
 
PUBLIC ACCESS  
Members of the public may access and watch a live stream of the meeting on Zoom at 
https://zoom.us/j/4350473750. Alternatively, the public may listen in to the meeting by dialing (669) 900-6833 
and entering Meeting ID 4350473750# when prompted.  
 
WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS may be submitted by email to staff@marinlafco.org. Written comments will 
be distributed to the Commission as quickly as possible. Please note that documents may take up to 24 hours 
to be posted to the agenda on the LAFCo website.  
 
SPOKEN PUBLIC COMMENTS will be accepted through the teleconference meeting. To address the 
Commission, click on the link https://zoom.us/j/4350473750 to access the Zoom-based meeting.  
 

1. You will be asked to enter an email address and name. We request that you identify yourself by name 
as this will be visible online and will be used to notify you that it is your turn to speak.  

 
2. When the Commission calls for the item on which you wish to speak, click on “raise hand” icon. Staff 

will activate and unmute speakers in turn. Speakers will be notified shortly before they are called to 
speak.  

 
3. When called, please limit your remarks to the time limit allotted (3 minutes). 

 
CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIR  
  
ROLL CALL BY CLERK 
 
AGENDA REVIEW 
The Chair or designee will consider any requests to remove or rearrange items by members.  
 
PUBLIC OPEN TIME 
This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Commission on any matter not on 
the current agenda. All statements that require a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing or will be 
placed on the Commission’s agenda for consideration at a later meeting. Speakers are limited to three 
minutes.  

https://zoom.us/j/4350473750
staff@marinlafco.org
https://zoom.us/j/4350473750


MARIN LAFCo 
February 9, 2023  Regular Meeting Agenda 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS (discussion and possible action)     
All items calendared as consent are considered ministerial or non-substantive and subject to a single motion 
approval. The Chair or designee will also consider requests from the Commission to pull an item for 
discussion. 

 
1. Approval of Minutes for December 8, 2022, Regular Meeting  

 
2. Commission Ratification of Payments from December 1, 2022, to January 31, 2023 

 
3. Approval of Resolution 23-01 Allowing for Video and Teleconference Meetings during COVID-19 

State of Emergency Under AB 361 
 

PUBLIC HEARING  
 

4. Presentation of the Golden Gate Corridor Region Municipal Service Review Public Draft [Information 
Only] 

 
 
BUSINESS ITEMS (discussion and possible action)  
Business Items involve administrative, budgetary, legislative, or personnel matters and may or may not be 
subject to public hearings. 

 
5. Discussion of Return to In-Person Commission Meetings and Future Location of Those Meetings 

 
6. Discussion and Approval of Alternative System to Marin Map and Authorize the Executive Officer to 

Execute a Contract With Cinquini & Passarino For Creation of New Mapping System.  
 

7. Approval for Commendations for Commissioner Larry Loder  
 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT (verbal report only) 

a) Budget Update FY 2022-2023 
b) Current and Pending Proposals 
c) 2023 Committee Assignments  
d) General Update Open Commission Seats 2023 (verbal report) 
e) CALAFCO Update 
f) Correspondence to the Commission 

 
COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 
 
ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT MEETING 
April 6, 2023| 7:00 P.M. 
                 

 
 
Attest:   Stephanie Pratt 
   Clerk/Jr. Analyst 
 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
February 9, 2023  Regular Meeting Agenda 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

 

 
Any writings or documents pertaining to an open session item provided to a majority of the Commission less 
than 72 hours prior to a regular meeting shall be made available for public inspection at Marin LAFCo 
Administrative Office, 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220, San Rafael, CA 94903, during normal business 
hours. 
 
Pursuant to GC Section 84308, if you wish to participate in the above proceedings, you or your agent are 
prohibited from making a campaign contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner. This prohibition begins 
on the date you begin to actively support or oppose an application before LAFCo and continues until 3 months 
after a final decision is rendered by LAFCo. If you or your agent have made a contribution of $250 or more to 
any Commissioner during the 12 months preceding the decision, in the proceeding that Commissioner must 
disqualify himself or herself from the decision. However, disqualification is not required if the Commissioner 
returns that campaign contribution within 30 days of learning both about the contribution and the fact that you 
are a participant in the proceedings. Separately, any person with a disability under the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) may receive a copy of the agenda or a copy of all the documents constituting the agenda 
packet for a meeting upon request. Any person with a disability covered under the ADA may also request a 
disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in 
a public meeting. Please contact the LAFCo office at least three (3) working days prior to the meeting for any 
requested arraignments or accommodations.    
 
Marin LAFCo  
Administrative Office 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael California 94903 
 
T: 415-448-5877 
E: staff@marinlafco.org  
W: marinlafco.org  
 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley 

 

Lew Kious, Chair 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Sanitary District 
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  
County of Marin 

 
 
 

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Item No. 1 (Consent Item) 
 
TO:   Local Agency Formation Commission  
  
FROM:   Stephanie Pratt, Clerk/Junior Analyst  
   
SUBJECT:  Approval of Minutes for December 8, 2022, Regular Meeting  
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background  
The Ralph M. Brown Act was enacted by the State Legislature in 1953 and establishes standards and 
processes therein for the public to attend and participate in meetings of local government bodies as well 
as those local legislative bodies created by State law; the latter category applying to LAFCos.     
 
Discussion  
The action minutes for the December 8, 2022 regular meeting accurately reflect the Commission’s 
actions as recorded by staff. A video recording of the meeting is also available online for viewing at 
https://www.marinlafco.org/meetings 
 
Staff Recommendation for Action 
1. Staff recommendation – Approve the draft minutes prepared for the December 8, 2022 meeting with 

any desired corrections or clarifications. 
 

2. Alternative option – Continue consideration of the item to the next regular meeting and provide 
direction to staff, as needed.  

 
Procedures for Consideration 
This item has been placed on the agenda as part of the consent calendar.  Accordingly, a successful motion 
to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the staff recommendation as 
provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 
 
Attachment: 
1) Draft Minutes for December 8, 2022 
 

https://www.marinlafco.org/meetings


 

   
 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
   

 
DRAFT 

NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  
 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
 

Thursday, December 8, 2022 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
Chair Kious called the meeting to order at 7:02 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL BY COMMISSION CLERK 
Roll was taken and quorum was met.  The following were in attendance:  
 
Commissioners Present:     Lew Kious, Chair 
   Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
   Dennis Rodoni 
   Judy Arnold 
   Craig Murray 
   Steve Burdo (joined at 7:09 P.M.) 
 

 
Alternate Commissioners Present:  Richard Savel (seated as a regular) 
          James Campbell (seated as a regular until 7:09 P.M.) 
          Tod Moody 
 
Marin LAFCo Staff Present:    Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
          Jeren Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 
          Stephanie Pratt, Clerk/Jr. Analyst 
 
Marin LAFCo Counsel Present:    Malathy Subramanian 
 
Commissioners Absent:     Larry Loder 
 
Alternate Members Absent:     N/A 
           
 
AGENDA REVIEW 
Approved: M/S by Commissioner Arnold and Vice-Chair Coler to approve the agenda. 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Campbell, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC OPEN TIME 
Chair Kious opened the public open time period. Hearing no request to speak, Chair closed the public open 
time.   
 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 2 of 8 
 

 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS   
1. Approval of Minutes for October 13, 2022 Regular Meeting  

 
2. Commission Ratification of Payments from October 1, 2022 to November 30, 2022 

 
3. Approval of Resolution 22-31 Allowing for video and Teleconference Meetings during COVID-19 

State of Emergency Under AB 3614 
 

4. Approval of the 2023 Commission Calendar and Discussion of Returning to In-Person Meeting 
 
Vice-Chair Coler said that she has a conflict on the April 13, 2023, proposed Commission Meeting date and 
suggested polling Item 4 for a new date. EO Fried said that if a change were to be made it should be made 
tonight due to a number of important items that will be on the April agenda and would require notifications. 
Vice-Chair Coler requested the item be pulled from the Consent Calendar. 
 
Chair Kious opened up the change for public comment and being none, put Items 1,2, and 3 on the Consent 
Calendar up for a vote. The initial Motion and second were made by Commissioners Arnold and Campbell 
but EO Fried announced that since Commissioner Burdo had just arrived, he would need to vote in place 
of Commissioner Campbell.  
 
Approved: M/S by Commissioner Arnold and Vice-Chair Coler to approve the consent calendar 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: Commissioner Murray abstained from Item 1 as he was not at October meeting, 
Absent: None 
Motion approved 6-0-1. 
 
5. Approval of the 2023 Commission Calendar and Discussion of Returning to In-Person Meeting 
Item 4 moved from the Consent Calendar Item was now presented for discussion by Chair Kious. Vice-
Chair Coler suggested April 6 or 27, 2023. EO Fried then asked for remaining commissioners' availability 
and it was agreed that April 6, 2023, would be the amended date. 
 
Chair Kious opened up public comment . Recognizing no hands raised, Chair Kious closed public comment. 
 
Approved: M/S by Vice-Chair Coler and Commissioner Murray to approve Item 4 with an amendment to 
move the April 13, 2023 meeting to April 6, 2023. 
 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS  
 
6. Approval of Resolution 22-32, Annexation of 5030 Paradise Drive (APN: 038-032-22) to Corte Madera 

Sanitary District No 2 (LAFCo File #1368) with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings 
and Finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15319 

 
EO Fried presented that this parcel is in an unincorporated island of Tiburon but not directly adjacent to the 
city boundaries. This means we should delay annexation at this time and the application has agreed not to 
object in the future should this island be annexed into Tiburon. 
 
Chair Kious opened the item up for public comment. None received so the item was returned to the 
commission. Commissioner Savel noted that on Exhibit A there was not an address notated. 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 3 of 8 
 

 

 

Approved: M/S by Commissioner Murray and Vice-Chair Coler to approve Resolution 22-32, Annexation 
of 5030 Paradise Drive (APN: 038-032-22) to Corte Madera Sanitary District No 2 (LAFCo File #1368) with 
Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings and Finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to State 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15319 
 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously. 
 
7. Approval for Resolution 22-33, amending the Sphere of Influence for the Southern Marin Fire 

Protection District (SMFPD) to include all of the City of Mill Valley and to annex all of the City of Mill 
Valley into SMFPD (LAFCo File #1369) with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings 
and Finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15320. 

 
EO Fried presented that this application is different from the previous and would have a different process 
and he explained how that would work.  He then began his comments: 
 
EO Fried’s Staff update began with high praise for City of Mill Valley and Southern Marin Fire Protection 
District (SMFPD) for bringing in EO Fried early in the process so he was able to guide this application and 
he could therefore say it was in excellent shape to present to the commission. Staff recommended a 
straightforward process of transferring City of Mill Valley into the SMFPD boundaries, changing the SOI in 
order accomplish this.  
 
EO Fried recognized two members of the Southern Marin Fire Board and asked if there were others 
present to let themselves be known.  
 
Chair Kious opened the floor up for public comment. They were as follows: 

a) Steve Morlock – President of Mill Valley Professional Firefighters Association. He gave full 
support of the annexation.  
 

No other hands were raised so public hearing was closed for comments and Chair Kious returned the 
floor to EO Fried for his synopsis. 
 
EO Fried stated that the normal Notice Hearing and Protest Proceedings could be waived for this 
application. Prior to this meeting, Public Notice was published in the Marin Independent Journal with zero 
negative comments. EO Fried then gave Tom Perazzo, President of SMFPD, an opportunity to comment. 
 
President Perazzo stated that SMFPD board fully supports this proposed annexation.  
 
EO Fried stated that Mr. Burke representing the City of Mill Valley was to make comment but had an 
emergency and was unable to attend.  EO Fried introduced Chief Tubbs 
 
Chief Tubbs wanted to take the opportunity to share the SMFD and City of Mill Valley Fire District’s deep 
appreciation for EO Fried and his assistance, knowledge, and professionalism guiding this application.  
 
Vice-Chair Coler shared that at the CALAFCO Conference EO Fried had stated how well this process 
was going and hoped he would be able to speak further on this at the next conference. 
 
*Commissioner Burdo commented after seconding the above motion, thanking staff and particularly EO 
Fried for answering all of his questions as the newest Commissioner on the board. He remarked how 
complete this complicated application was. 
 
(Chair Kious was briefly out of the meeting due to technical issues and Vice-Chair Coler stepped in.) 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 

 

Vice-Chair Coler recognized Commissioner Murray had a question about the shared cost notated on 
page 5 of the application. EO Fried responded that because of the tax exchange agreement, that percent 
would be transferred in perpetuity to as agreed by both parties beginning in July 2024. In the interim year, 
the City and District have created a way to have the payment processed and transferred. 
 
Vice-Chair Coler recognized Commissioner Rodoni had a compliment for the staff, City of Mill Valley and 
SMFD on how this application was handled. Vice-Chair Coler agreed.  
 
(Chair Kious resumed his role at the time of voting.) 
 
Approved: M/S by Vice-Chair Coler and Commissioner Burdo (who had comments notated above with *) 
Approval for Resolution 22-33, amending the Sphere of Influence for the Southern Marin Fire Protection 
District (SMFPD) to include all the City of Mill Valley and to annex all of the City of Mill Valley into SMFPD 
(LAFCo File #1369) with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings and Finding it Exempt from 
CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15320 
 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously 
 
BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
8. Discussion and Approval of Shared Resources Agreement with Santa Cruz LAFCo 
 
EO Fried discussed the benefits of approving a Shared Services Agreement with Santa Cruz LAFCo. This 
would be the first of its kind in order to bring efficiency to both agencies. Without a formal agreement, 
many LAFCos help each other out. As an example, EO Serrano is the single staff member of his LAFCo.  
He is, however, highly skilled with GIS and could potentially help Marin LAFCo with these issues going 
forward. 
 
If the assistance was small in nature (EO Fried used the example of less than 5 hours a month), then we 
could each step in to assist.  This agreement puts in place a more formal arrangement where if there was 
a greater need, to for example, attend a meeting in place of one another due to absence, or assist with 
GIS work, we would now have the ability to compensate the LAFCo who assisted.  This rate would be 
based on that agency’s current fee structure.  The caveat is this would only occur if the assisting agency 
was available. There would be no obligation. 
 
Chair Kious asked legal counsel for comments. She issued her support for the agreement. 
 
Commissioner Murray requested the clarification of obligations and that time spent would not incur 
overtime hours. Legal counsel confirmed it would be regular hours only, pointing to EO Fried’s earlier 
comment that this would only occur if time was available with current obligations.  Commissioner Murray 
questioned the need for employment agreements. EO Fried mentioned that we are not unionized and 
don’t have the same obligations as county employees, including representation from unions. 
 
Chair Kious reiterated the point that this would only be if time allowed within current obligations. 
 
Vice-Chair Coler commented that she had met EO Serrano with EO Fried at CALAFCO conference. 
There was a lot of interest at the most recent conference in this topic and was impressed with both EOs 
being forward-thinking. 
 
Chair Kious then opened the discussion up for public comment. 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 

 

EO Serrano spoke about the unique opportunity to have agencies maximize their resources and be 
leaders of “the new normal” for these agencies.  He will be presenting this to his commission and expects 
it to pass unanimously. 
 
With no further hands raised, Chair Kious closed public comment and opened the discussion back up to 
the commission. 
 
Commissioner Savel expressed appreciation for both EOs for trailblazing this unique agreement. 
 
Chair Kious moved this to a vote. 
 
Approved: M/S by Commissioners Burdo and Rodoni to approve the Shared Services Agreement between 
Marin LAFCo and Santa Cruz LAFCo  
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously 
 
9. Approval for Commendations for Commissioners Judy Arnold, Damon Connolly and James 

Campbell 
 
Chair Kious turned this over to EO Fried, who in turn turned it over to Deputy EO Seibel. Deputy EO 
Seibel thanked Commissioners Arnold, Connolly, and Campbell for their service and dedication and 
presented each their commendations for what would be their last meeting. 
 
Chair Kious also thanked each member for their service. Vice-Chair Coler and Commissioner Murray also 
thanked each commissioner for their dedicated service and pointed out their particular admiration 
specifically for Commissioner Arnold. 
 
Chair Kious opened the meeting up for public comment. 
 
Cathryn Hilliard, President of the Women’s Political Action Committee and SMFPD board member, 
wished to thank Commissioner Arnold for being a pioneer and breaking the glass ceiling for others. She 
also thanked the others for their public service. 
 
EO Friend thanked all three commissioners for their dedication to public service. 
 
Chair Kious moved this to a vote with the understanding that the departing commissioners would be able 
to comment after. 
 
Approved: M/S by Commissioners Burdo and Vice-Chair Coler to approve the Commendations for 
Commissioners Judy Arnold, Damon Connolly, and James Campbell 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously 

 
Commissioners Arnold and Campbell thank their fellow commissioners and the public for the opportunity 
to service.  Commissioner Connolly was unable to attend due to his recent election to the California State 
Assembly District 12. 
 
10. Discussion and Approval of agreement with Cinquini & Passarino for research into alternative to 

Marin Map  
 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 

 

EO Fried discussed staff’s issues with Marin Map and would like to engage Cinquini & Passarino in the 
search for a better fit for Marin LAFCo needs. He is looking for approval of $1,960 to research this and 
will present back to the commission for approval at the April meeting. 
 
Chair Kious opened comment up to the commission.  Commissioner Murray expressed his support.  
Commissioner Moody asked if Santa Cruz could assist with this need.  EO Fried explained that the 
agreement with Santa Cruz was a different issue than what this would be dealing with.  Commissioner 
Rodoni expressed his support as did Commissioner Burdo.  Vice-Chair Coler commented she wondered 
how well this is known that there is some disarray at Marin Maps.  EO Fried specified it was issues rather 
than problems within the entirety of Marin Maps. Vice-Chair Coler expressed her support. 
 
Chair Kious opened this up for public comment. 
 
Approved: M/S by Vice-Chair Coler and Commissioner Arnold to approve the expenditure of $1,960 to 
Cinquini & Passarino for research into an alternative for Marin Maps 
Ayes: Chair Kious, Vice-Chair Coler, Commissioners Rodoni, Arnold, Murray, Burdo, Savel 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 
Motion approved unanimously 
 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT (discussion and possible action) – Chair Kious’s connection briefly 
disconnected and Vice-Chair Coler stepped up to lead the commission until the Chair could reconnection 
via Zoom. 
 

a) Budget Update FY 2022-2023 
EO Fried reported that budget was looking on track. One line item was possibly over and 
may need an increase. 

b) Current and Pending Proposals 
One item is 255 Margarita had not turned any paperwork in to complete their application.  
The staff is ready and available to receive it but in the event this did not happen, a process 
is in place with the sanitary district for them to start the disconnection of the property. 

c) CALAFCO Update 
EO Fried turned this comment over to Deputy EO Seibel. He referred to a report included 
with the agenda tracking expenses.  EO Fried and Vice-Chair Coler had positive comments 
about the conference they attended, and we are in great shape and a leader in the LAFCo 
world. Vice-Chair Coler commented that EO Fried should be a speaker next year and speak 
on the annexation of the SMFD and MVFD. She also mentioned how well respected EO 
Fried is and what a great opportunity to learn from other LAFCos.   
 
Commissioner Murray asked about AB2081 and its extension onto tribal lands.  EO Fried 
responded that we have no federally recognized tribal lands.  Vice-Chair Coler commented 
that perhaps in the future we would need to look for consultation if remains are discovered.  
Commissioner Rodoni said Graton is the only federally recognized tribe at this time. 

 
d) Correspondence to the Commission 

Two awards received from SDRMA for not having any claims. 
 

e) LAFCo Commissioner seats (verbal report) 
EO Fried recognized Commissioner Burdo and mentioned that Commissioner Stephen 
Burke from Mill Valley as an alternate, would be attending the February meeting. The other 
upcoming vacated seats the Special Districts will be doing their work for these seats.  Two 
public seats will be up for reappointment in 2023.  Staff will be putting up public notices 
starting in January.  The April meeting will most likely be when this will be addressed. 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 

 

EO Fried mentioned his vacation and closing of the office from December 26-January 3 per 
the personnel handbook. 
 
EO Fried asked all about use of the Shared Drive.  Receiving less than stellar comments he 
said we would most likely be ending this experiment and going back to Dropbox.  Chair 
Murray wanted clarification about the week of closure for the holidays. 

 
COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 
 
Commissioner Murray mentioned that there is good information he shared from San Bernadino LAFCo. 
 
Vice-Chair Coler asked if the commission could expect to see the Golden Gate Corridor MSR Review in 
February 2023.  Deputy EO Seibel said yes it was likely. 
 
Chair Kious asked for any other commissioners comments and seeing no hands raised he made a motion 
to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Commissioner Murray. 
 
Chair Kious adjourned the meeting at 8:35 P.M. 
 
ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, February 9, 2023  
Via Zoom 
 
Attest:   Stephanie Pratt 
   Clerk/Junior Analyst 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 8, 2022  Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 

 

   
Any writings or documents pertaining to an open session item provided to a majority of the Commission 
less than 72 hours prior to a regular meeting shall be made available for public inspection at Marin LAFCo 
Administrative Office, 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220, San Rafael, CA 94903, during normal business 
hours. 
 
Pursuant to GC Section 84308, if you wish to participate in the above proceedings, you or your agent are 
prohibited from making a campaign contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner. This prohibition 
begins on the date you begin to actively support or oppose an application before LAFCo and continues until 
3 months after a final decision is rendered by LAFCo. If you or your agent have made a contribution of $250 
or more to any Commissioner during the 12 months preceding the decision, in the proceeding that 
Commissioner must disqualify himself or herself from the decision. However, disqualification is not required 
if the Commissioner returns that campaign contribution within 30 days of learning both about the 
contribution and the fact that you are a participant in the proceedings. Separately, any person with a 
disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) may receive a copy of the agenda or a copy of 
all the documents constituting the agenda packet for a meeting upon request. Any person with a disability 
covered under the ADA may also request a disability-related modification or accommodation, including 
auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in a public meeting. Please contact the LAFCo office at 
least three (3) working days prior to the meeting for any requested arraignments or accommodations.    
 
Marin LAFCo  
Administrative Office 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael California 94903 
 
T: 415-448-5877 
E: staff@marinlafco.org  
W: marinlafco.org  
 
 
 
 



Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

AGENDA REPORT 
February 9, 2023 

Item No. 2 – (Consent Item) 
TO: 

FROM: 

Local Agency Formation Commission 

Jason Fried, Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Commission Ratification of Payments from December 1, 2022 to January 31, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Background 

Marin LAFCo adopted a Policy Handbook delegating the Executive Officer to make purchases and related 
procurements necessary in overseeing the day-to-day business of the agency. The Policy Handbook also 
directs all payments made by the Executive Officer to be reconciled by LAFCo’s contracted bookkeeper. 
Additionally, all payments are to be reported to the Commission at the next available Commission meeting 
for formal ratification.  

The following item is presented for the Commission to consider the ratification of all payments made by the 
Executive Officer between December 1, 2022, and January 31, 2023, totaling $80,647.88.  The payments 
are detailed in the attachment. 

Staff Recommendation for Action 

1. Staff Recommendation - Ratify the payments made by the Executive Officer between December 1,
2022, and January 31, 2023, as shown in attachment.

2. Alternate Option - Continue consideration of the item to the next regular meeting and provide direction
to staff as needed.

Procedures for Consideration 

This item has been placed on the agenda as part of the consent calendar. Accordingly, a successful 
motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the staff 
recommendation unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

Attachment: 
1) Payments from December 1, 2022, to January 31, 2023



Type Date Num Memo Account Amount Balance

ARNOLD, JUDY
Check 12/14/2022 20837 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total ARNOLD, JUDY 125.00 125.00

Burdo, Steve
Check 12/13/2022 20829 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total Burdo, Steve 125.00 125.00

Cardmember Services
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 adobe 20 · IT & Communic... 103.96 103.96
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 getstreamline 20 · IT & Communic... 100.00 203.96
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 zoom 20 · IT & Communic... 14.99 218.95
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 verizon 20 · IT & Communic... 122.86 341.81
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 marin ij 35 · Misc Services 10.87 352.68
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 best best & kr... 25 · Legal Services 679.20 1,031.88
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 marin mac tech 20 · IT & Communic... 953.50 1,985.38
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 marin mac tech 20 · IT & Communic... 269.72 2,255.10
Credit Card Charge 12/16/2022 usps 50 · Office Supplies ... 26.58 2,281.68

Total Cardmember Services 2,281.68 2,281.68

Coler, Barbara
Check 12/13/2022 20830 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total Coler, Barbara 125.00 125.00

COMCAST
Check 01/10/2023 20841 Bill Date Dec ... 20 · IT & Communic... 106.80 106.80
Check 01/25/2023 20842 Bill Date Jan ... 20 · IT & Communic... 121.70 228.50

Total COMCAST 228.50 228.50

COMMUNITY MEDIA CENTER OF MARIN
Check 12/13/2022 20836 Invoice # 190... 20 · IT & Communic... 75.00 75.00

Total COMMUNITY MEDIA CENTER OF MARIN 75.00 75.00

CONNECT YOUR CARE
Check 12/20/2022 eft COBRA ADMIN 126 · Health Insuran... 1.11 1.11
Check 01/24/2023 eft COBRA ADMIN 126 · Health Insuran... 1.11 2.22

Total CONNECT YOUR CARE 2.22 2.22

Delta Dental of California
Check 12/13/2022 eft 122 · Dental Insuran... 72.93 72.93
Check 01/04/2023 eft 122 · Dental Insuran... 72.93 145.86
Check 01/05/2023 eft 122 · Dental Insuran... 72.93 218.79

Total Delta Dental of California 218.79 218.79

FP MAILING SOLUTIONS
Check 12/13/2022 20835 Invoice # RI 1... 50 · Office Supplies ... 182.11 182.11

Total FP MAILING SOLUTIONS 182.11 182.11

Indoff Incorporated
Check 12/01/2022 10539 Invoice #3612... 50 · Office Supplies ... 109.05 109.05
Check 12/01/2022 20826 Invoice #3612... 50 · Office Supplies ... 109.05 218.10

Total Indoff Incorporated 218.10 218.10

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan
Check 12/27/2022 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 787.16 787.16
Check 12/27/2022 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 711.10 1,498.26
Check 01/24/2023 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 1,574.32 3,072.58
Check 01/24/2023 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 1,066.65 4,139.23

Total Kaiser Foundation Health Plan 4,139.23 4,139.23

9:19 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
01/31/23 Expenses by Vendor Detail
Accrual Basis December 2022 through January 2023

Page 1



Type Date Num Memo Account Amount Balance

KIOUS, LEWIS
Check 12/13/2022 20831 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total KIOUS, LEWIS 125.00 125.00

LIEBERT CASSIDY WHITMORE
Check 01/10/2023 20840 Invoice #2305... 25 · Legal Services 527.00 527.00

Total LIEBERT CASSIDY WHITMORE 527.00 527.00

MURRAY, CRAIG K
Check 12/13/2022 20832 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total MURRAY, CRAIG K 125.00 125.00

PAYCHEX
Check 12/09/2022 eft 35 · Misc Services 64.96 64.96
Check 12/23/2022 eft 35 · Misc Services 64.96 129.92
Check 01/06/2023 eft 35 · Misc Services 89.96 219.88
Check 01/20/2023 eft 35 · Misc Services 177.46 397.34
Check 01/20/2023 eft 35 · Misc Services 84.00 481.34

Total PAYCHEX 481.34 481.34

PAYROLL
Check 12/09/2022 eft 11/13-11/26/22 105 · Sal - Regular ... 13,360.95 13,360.95
Check 12/09/2022 eft 11/13-11/26/22 124 · Auto Allowance 350.00 13,710.95
Check 12/09/2022 eft 11/13-11/26/22 121 · Life Insurance -17.40 13,693.55
Check 12/09/2022 eft 11/13-11/26/22 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 1,553.88 15,247.43
Check 12/23/2022 eft 1127-12/10/22 105 · Sal - Regular ... 13,360.95 28,608.38
Check 12/23/2022 eft 1127-12/10/22 124 · Auto Allowance 0.00 28,608.38
Check 12/23/2022 eft 1127-12/10/22 121 · Life Insurance -17.40 28,590.98
Check 12/23/2022 eft 1127-12/10/22 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 1,553.88 30,144.86
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 105 · Sal - Regular ... 13,360.95 43,505.81
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 124 · Auto Allowance 350.00 43,855.81
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 121 · Life Insurance -17.40 43,838.41
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 1,553.88 45,392.29
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 105 · Sal - Regular ... 13,360.95 58,753.24
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 124 · Auto Allowance 0.00 58,753.24
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 121 · Life Insurance -17.40 58,735.84
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 1,553.88 60,289.72

Total PAYROLL 60,289.72 60,289.72

PAYROLL TAXES
Check 12/09/2022 eft 11/13-11/26/22 111 · Medicare Tax 199.38 199.38
Check 12/23/2022 eft 1127-12/10/22 111 · Medicare Tax 194.31 393.69
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 111 · Medicare Tax 199.38 593.07
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 112 · CA SUI 520.74 1,113.81
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 114 · CA ETT 13.71 1,127.52
Check 01/06/2023 eft 12/11-12/24/22 113 · FUTA 82.23 1,209.75
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 111 · Medicare Tax 194.31 1,404.06
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 112 · CA SUI 227.56 1,631.62
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 114 · CA ETT 5.99 1,637.61
Check 01/20/2023 eft 12/25/22-1/7/23 113 · FUTA 35.93 1,673.54

Total PAYROLL TAXES 1,673.54 1,673.54

RODONI, DENNIS JAMES
Check 12/13/2022 20833 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total RODONI, DENNIS JAMES 125.00 125.00

Savel, Richard
Check 12/13/2022 20834 Dec 2022 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total Savel, Richard 125.00 125.00

9:19 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
01/31/23 Expenses by Vendor Detail
Accrual Basis December 2022 through January 2023

Page 2



Type Date Num Memo Account Amount Balance

SCHIFFMANN, ALYSSA
Check 12/01/2022 20825 Invoice # 188 55 · Professional Se... 540.00 540.00

Total SCHIFFMANN, ALYSSA 540.00 540.00

SECURITY MORTGAGE GROUP 2
Check 12/01/2022 10538 VOID: Dec 20... 45 · Office Lease/Rent 0.00 0.00
Check 12/01/2022 20827 Dec 2022 Rent 45 · Office Lease/Rent 2,955.84 2,955.84
Check 01/01/2023 20838 Jan 2023 Rent 45 · Office Lease/Rent 2,955.84 5,911.68

Total SECURITY MORTGAGE GROUP 2 5,911.68 5,911.68

Teamsters Local 856 Health & Welfare
Check 12/06/2022 20828 Month Ending... 126 · Health Insuran... 860.40 860.40
Check 01/12/2023 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 1,798.24 2,658.64

Total Teamsters Local 856 Health & Welfare 2,658.64 2,658.64

The Hartford
Check 12/01/2022 20824 Invoice #1889... 121 · Life Insurance 157.74 157.74
Check 01/10/2023 20839 Invoice #1889... 121 · Life Insurance 157.74 315.48

Total The Hartford 315.48 315.48

VSP
Check 12/06/2022 eft 123 · Vision Service ... 15.21 15.21
Check 01/06/2023 eft 123 · Vision Service ... 14.64 29.85

Total VSP 29.85 29.85

TOTAL 80,647.88 80,647.88

9:19 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
01/31/23 Expenses by Vendor Detail
Accrual Basis December 2022 through January 2023

Page 3



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

 

 

  

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Item No. 3 – (Consent Item) 
TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
FROM:  Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
  Mala Subramanian, Legal Counsel  
 
SUBJECT: Approval of Resolution 23-01 Allowing for Video and Teleconference Meetings 

During COVID-19 State of Emergency Under AB 361 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background and Discussion 
 
AB 361 was passed by the State Legislature and signed by Governor Newsom. It went into effect 
immediately. AB 361 continues many of the provisions related to the Brown Act that were in place under 
Executive Orders, which expired September 30, 2021, that allowed for video and teleconferencing during 
the state of emergency.  Since AB 361 has been signed into law, the Commission can continue to meet 
virtually until such time as the Governor declares the State of Emergency due to COVID-19 over and 
measures to promote social distancing are no longer recommended or could return to in-person meetings 
sooner if desired.   
 
On September 22, 2021, the Marin County Director of Health & Human Services recommended social 
distancing to enhance safety at public meetings. On October 19, 2021, February 15, 2022, and March 22, 
2022 Marin County’s Director of Health & Human Services reaffirmed its recommendation. There has been 
no change since in the Director’s recommendations. 
 
In order to continue to hold video and teleconference meetings, the Commission will need to review and 
make findings every thirty days or thereafter that the state of emergency continues to directly impact the 
ability of the members to meet safely in person and that state or local officials continue to impose or 
recommend measures to promote social distancing. The proposed resolution provides the Commission with 
the option to continue to hold video and teleconference meetings while the state of emergency is still in effect 
and social distancing is recommended.   
 
Recommendation 
 

1. Approval of Resolution 23-01 allowing for video and teleconference meetings during the COVID-19 
state of emergency under AB 361.   

 
Procedures for Consideration 
This item has been placed on the agenda as part of the consent calendar. Accordingly, a successful 
motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the staff 
recommendation unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

Attachment: 
 
1. Resolution 23-01 Allowing for Video and Teleconference Meetings during the COVID-19 State of Emergency Under AB 361 
 
 



1 | P a g e  
 

 
MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

  
RESOLUTION 23-01 

 
RESOLUTION ALLOWING FOR VIDEO AND TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS DURING THE  

COVID-19 STATE OF EMERGENCY UNDER AB 361  
 

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, the Governor of the State of California proclaimed a State of Emergency 
for COVID-19; and  
 
WHEREAS, AB 361 was recently passed by the State Legislature and signed by Governor Newsom and 
went into effect immediately and allows the Commission to continue to meet virtually until such time as the 
Governor declares the State of Emergency due to COVID-19 over and measures to promote social 
distancing are no longer recommended; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Marin County Director of Health & Human Services has recommended social distancing to 
enhance safety at public meetings; and  
   
WHEREAS, in light of this recommendation, the Commission desires for itself and for all other Commission 
legislatives bodies that are subject to the Brown Act to continue to meet via video and/or teleconference; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to AB 361 the Commission will review the findings required to be made every 30 
days or thereafter and shall not meet without making those continued findings.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission DOES HEREBY RESOLVE finds 
on behalf of itself and all other Commission legislative bodies: (1) a state of emergency has been proclaimed 
by the Governor; (2) the state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the Commission’s 
legislative bodies to meet safely in person; and (3) local officials continue to recommend measures to 
promote social distancing.   

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission on February 9, 2023 by 
the following vote: 

AYES:   
 
NOES:        
 
ABSTAIN:        
 
ABSENT:        
 
 

 

______________________________________ 
             Lew Kious, Chair 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer    Malathy Subramanian, LAFCo Counsel 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley 

 

Lew Kious, Chair 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Sanitary District 
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  
County of Marin 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

February 9, 2023 

Item No. 4 (Public Hearing) 

  

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 FROM:  Jeren Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Presentation of the Golden Gate Corridor Region Municipal Service Review Public Draft 
[Information Only] 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Background  

On January 18, 2023, staff released the draft (attached) of the Golden Gate Corridor Region Municipal 
Service Review (MSR) for public comment.  Upon release, staff sent the draft to staff for all of the 
participating LAFCo jurisdictions with the request that it be passed along to the respective boards and 
councils, and to multiple County staff.  In addition, the report was sent to individuals who represent 
citizen groups or a coalition of groups across the MSR study area.  These people then help get this 
distributed to others within their group.   

LAFCo is accepting public comment on this draft through the end of the day on Tuesday, February 28.  
As of the writing of this staff memo, LAFCo has received no official comments.  For items that pertain to 
language in the draft, staff has already started to review and make edits to the draft in preparation for a 
final version.   

During the February meeting the Commission will hear from staff about what is in the draft report’s 
recommendations of what, if anything, each agency should make an effort to address moving forward.  
Commissioners will be able to ask questions to staff.  In addition, the public will be given time to make 
comments on the draft MSR. 

No action is needed for this item at this time and this item should be continued to the next meeting for 
final approval. 

Attachment: 

1. Public Draft of Golden Gate Corridor Region MSR 
 

 



 

Marin LAFCo   Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
 

Municipal Service Review 

Golden Gate Corridor Region 

 

PUBLIC DRAFT  

 January 2023 



 

Marin LAFCo  i Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

PREFACE 

This Municipal Services Review (MSR) documents and analyzes services provided by local 

governmental agencies in the Golden Gate Corridor region. Specifically, it evaluates the 

adequacy and efficiency of local government structure and boundaries within the region and 

provides a basis for boundary planning decisions by the Marin Local Agency Formation 

Commission (LAFCo). 

Context  

Marin LAFCo is required to prepare this MSR in accordance with the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg 

Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (Government Code §56000, et seq.), which took 

effect on January 1, 2001. The MSR reviews services provided by public agencies—cities and 

special districts—whose boundaries and governance are subject to LAFCo. The analysis and 

recommendations included herein serve to promote and coordinate the efficient delivery of local 

government services and encourage the preservation of open space and agricultural lands. 

Commissioners, Staff, Municipal Services Review Preparers  

Commissioners    

Lew Kious - Chair  Special District  Almonte Sanitary District 

Barbara Coler- Vice Chair City    Town of Fairfax 

Dennis Rodoni   County    District 4 Supervisor 

Eric Lucan   County    District 5 Supervisor 

Larry Loder   Public    Commission 

Craig Murray   Special District  Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Steve Burdo   City    Town of San Anselmo 

Richard Savel   Public Alternate  Commission 

Tod Moody   Special District Alternate Sanitary District #5 

Stephen Burke   City Alternate   City of Mill Valley 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters County Alternate  District 3 Supervisor 

 

Staff 

Jason Fried   Executive Director 

Jeren Seibel   Deputy Executive Officer 

Stephanie Pratt  Clerk/Junior Analyst 

MSR Preparers  

Jeren Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 

  



 

Marin LAFCo  ii Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Table of Contents 

1.0 INTRODUCTION .........................................................................................................................7 

1.1 ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF LAFCO ................................................................................................7 
1.2 MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS ..........................................................................................................8 
1.3 MARIN LAFCO COMPOSITION ..........................................................................................................9 

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................. 10 

2.1 AFFECTED PUBLIC AGENCIES .......................................................................................................... 10 
2.2 PLANS, POLICIES, STUDIES ............................................................................................................. 11 
2.3 AGENCY AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ................................................................................................ 12 
2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS ........................................................................................................... 13 

3.0 DETERMINATIONS ................................................................................................................... 15 

4.0 REGIONAL SETTING ................................................................................................................. 20 

5.0 CITY OF MILL VALLEY ............................................................................................................... 23 

5.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 23 
5.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT ..................................................................................................... 23 
5.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................. 25 
5.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................... 26 
5.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 27 
5.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ............................................................................................................ 27 
5.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .............................................................................................. 28 
5.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................. 35 
5.9 SUSTAINABILITY .......................................................................................................................... 40 

6.0 CITY OF SAUSALITO ................................................................................................................. 42 

6.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 42 
6.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT ..................................................................................................... 42 
6.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................. 44 
6.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................... 45 
6.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 46 
6.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ............................................................................................................ 47 
6.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .............................................................................................. 48 
6.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................. 53 
6.9 SUSTAINABILITY .......................................................................................................................... 56 

2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS ........................................................................................................... 13 

5.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 23 

5.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................. 25 

6.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................. 44 

6.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 46 

2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS ........................................................................................................... 13 

OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 23

5.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................. 25

6.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................. 44

6.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 46



 

Marin LAFCo  iii Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

7.0 SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT ........................................................................ 58 

7.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 58 
7.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................................... 59 
7.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................ 60 
7.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................... 60 
7.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 61 
7.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ............................................................................................................ 63 
7.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .............................................................................................. 65 
7.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................... 65 

7.9 WILDLAND FIRE SUPPRESSION ......................................................................................................... 69 

 

8.0 TAMALPAIS COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT .......................................................................... 71 

8.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 71 
8.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................................... 71 
8.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................ 73 
8.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................... 73 
8.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 73 
8.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ........................................................................................................... 77 
8.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .............................................................................................. 78 
8.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................... 79 

8.9 SUSTAINABILITY .......................................................................................................................... 81 

 

9.0 MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT .......................................................................... 82 

9.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 82 
9.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................................... 82 
9.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................................ 85 
9.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................... 85 
9.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ................................................................................................................... 86 
9.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ........................................................................................................... 86 
9.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ............................................................................................. 87 
9.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................. 88 

10.0 SAUSALITO-MARIN CITY SANITARY DISTRICT .......................................................................... 91 

10.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................... 91 
10.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................................. 91 
10.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE .............................................................................. 93 
10.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .......................................................................................................... 93 

7.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ............................................................................................................ 63 

7.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................... 65 

8.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .............................................................................................. 78 

8.9 SUSTAINABILITY .......................................................................................................................... 81 

9.1 OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................. 82 

10.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................................. 91 

10.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .......................................................................................................... 93 



 

Marin LAFCo  iv Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

10.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ................................................................................................................. 94 
10.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ......................................................................................................... 96 
10.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ........................................................................................... 96 
10.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................ 97 
10.9 SUSTAINABILITY ........................................................................................................................ 99 

11.0 COUNTY SERVICE AREA 14 ................................................................................................... 100 

11.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................. 100 
11.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT ................................................................................................ 100 
11.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ............................................................................ 101 
11.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................ 102 
11.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ............................................................................................................... 103 
11.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ....................................................................................................... 104 
11.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ......................................................................................... 105 
11.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW .............................................................................................................. 106 

12.0 FLOOD CONTROL ZONE 3 ..................................................................................................... 108 

12.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................. 108 
12.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT ................................................................................................ 108 
12.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ............................................................................ 109 
12.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION ........................................................................................................ 110 
12.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ............................................................................................................... 111 
12.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ....................................................................................................... 113 
12.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ......................................................................................... 114 
12.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW .............................................................................................................. 114 
12.9 SUSTAINABILITY ...................................................................................................................... 115 

 

 

 

  

10.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ........................................................................................... 96 

11.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ......................................................................................... 105 

12.9 SUSTAINABILITY ...................................................................................................................... 115 



 

Marin LAFCo  v Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

List of Figures 

 
FIGURE 4-1: ALTO SUTTON (HORSE HILL) UNINCORPORATED ISLAND MAP ................................................................................. 22 
FIGURE 5-1: CITY OF MILL VALLEY ZONING MAP .................................................................................................................... 26 
FIGURE 5-2: CITY OF MILL VALLEY STATEMENT OF GENERAL FUND ............................................................................................ 37 
FIGURE 6-1: CITY OF SAUSALITO ZONING MAP ...................................................................................................................... 46 
FIGURE 7-1: SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT CALLS FOR SERVICE STATISTICS ........................................................... 62 
FIGURE 7-2: SMFPD ORGANIZATION CHART ........................................................................................................................ 64 
FIGURE 7-3: SMFPD REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES DETAIL ................................................................................................... 67 
FIGURE 8-1: TCSD WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT FLOW DESIGNATION MAP ........................................................................ 75 
FIGURE 8-2: TCSD SOLID WASTE RATE SCHEDULE ................................................................................................................. 77 
FIGURE 11-1: HOMESTEAD VALLEY TRAIL MAP .................................................................................................................... 104 
FIGURE 11-2: CSA 14 MEASURE A DATA ........................................................................................................................... 107 
FIGURE 12-1: FCZ3 BASELINE BUDGET DETAIL ...................................................................................................................... 59 

 

  

FIGURE 7-1: SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT CALLS FOR SERVICE STATISTICS ........................................................... 62 

FIGURE 8-1: TCSD WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT FLOW DESIGNATION MAP ........................................................................ 75 

FIGURE 11-2: CSA 14 MEASURE A DATA ........................................................................................................................... 107 

4-1: ALTO SUTTON (HORSE HILL) UNINCORPORATED ISLAND MAP  22

5-1: CITY OF MILL VALLEY ZONING MAP  26

FIGURE 5-2: CITY OF MILL VALLEY STATEMENT OF GENERAL FUND  37
6-1: CITY OF SAUSALITO ZONING MAP  46
FIGURE  7-1: SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTIONS DISTRICT CALLS FOR SERVICE STATISTICS 62
7-2: SMFPD ORGANIZATION CHART    64
7-3: SMFPD REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES DETAIL  67
FIGURE 8-1: TCSD WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT FLOW DESIGNATION MAP 75
8-2: TCSD SOLID WASTE RATE SCHEDULE  77
11-1: HOMESTEAD VALLEY TRAIL MAP  104

11-2: CSA 14 MEASURE A DATA  107
12-1: FCZ3 BASELINE BUDGET DETAIL   59



 

Marin LAFCo  vi Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

List of Tables 

 
TABLE 1-1: LAFCO'S REGULATORY POWERS............................................................................................................................ 8 
TABLE 1-2: MANDATORY DETERMINATIONS ............................................................................................................................ 9 
TABLE 1-3: MARIN LAFCO COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP ............................................................................................................ 9 
TABLE 2-1: GOLDEN GATE CORRIDOR REGIONAL MSR AGENCIES ............................................................................................. 10 
TABLE 2-2: GOLDEN GATE CORRIDOR REGIONAL MSR AGENCIES' MEETING INFORMATION ........................................................... 12 
TABLE 5-1: CITY OF MILL VALLEY OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................................... 23 
TABLE 5-2: CITY OF MILL VALLEY CITY COUNCIL ..................................................................................................................... 27 
TABLE 5-3: CITY OF MILL VALLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT CRIME STATISTICS .................................................................................. 29 
TABLE 5-4: CITY OF MILL VALLEY SEWER SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE ............................................................................................ 34 
TABLE 5-5:CITY OF MILL VALLEY REVENUES AND EXPENSES ...................................................................................................... 36 
TABLE 6-1: CITY OF SAUSALITO OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................ 42 
TABLE 6-2: CITY OF SAUSALITO CITY COUNCIL ....................................................................................................................... 47 
TABLE 6-3: CITY OF SAUSALITO CRIME STATISTICS .................................................................................................................. 48 
TABLE 6-4:CITY OF SAUSALITO SEWER SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE ............................................................................................... 52 
TABLE 6-5: CITY OF SAUSALITO GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES ........................................................................... 54 
TABLE7-1: SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT OVERVIEW ........................................................................................ 58 
TABLE 7-2:SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS ........................................................................ 64 
TABLE 7-3: SMFPD FINANCIAL AUDIT SUMMARY .................................................................................................................. 69 
TABLE 8-1: TAMALPAIS COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT OVERVIEW .......................................................................................... 71 
TABLE 8-2: TCSD SEWER SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE ................................................................................................................ 74 
TABLE 8-3: TCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS .............................................................................................................................. 78 
TABLE 8-4: TCSD OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES .................................................................................................. 79 
TABLE 9-1: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT OVERVIEW ......................................................................................... 82 
TABLE 9-2: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS .......................................................................... 87 
TABLE 9-3: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT FINANCIAL AUDIT SUMMARY ................................................................. 90 

TABLE 10-1: SAUSALITO-MARIN CITY SANITARY DISTRICT OVERVIEW ........................................................................................ 91 

TABLE 10-2: SMCSD SEWER SERVICE CHARGES FOR CONVEYANCE AND TREATMENT ONLY ........................................................... 95 
TABLE 10-3: SMCSD COLLECTION SUPPLEMENTAL CHARGE FOR UNINCORPORATED AREAS (ADDITIONAL TO CONVEYANCE) ............... 95 
TABLE 10-4: SMCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS ......................................................................................................................... 96 
TABLE 10-5: SMCSD OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES ............................................................................................. 98 
TABLE 11-1: COUNTY SERVICE AREA 14 OVERVIEW.............................................................................................................. 100 
TABLE 11-2: MARIN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ......................................................................................................... 105 
TABLE 11-3: CSA 14 ADVISORY BOARD ............................................................................................................................. 105 
TABLE 12-1: FLOOD CONTROL ZONE OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................. 108 
TABLE 12-2: MARIN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ......................................................................................................... 113 
TABLE 12-3: FLOOD CONTROL ZONE 3 ADVISORY BOARD ...................................................................................................... 113 

 

 

TABLE 1-1: LAFCO'S REGULATORY POWERS............................................................................................................................ 8 

TABLE 2-1: GOLDEN GATE CORRIDOR REGIONAL MSR AGENCIES ............................................................................................. 10 

TABLE 5-2: CITY OF MILL VALLEY CITY COUNCIL ..................................................................................................................... 27 

TABLE 6-2: CITY OF SAUSALITO CITY COUNCIL ....................................................................................................................... 47 

TABLE 6-5: CITY OF SAUSALITO GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES ........................................................................... 54 

TABLE 7-3: SMFPD FINANCIAL AUDIT SUMMARY .................................................................................................................. 69 

TABLE 9-1: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT OVERVIEW ......................................................................................... 82 

TABLE 10-1: SAUSALITO-MARIN CITY SANITARY DISTRICT OVERVIEW ........................................................................................ 91 

TABLE 10-4: SMCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS ......................................................................................................................... 96 

TABLE 12-1: FLOOD CONTROL ZONE OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................. 108 

1-1: LAFCO'S REGULATORY POWERS 8
TABLE 1-2: MANDATORY DETERMINATIONS  9

TABLE 1-3: MARIN LAFCO COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP  9
2-1: GOLDEN GATE CORRIDOR REGIONAL MSR AGENCIES  10
TABLE 2-2: GOLDEN GATE CORRIDOR REGIONAL MSR AGENCIES' MEETING INFORMATION  12
TABLE 5-1: CITY OF MILL VALLEY OVERVIEW  23
5-2: CITY OF MILL VALLEY CITY COUNCIL  27
TABLE 5-3: CITY OF MILL VALLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT CRIME STATISTICS  29
TABLE 5-4: CITY OF MILL VALLEY SEWER SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE  34
TABLE 5-5:CITY OF MILL VALLEY REVENUES AND EXPENSES  36
TABLE 6-1: CITY OF SAUSALITO OVERVIEW  42
TABLE 6-2: CITY OF SAUSALITO CITY COUNCIL  47
TABLE 6-3: CITY OF SAUSALITO CRIME STATISTICS  48
TABLE 6-4:CITY OF SAUSALITO SEWER SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE  52
6-5: CITY OF SAUSALITO GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES  54
TABLE7-1: SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT OVERVIEW  58
TABLE 7-2:SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS  64
7-3: SMFPD FINANCIAL AUDIT SUMMARY  69
TABLE 8-1: TAMALPAIS COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT OVERVIEW  71
TABLE 8-2: TCSD SEWER SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE   74
TABLE 8-3: TCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS  78
TABLE 8-4: TCSD OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES  79
9-1: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT OVERVIEW 82
TABLE 9-2: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS  87
TABLE 9-3: MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT FINANCIAL AUDIT SUMMARY  90
10-1: SAUSALITO-MARIN CITY SANITARY DISTRICT OVERVIEW   91
TABLE 10-2: SMCSD SEWER SERVICE CHARGES FOR CONVEYANCE AND TREATMENT ONLY  95
TABLE 10-3: SMCSD COLLECTION SUPPLEMENTAL CHARGE FOR UNINCORPORATED AREAS (ADDITIONAL TO CONVEYANCE) 
 9510-4: SMCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS  96
TABLE 10-5: SMCSD OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES  98
TABLE 11-1: COUNTY SERVICE AREA 14 OVERVIEW. 100
TABLE 11-2: MARIN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS  105
TABLE 11-3: CSA 14 ADVISORY BOARD  105
12-1: FLOOD CONTROL ZONE OVERVIEW  108
TABLE 12-2: MARIN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS  113

TABLE 12-3: FLOOD CONTROL ZONE 3 ADVISORY BOARD  113



 

Marin LAFCo  7 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF LAFCO 
Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCos) were established in 1963 and are political 

subdivisions of the State of California responsible for providing regional growth management 

oversight in all 58 counties. LAFCos’ authority is currently codified under the Cortese-Knox-

Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (“CKH”), which specifies regulatory 

and planning powers delegated by the Legislature to coordinate and oversee the establishment, 

expansion, and organization of cities and special districts as well as their municipal service areas. 

Guiding LAFCos’ regulatory and planning powers is to fulfill specific purposes and objectives 

that collectively construct the Legislature’s regional growth management priorities under 

Government Code (G.C.) Section 56301. This statute reads: 

“Among the purposes of the commission are discouraging urban sprawl, 
preserving open space and prime agricultural lands, efficiently providing 
governmental services, and encouraging the orderly formation and 
development of local agencies based upon local conditions and 
circumstances. One of the objects of the commission is to make studies 
and to obtain and furnish information which will contribute to the logical 
and reasonable development of local agencies in each county and to 
shape the development of local agencies so as to advantageously provide 
for the present and future needs of each county and its communities.” 
 

LAFCo decisions are legislative in nature and not subject to an outside appeal process. LAFCos 

also have broad powers with respect to conditioning regulatory and planning approvals so long 

as not establishing terms that directly control land uses, densities, or subdivision requirements. 

Regulatory Responsibilities 
LAFCos’ principal regulatory responsibility involves approving or disapproving all jurisdictional 

changes involving the establishment, expansion, and reorganization of cities and most special 

districts.1 More recently LAFCos have been tasked with also overseeing the approval process for 

cities and districts to provide new or extended services beyond their jurisdictional boundaries by 

contract or agreement as well as district actions to either activate a new service or divest an 

existing service. LAFCos generally exercise their regulatory authority in response to applications 

submitted by the affected agencies, landowners, or registered voters. 

Recent CKH amendments, however, now authorize and encourage LAFCos to initiate on their 

own jurisdictional changes to form, consolidate, and dissolve special districts consistent with 

 
1 CKH defines “special district” to mean any agency of the State formed pursuant to general law or special act for the local 
performance of governmental or proprietary functions within limited boundaries. All special districts in California are 
subject to LAFCo with the following exceptions: school districts; community college districts; assessment districts; 
improvement districts; community facilities districts; and air pollution control districts. 



 

Marin LAFCo  8 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

current and future community needs. LAFCo regulatory powers are described in Table 1.1 

below. 

Table 1-1: LAFCo's Regulatory Powers 

Regulatory Powers Granted by Government Code (G.C.) Section 56301 

• City Incorporations / Disincorporations • City and District Annexations 

• District Formations / Dissolutions • City and District Detachments 

• City and District Consolidations • Merge/Establish Subsidiary Districts 

• City and District Outside Service Extensions • District Service Activations / Divestitures 

 

Planning Responsibilities 
LAFCos inform their regulatory actions through two central planning responsibilities: (a) making 

sphere of influence (“sphere”) determinations and (b) preparing municipal service reviews. 

Sphere determinations have been a core planning function of LAFCos since 1971 and effectively 

serve as the Legislature’s version of “urban growth boundaries” with regard to cumulatively 

delineating the appropriate interface between urban and non-urban uses within each county. 

Municipal service reviews, in contrast, are a relatively new planning responsibility enacted as 

part of CKH and are intended to inform – among other activities – sphere determinations. The 

Legislature mandates, notably, all sphere changes as of 2001 be accompanied by preceding 

municipal service reviews to help ensure LAFCos are effectively aligning governmental services 

with current and anticipated community needs.  

1.2 MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS 

Municipal service reviews were a centerpiece to CKH’s enactment in 2001 and are 

comprehensive studies of the availability, range, and performance of governmental services 

provided within a defined geographic area. LAFCos generally prepare municipal service reviews 

to explicitly inform subsequent sphere determinations. LAFCos also prepare municipal service 

reviews irrespective of making any specific sphere determinations in order to obtain and furnish 

information to contribute to the overall orderly development of local communities. Municipal 

service reviews vary in scope and can focus on a particular agency or governmental service. 

LAFCos may use the information generated from municipal service reviews to initiate other 

actions under their authority, such as forming, consolidating, or dissolving one or more local 

agencies.  

All municipal service reviews – regardless of their intended purpose – culminate with LAFCos 

preparing written statements addressing seven specific service factors listed under G.C. Section 

56430. This includes, most notably, infrastructure needs or deficiencies, growth and population 

trends, and financial standing. The seven mandated service factors are summarized in the 

following table.      



 

Marin LAFCo  9 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Table 1-2: Mandatory Determinations 

Mandatory Determinations / Municipal Service Reviews 
(Government Code Section 56430) 

1. Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

2. Location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous 

to affected spheres of influence. 

3. Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure 

needs or deficiencies. 

4. Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

5. Status and opportunities for shared facilities. 

6. Accountability for community service needs, including structure and operational efficiencies. 

7. Matters relating to effective or efficient service delivery as required by LAFCo policy. 

1.3 MARIN LAFCO COMPOSITION 
Marin LAFCo is governed by a 7-member board comprised of two county supervisors, two city 

councilmembers, two independent special district members, and one representative of the general 

public. Each group also gets to appoint one “alternate” member.  Each member must exercise 

their independent judgment, separate from their appointing group, on behalf of the interests of all 

residents, landowners, and the public. Marin LAFCo is independent of local government and 

employs its own staff.  Marin LAFCo’s current commission membership is provided below in 

Table 1-3. 

Table 1-3: Marin LAFCo Commission Membership 

Name Position Agency Affiliation 
Lew Kious, Chair Special District Almonte Sanitary District 

Barbara Coler, Vice Chair City Town of Fairfax 

Eric Lucan County District 5 Supervisor 

Dennis Rodoni County District 4 Supervisor 

Steve Burdo City Town of San Anselmo 

Craig Murray Special District Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Larry Loder Public Commission 

Richard Savel Public Alternate Commission 

Tod Moody Special District Alternate Sanitary District #5 

Stephen Burke City Alternate City of Mill Valley 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters County Alternate District 3 Supervisor 

Marin LAFCo offices are located at 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 in San Rafael. 

Information on Marin LAFCo’s functions and activities, including reorganization applications, 

are available by calling (415) 448-5877 by e-mail to staff@marinlafco.org or by visiting 

www.marinlafco.org.  

  

mailto:staff@marinlafco.org
http://www.marinlafco.org/


 

Marin LAFCo  10 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

This study represents Marin LAFCo’s scheduled regional municipal service review of local 

agencies in the Golden Gate Corridor region of southern Marin County. The underlying aim of 

the study is to produce an independent assessment of municipal services in the region over the 

next five to ten years relative to the Commission’s regional growth management duties and 

responsibilities. The information generated as part of the study will be directly used by the 

Commission in (a) guiding subsequent sphere of influence updates, (b) informing future 

boundary changes, and – if merited – (c) initiating government reorganizations, such as special 

district formations, consolidations, and/or dissolutions. 

2.1 AFFECTED PUBLIC AGENCIES 
This report focuses on eight agencies operating in the Golden Gate Corridor region as listed 

below and shown in Figure 2.1.  

Table 2-1: Golden Gate Corridor Region MSR Agencies 

Golden Gate Corridor Region Agency Names 

City of Mill Valley 

City of Sausalito 

Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District 

Marin City Community Services District 

Tamalpais Community Services District 

Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Marin County Service Area 14 

Marin County Flood Control Zone 3 

Together, these agencies provide a range of municipal services to the communities in which they 

serve, including:  

Water 
Water services include the access to, treatment of, and distribution of water for municipal 

purposes. An in-depth review of countywide water services was prepared by Marin LAFCo 

in 2016. 

Wastewater 
Wastewater services include the collection, transmission, and treatment of wastewater.  

Fire Protection and Emergency Services 
Fire protection and emergency services consist of firefighting and fire prevention, emergency 

medical response, hospital service, ambulance, and rescue services. These services are 

somewhat interrelated in nature and overlap in functional application. 



 

Marin LAFCo  11 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Parks and Recreation Services 
Parks and recreation services include the provision and maintenance of parks and recreation 

services. 

Open Space Management 
Open Space land is commonly set aside for recreation and stormwater management purposes, 

as well as for natural resource protection, preservation of cultural and historic resources, 

preservation of scenic vistas, and many other reasons. 

Channel Maintenance 
Channel maintenance includes periodic dredging of creek channels. 

Roadway Services 

Roadway services include construction, maintenance, planning of roads, and roadway 

lighting. 

2.2 PLANS, POLICIES, STUDIES 
Key references and information sources for this study were gathered for each agency considered. 

The references utilized in this study include published reports; review of agency files and 

databases (agendas, minutes, budgets, contracts, audits, etc.); Master Plans; Capital Improvement 

Plans; engineering reports; EIRs; finance studies; general plans; and state and regional agency 

information (permits, reviews, communications, regulatory requirements, etc.). Additionally, the 

LAFCo Executive Officer and Deputy Executive Officer contacted each agency with requests for 

information. 

The study area for this MSR includes two cities as well as a number of unincorporated areas 

adjacent to the cities. In the areas entirely outside of the cities, Marin County has the primary 

authority over local land-use and development policies (and growth).  The City of Mill Valley 

and the City of Sausalito have authority over land use and development policies within their 

respective jurisdictions.  City, County, and Community plans were vital for the collection of 

baseline and background data for each agency.  The following is a list of documents used in the 

preparation of this MSR:  

• County General Plans 

• Specific Plans  

• Community Plans 

• Previous municipal service reviews 

• Agency databases and online archives (agendas, meeting minutes, website information)  

  



 

Marin LAFCo  12 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

2.3 AGENCY AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Within the approved scope of work, this study has been prepared with an emphasis on soliciting 

outside public review and comment as well as multiple opportunities for input from the affected 

agencies. This included an agency startup meeting with Marin LAFCo, information requests sent 

to individual agencies, draft agency profiles also sent to agencies, and review of the draft report 

prior to Commission action.  

This MSR is posted on the Commission’s website (www.marinlafco.org). It may also be 

reviewed at the LAFCo office located at 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 in San Rafael during 

open hours. 

Table 2-2:  Golden Gate Corridor Region Agencies’ Meeting Information 

 

Golden Gate Corridor Municipal Service Review – Agency Transparency 

Agency Governing 

Body 

Meeting 

Date/Time 

Meeting Location Televised/ 

Streamin

g 

Website 

City of Mill 

Valley 

City 

Council 

1st and 3rd 

Monday at 

6:30 p.m. 

Mill Valley City Hall  

26 Corte Madera Avenue 

Mill Valley, CA 94941 

Yes cityofmillvalley.org/city-

council 

City of 

Sausalito 

City 

Council 

1st and 3rd 

Tuesday at 

7:00 p.m. 

Sausalito City Hall 

420 Litho Street 

Sausalito, CA 94965 

N/A sausalito.gov/city-

government/city-council 

Marin City 

Community 

Services 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

1st Thursday 

6:30 p.m. 

Marin City Community 

Center 

640 Drave Avenue. 

Marin City, CA 94965 

No marincitycsd.com/board-

meetings 

Tamalpais 

Community 

Services 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

2nd 

Wednesday 

7:00 p.m. 

Tam Valley Community 

Center 

203 Marin Drive 

Mill Valley, CA  94941 

No tamcsd.org/board-of-

directors 

Sausalito – 

Marin City 

Sanitary 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

1st Tuesday 

12:00 p.m. 

SMCSD Office 

1 East Road 

Sausalito, CA 94965 

No sausalitomarincitysanitarydis

trict.com/about-

us/board/board-of-directors 

Southern 

Marin Fire 

Protection 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

4th Wednesday 

at 7:00 p.m. 

SMFPD Headquarters 

28 Liberty Ship Way  

Sausalito, CA  94965 

No smfd.org/our-district-

overview/board-of-directors 

Flood 

Control Zone 

3 

Marin 

County 

Board of 

Supervisors 

Tuesdays at 

9:00 a.m. 

Board of Supervisors 

Chambers, Room 330 

3501 Civic Center Drive 

San Rafael, CA 94903 

Community 

Media 

Center of 

Marin 

http://www.marincounty.org/

depts/bs/meeting-archive 

County 

Service Area 

No. 14 

Marin 

County 

Board of 

Supervisors 

Tuesdays at 

9:00 a.m. 

Board of Supervisors 

Chambers, Room 330 

3501 Civic Center Drive 

San Rafael, CA 94903 

Community 

Media 

Center of 

Marin 

http://www.marincounty.org/

depts/bs/meeting-archive 

cityofmillvalley.org/city-council
https://www.tomalescsd.ca.gov/board-meeting-s
https://www.bolinasfire.org/board-meetings-1
https://bcpud.org/administration/board-of-directors/
https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/
https://www.invernesspud.org/board-of-directors
http://www.marincounty.org/depts/bs/meeting-archive
http://www.marincounty.org/depts/bs/meeting-archive


 

Marin LAFCo  13 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS 
The Commission is directed to prepare written determinations to address the multiple governance 

factors enumerated under G.C. Section 56430 anytime it prepares a municipal service review. 

These determinations are similar to findings and serve as independent statements based on 

information collected, analyzed, and presented in this study’s subsequent sections. The 

underlying intent of the determinations is to identify all pertinent issues relating to the planning, 

delivery, and funding of municipal services as it relates to the Commission’s role and 

responsibilities. An explanation of these seven determination categories is provided below. 

1. Growth and Population 

This determination evaluates existing and projected population estimates for each of the 

unincorporated communities within the study area.   

2. Location and Characteristics of any Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 

Within or Contiguous to the Sphere of Influence. 

This determination was added by Senate Bill (SB) 244, which became effective in 

January 2012. A disadvantaged community is defined as an inhabited community of 12 or 

more registered voters having a median household income of 80 percent or less than the 

statewide median household income. 

3. Capacity and Infrastructure 

Also discussed is the adequacy and quality of the services provided by each agency, 

including whether sufficient infrastructure and capital are in place (or planned for) to 

accommodate planned future growth and expansions.  

4. Financing 

This determination provides an analysis of the financial structure and health of each 

service provider, including the consideration of rates and service operations, as well as 

other factors affecting the financial health and stability of each provider. Other factors 

considered include those that affect the financing of needed infrastructure improvements 

and compliance with existing requirements relative to financial reporting and 

management. 

5. Shared Facilities 

Opportunities for districts to share facilities are described throughout this MSR. Practices 

and opportunities that may help to reduce or eliminate unnecessary costs are examined, 

along with cost avoidance measures that are already being utilized. Occurrences of 

facilities sharing are listed and assessed for more efficient delivery of services. 

6. Government Structure and Local Accountability 

This subsection addresses the adequacy and appropriateness of existing boundaries and 

spheres of influence and evaluates the ability of each service provider to meet its 

demands under its existing government structure. Also included is an evaluation of 

compliance by each provider with public meeting and records laws (Brown Act). 



 

Marin LAFCo  14 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

7. Other Matters Related to Effective or Efficient Service Delivery, as Required by 

Commission Policy 

Marin LAFCo has specified the sustainability of local agencies as a priority matter for 

consideration in this MSR. Sustainability is not simply about the environment but can 

consider the sustainability of an organization and its ability to continue to provide 

services efficiently for many years to come. Sustainable local governments that take 

practical steps to protect the environment and our natural resources through land 

conservations, water recycling and reuse, preservation of open space, and opting to use 

renewable energy are the key players in determining the sustainability of the region.  

In addition, other matters for consideration could relate to the potential future SOI 

determination and/or additional effort to review potential advantages or disadvantages of 

consolidation or reorganization. 

A summary of determinations regarding each of the above categories is provided in Chapter 3 

of this document and will be considered by Marin LAFCo in assessing potential future changes 

to an SOI or other reorganization. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  15 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

3.0 DETERMINATIONS 

The Commission is directed to prepare written determinations to address the multiple 

governance factors specified under Government Code Section 56430 anytime it prepares a 

municipal service review. These determinations serve as independent statements based on 

information collected, analyzed, and presented in this study’s subsequent sections.  The 

underlying intent of the determinations is to provide a succinct detailing of all pertinent 

issues relating to the planning, delivery, and funding of public services in the study area as it 

relates to the Commission’s role and responsibilities. 

Growth and population projections for the affected area.  

  

a)  Anticipated growth in the study area is projected to be minimal.  Both of the 

municipalities in the study area are essentially built out at this time with minimal growth 

potential remaining under current zoning policies.  The City of Mill Valley has been growing 

at an average annual rate of less than 0.24% over the past decade, while the City of Sausalito 

experienced an annual growth rate over the same span of approximately 0.29%.  The 

projected annual growth rate for the City of Mill Valley through 2040 is less than 0.38%, and 

the City of Sausalito is projected to experience approximately a 0.34% growth rate over the 

same timeframe.    

  

b)  The projected annual population growth rate in unincorporated spaces around the study 

area is just over 0.23% through 2040.  The census-designated place of Marin City 

experienced the highest annual growth rate over the past decade with a 1.2% annual 

population increase between 2010 and 2020 and the census-designated place of Tamalpais-

Homestead Valley has seen an annual growth rate of less than 0.66% during that same 

window.  

  

The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within 

or contiguous to the sphere of influence.  

  

a)  A census tract block group (Tract 1290, Block Group 1) that has been designated by 

Marin LAFCo as a disadvantaged unincorporated community (DUC) based on 2020 U.S. 

Census Bureau Redistricting Data has been identified within the study area.  The block group 

is situated within the census-designated place of Marin City.  A disadvantaged community is 

defined in Water Code Section 7905.5(a) as a community with an annual median household 

income of less than 80 percent of the statewide median household income.  The statutory 

definition of DUCs comes from Government Code Section 56033.5, which defines DUCs as 

“inhabited territory” that constitutes all or a portion of a disadvantaged community.  

“Inhabited territory” may be defined by Government Code Section 56046 as having at least 

12 registered voters, or it can be determined by “commission policy”.  

 

Per Marin LAFCo’s policy, Marin LAFCo will include considerations of disadvantaged 

unincorporated communities within a city or district sphere of influence in statements of 

written determinations of municipal service reviews.  Marin LAFCo will prohibit the 

approval of city annexations greater than 10 acres that are contiguous to a disadvantaged 



 

Marin LAFCo  16 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

unincorporated community unless the city applies to annex the disadvantaged unincorporated 

community as well.  At this time Marin LAFCo has no applications for annexation for any 

lands contiguous to the identified DUC.  Should LAFCo in the future get such a request then 

it will work with the community to determine if it is in the best interest of those living within 

the DUC to be annexed.  If it is not within the community's best interest, then they would not 

be included with that application.    

  

Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and 

infrastructure needs or deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, 

municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any disadvantaged 

unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence.  

  

As noted above, there is one census block group within the study area that has been identified 

and designated by Marin LAFCo as a disadvantaged unincorporated community (DUC).  The 

municipal services within that block group are provided by the County of Marin, Marin City 

Community Services District, Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District, and the Marin 

Municipal Water District.  All of the agencies mentioned have shown to have the capacity, 

both in infrastructure and service levels, to both continue to provide adequate levels of 

service to the area as well as for the capacity for additional services given current growth 

projections for the area.  While recently concerns have been raised by residents within the 

block group regarding the quality of the drinking water being provided, to date there has been 

no official testing done that presented contaminant readings that proved to be outside the 

maximum contaminant level (MCL) set by the Office of Environmental Health Hazard 

Assessment of the State of California.    

  

 Financial ability of agencies to provide services.  

  

a)  The City of Mill Valley, City of Sausalito, Southern Marin Fire Protection District, 

Tamalpais Community Services District, Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District, Marin City 

Community Services District, County Service Area 14, and Flood Control Zone 3 all prepare 

annual budgets and prepare financial statements in accordance with established governmental 

accounting standards.  The City Councils, SMFPD, SMCSD, TCSD, MCCSD Boards, and 

the County Board of Supervisors, acting as the Board for CSA 14 and the Marin County 

Flood Control and Water Conservation District, may amend their budgets by resolution 

during the fiscal year in order to respond to emerging needs, changes in resources, or shifting 

priorities.  Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the fund level, which is the legal 

level of control.  

  

b) The City Managers, Fire Chief, District General Managers, and County Administrative 

Officer are authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between accounts, departments, or funds 

under certain circumstances, however; the City Councils, Special District Boards, and 

County Board of Supervisors, acting as the Board for the Marin County Flood Control and 

Water Conservation District as well as CSA 14, must approve any increase in the operating 

expenditures, appropriations for capital projects, and transfers between major funds and 

reportable fund groups.  Audited financial statements are also prepared for each agency by 

independent certified public accounting firms.    



 

Marin LAFCo  17 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

  

c)  While additional revenues are needed to provide some services and maintain 

infrastructure covered in this MSR, each agency meets its financial responsibilities to provide 

services.  In the short term, as fiscal recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic continues, 

governing bodies for each agency should remain judicious in maintaining and, when 

possible, increasing reserve funds to guard against the possibility of future economic 

downturns.   

 

d) While no significant financial concerns were raised by the available financial 

documentation from both the independent auditor and the State Controller regarding the 

Marin City Community Services District, the District’s inability to provide Marin LAFCo 

with more granular financial data (specifically, adopted operating budgets for any of the past 

5 fiscal years or the current fiscal year) leaves a level of ambiguity for Marin LAFCo in these 

determinations. As such, Marin LAFCo must abstain from making any determination on the 

District’s financial ability to provide services beyond the study window.   

 

Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities.  

  

a)  With the recent approval by LAFCo of consolidation of the SMFPD and Mill Valley Fire 

Departments, no other specific opportunities for shared facilities that would prove 

advantageous to both participating parties were identified in the course of this study.  

  

Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and 

operational efficiencies.  

  

a) The City of Sausalito and the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District have been engaged in 

discussions and, ultimately, full feasibility studies surrounding the possible consolidation of 

the City’s sewer collection services to the District.  At this time, Marin LAFCo is in full 

support of the conclusions and recommendations made within the feasibility study for the 

continued pursuit of the consolidation and/or, at a minimum, a complete reworking of the 

original agreement between the two agencies in an effort to continue to provide the best 

possible service to the community as well as addressing the significant capital improvements 

that have been identified.    

 

In the continuation of this process, it is the recommendation of Marin LAFCo that as both 

agencies continue to meet and explore possibilities, that staff from Marin LAFCo be included 

in future discussions in order to provide technical expertise on the overall process.  The 

recent consolidation of the City of Mill Valley’s fire services into the Southern Marin Fire 

Protection District has created a model of success that both agencies asserted was 

significantly easier due to the early involvement of Marin LAFCo staff in the process as a 

whole.  

 

b) Flood Control Zone 3 (FCZ 3) is funded by ad valorem collected throughout its 

jurisdictional boundary, which includes the City of Mill Valley, the unincorporated 

communities of Marin City, Almonte, Tamalpais Valley, Homestead Valley, Sutton Manor, 

and an apportionment of the community of Strawberry.  The approximate annual percentages 



 

Marin LAFCo  18 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

(and the exact percentage for FY 22-23) of the jurisdiction from which that funding is 

generated is 51.51% from within the City of Mill Valley and 48.06% from the 

unincorporated spaces.  In March of 2021, the consulting firm of Schaaf & Wheeler 

completed the Mill Valley Flood Management and Storm Drain Master Plan which was 

subsequently adopted by the City in April of 2021.  The plan was funded by FCZ 3 and is 

intended to function as a multipurpose flood management and storm drain system resource 

guide for the City’s staff and leadership.  The plan presents a myriad of potential projects and 

mitigation measures within the City’s boundary in the continued effort to avert significant 

future flooding events.  

 

In September of 2021, the City submitted a request for funds to FCZ 3 for a total of seven 

projects and cited the Flood Management and Storm Drain Master Plan in the request.  The 

total estimated funds requested was $4,480,000, which is approximately double what the 

Zone’s annual baseline budget is, but well within that fiscal year’s fund balance.  This total 

estimated amount covered just six of the seven projects listed in the request, as one of the 

projects was still “too early to develop a scope and cost estimate”.  Two weeks after the 

funding request was submitted, the FCZ 3 Advisory Board met and agreed to establish an ad-

hoc subcommittee of advisory board members with the established purpose of recommending 

an investment strategy for Zone 3 and responding to the funding request from the City.  The 

subcommittee met in March of 2022 to review a draft proposal for prioritizing Zone 3 fund 

investments which was presented at the full Advisory Board meeting in April of 2022.  Since 

that meeting, no additional meetings have been publicly posted on the Flood Control 

District’s web page.  

 

Leadership from the City has expressed concerns regarding the differences in the number of 

projects funded by the Zone within City boundaries in juxtaposition to the amount of the 

Zone’s annual revenue that is generated from within the City.  As such, given the Zone’s 

relatively steady annual revenue stream, Marin LAFCo recommends a collaborative 

exploration between the Zone and the City, in conjunction with the currently established 

investment strategy subcommittee efforts, towards the creation of a longer-term (5 or 10-year 

as opposed to the current 3-year) project plan in order to ensure that these critical services 

continue to be provided in an equitable and fully transparent manner.     

  

c)  The City of Mill Valley completely surrounds a small pocket of inhabited unincorporated 

space (Alto).  Access to the unincorporated area can be gained only by way of going directly 

through the City itself, which creates what LAFCo classifies as an unincorporated island. 

Marin LAFCo’s Unincorporated Island policy encourages annexations of islands to cities, 

where supported by the island community, to further reduce and/or eliminate islands to 

provide more orderly local governmental boundaries and cost-efficiencies. However, Marin 

LAFCo will not independently proceed with an entire island annexation to a municipality 

where local residents have voiced opposition.   At this time, Marin LAFCo recommends that 

City staff members explore the willingness of residents within the Alto unincorporated space 

to consider annexation by way of meeting with community groups within the area, as well as 

examining its own ability to extend services to the area if they are not already doing so 

unofficially.  

  



 

Marin LAFCo  19 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by 

commission policy  

  

a)  The City of Mill Valley’s current sphere of influence includes the unincorporated 

communities of Homestead Valley, Almonte, and Alto.  When originally adopted in 1984, 

the sphere of influence also included Tamalpais Valley.  Tamalpais Valley was removed 

from the City’s sphere in 2004 when Marin LAFCo deemed there to be no probable chance 

of future annexation of the area to the City for a multitude of reasons.  The definition of a 

sphere of influence in State Government Code is “A plan for the probable physical 

boundaries and service area of a local agency”.  At this time both the Homestead Valley and 

Almonte communities, despite sharing a border with the City, are unlikely to be annexed to 

the City in the foreseeable future as both are distinct communities in and of themselves with 

other agencies providing necessary services.  In addition, the annexation of the two 

communities would result in a population increase to the City of over 25% which would 

create a significant strain on the City’s delivery of services.  As such, it is recommended that 

the City’s sphere of influence be amended to remove the communities of Homestead Valley 

and Almonte, and retain the area of Alto as a majority of the area is surrounded by the City, 

creating an unincorporated island.  The area currently in the City’s sphere along Edgewood 

Avenue should also be retained within the updated sphere. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  20 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

4.0 REGIONAL SETTING 

 

The Golden Gate Corridor Region Municipal Service Review (MSR) study area consists of the 

southernmost public agencies and communities within Marin County and stretches along the 

County’s southern 101 corridor to the northernmost point of the City of Mill Valley.  Eight 

public agencies, including one County Service Area (CSA) and one Flood Control Zone, are 

included.  Many distinct communities lie within and adjacent to the Study Area.  These 

communities are served by a number of municipal service providers that have been established 

over time to meet local conditions and needs.  While jurisdictional boundaries define the 

geographical extent of an agency’s authority and responsibility to provide services, there are 

several instances of overlapping boundaries and service responsibilities in the Study Area.  These 

service arrangements and relationships for providing fire protection, parks and recreation, open 

space management, and other municipal services within the Study Area are described in this 

report. 



 

Marin LAFCo  21 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Within the Study Area, all incorporated and unincorporated communities are within the current 

boundary or service area of a fire protection and emergency medical service provider.  While 

there are several small pockets of development in the Study Area that are not currently provided 

sanitary sewer service by a local agency, the vast majority is within the jurisdictional boundary 

of one of the sanitary sewer agencies.  The Marin Municipal Water District provides water for 

domestic use and fire-flow to the entire Study Area. 

4.1 UNINCORPORATED ISLANDS 
The State Legislature has recognized that pockets of unincorporated territory that are surrounded 

or substantially surrounded by incorporated cities, typically known as “islands”, create 

governance and service delivery inefficiencies and deficiencies.  Marin LAFCo’s 

Unincorporated Island policy encourages annexations of islands to cities, where supported by the 

island community, to further reduce and/or eliminate islands to provide more orderly local 

governmental boundaries and cost-efficiencies.  However, Marin LAFCo will not independently 

proceed with an entire island annexation to a municipality where local residents have voiced 

opposition.  

There is one identified unincorporated island in the Golden Gate Corridor region that is 

substantially surrounded by the City of Mill Valley: the Alto Sutton (Horse Hill) neighborhood 

in the eastern border area of the City of Mill Valley.  The Alto Sutton island is comprised of 

approximately 200 parcels, a majority of which are developed, and is approximately 40 acres in 

size.  The unincorporated island is relatively unique as the City’s jurisdictional boundary actually 

bisects the unincorporated neighborhood completely in one area leaving a patch of 23 parcels 

completely surrounded by City lands.  The Alto Sutton area has a population of approximately 

700.  Access to the Alto Sutton area is through Mill Valley Streets and is currently within the 

City’s sphere of influence.  The Alto Sutton area is located so close to City facilities that the area 

may already be deemed to benefit from them.  If the area were annexed to the City, Alto Sanitary 

District would logically be dissolved or established as a subsidiary of the City.  The City of Mill 

Valley would provide services and facilities at service levels which are the same or higher than 

currently provided by the County and Alto Sanitary District.  A map of the area can be seen 

below in Figure 4-1 with the City of Mill Valley’s jurisdiction shown in purple shading and the 

Alto Sutton island outlined in green. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  22 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 4-1:  Alto Sutton (Horse Hill) Unincorporated Island Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  23 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

5.0 CITY OF MILL VALLEY 
 

5.1 OVERVIEW 
 

The City of Mill Valley is situated in the southern end of Marin County’s Highway 101 corridor.  

The City shares a border to the northwest with the Town of Corte Madera and to the north with 

the City of Larkspur.  The census-designated place of Tamalpais-Homestead Valley lies to the 

south of the City, and the census-designated place of Strawberry flanks the City’s eastern border 

on the adjacent side of Highway 101.  The jurisdictional boundary of the City of Mill Valley is 

approximately 4.86 square miles and, on the basis of the City’s current zoning standards, is 

predominantly built out1 at this time with very few vacant parcels remaining that are zoned for 

development.  According to the United States Census Bureau2, the City had a population of 

14,231 as of the 2020 U.S. Census. 

The City provides a range of municipal services including parks and recreation, street 

maintenance, community development, library, police, and fire/emergency medical.  Other 

municipal services to the Town are provided by various special districts. 

Table 5-1:  City of Mill Valley Overview 

City of Mill Valley Overview 

City Manager: Todd Cusimano 

Main Office: 26 Corte Madera Avenue, Mill Valley 

Council Chambers: 26 Corte Madera Avenue, Mill Valley 

Formation Date: March 1, 1908 

Services Provided: Parks & Recreation, Street Maintenance, Community Development, 

Library, Police, Fire/Emergency Medical, Sanitation 

City Boundary: 4.86 sq. mi city limit; 5.92 sq. mi SOI 

Population Served: 14,231 

 

5.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Originally inhabited by the Coast Miwoks, the City of Mill Valley began taking shape in the 

mid-1830s when John Reed built the first sawmill in Marin County on the Cascade Creek 

(current day Old Mill Park) and settled near what is now Locke Lane and LaGoma Avenue.3  

Reed, along with William Richardson, had been awarded two large tracts of land in the area by 

the Mexican government – Rancho Corte Madera del Presidio to Reed and Rancho Saucelito to 

Richardson.  In an effort to pay off a large debt, Richardson gave a large part of his Rancho, 

including the part of what is now Mill Valley, to Samuel Reading Throckmorton.  Between 1853 

and 1854 Throckmorton built his own Rancho, “The Homestead”, on what is now Linden Lane 

and Montfort Avenue.  In 1860, Richardson’s heirs successfully sued Reed’s heirs claiming the 



 

Marin LAFCo  24 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

mill was built on their property.  The border was officially marked as running along the Arroyo 

Corte Madera del Presidio along present-day Miller Avenue.  Everything to the east of the creek 

was Reed property and everything to the west was Richardson land.   

In 1873, Dr. John Cushing discovered 320 unclaimed acres between the Reed and Richardson 

boundaries between present-day Corte Madera Avenue and into West Blithedale Canyon.  Using 

the Homestead Act, he petitioned the government and managed to acquire the land.  It was here 

that he originally built a hospital that was eventually turned into the Blithedale Hotel in 1884.  

This renovation was the beginning of what would become an increased draw to the area for 

recreational activities such as fishing, hiking, swimming, and horseback riding.  Other resort 

hotels such as the Abbey, the Eastland, and the Redwood Lodge were built and the area that was 

popular for vacationers continued to evolve into a space where individuals who worked in San 

Francisco would move to and commute.   

The San Francisco Savings & Union Bank organized the Tamalpais Land & Water Company in 

1889 as an agency for disposing of the Richardson land gained from the Throckmorton debt.  

The Board of Directors included Secretary Louis L. Janes (Janes Street), Thomas Magee (Magee 

Avenue), Albert Miller (Miller Avenue), and Lovell White (Lovell Avenue).4  Janes, eventually 

becoming the Director of the Tamalpais Land & Water Company (and the City’s first Clerk), 

worked to bring a railroad up Mt. Tamalpais.  The Mt. Tamalpais Scenic Railway completed 

construction and began operation in 1896 and ran from the town center (present day Lytton 

Square) all the way to the summit.  The railway operated until 1929 when a majority of it was 

destroyed by a fire.  The tracks were removed in 1930. 

By 1900 the population in the area was close to 900 and local residents pushed for incorporation.  

In August of that year, elections were held and a total of 168 votes were cast approving 

incorporation.  Town trustees were chosen from among prominent citizens and organized city 

government was put in place.  In April of 1906, the Great Earthquake struck San Francisco and 

other communities on the San Andreas Fault.  Many San Franciscans who had established 

second dwellings in Mill Valley fled the city and became permanent residents in Mill Valley.  By 

1920, with a population of over 2,500, many roads were paved and mail delivery was initiated. 

With the accessibility to San Francisco exponentially increased by the completion of the 

construction of the Golden Gate Bridge in 1937, real estate became a principal business in the 

area and construction boomed.  By the early 1950’s the population had ballooned to well over 

7,000.   The City Hall was constructed in 1936 and renovated in 1978.  The Mill Valley Public 

Library was built in 1966 and in 1998 an addition to the building of just over 9,000 square feet 

was completed.  In 2001, after over a decade of planning, the City opened the doors to its new 

Community Center on a five-acre site. 

The City’s population growth saw its most significant boom between 1950 and 1960, when the 

total number of residents grew from 7,331 to 10,411.  Today, the City’s total population has 

extended to 14,231 total residents. 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  25 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

5.3 JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

 
 

The current jurisdictional boundary for the City of Mill Valley is approximately 4.86 square 

miles (3113 acres).  A majority of the City’s northwestern border is shared with the Town of 

Corte Madera and the City of Larkspur.  The southernmost edge of the City encapsulates parts of 

Richardson Bay, with Highway 101 separating the City from the unincorporated lands that make 

up the census-designated place of Strawberry.   The Panoramic Highway touches Mill Valley’s 

westernmost point and creates one of the two primary thoroughfares that connect the 

communities in southern Marin to the communities of Stinson Beach and Bolinas on Marin 

County’s western coastline.  The unincorporated communities of Homestead Valley, Muir 

Woods Park, Almonte, and Tamalpais Valley (jointly designated by the U.S. Census Bureau as 

the Tamalpais-Homestead Valley census-designated place) and the Mount Tamalpais State Park 

reside directly to the City’s southern boundary. 

Most recently updated in 2010, the City’s sphere of influence (SOI) is a fair amount larger than 

the jurisdictional boundary at approximately 5.92 square miles (3,788 acres).  The total area 

included in the sphere that is outside of the city limits encompasses the entirety of the 



 

Marin LAFCo  26 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

unincorporated communities of Homestead Valley, Alto, and Almonte.  The original sphere of 

influence that was adopted for the City in 1984 also included the unincorporated communities of 

Tamalpais Valley and Muir Woods Park.   In 2004, the sphere was amended by Marin LAFCo to 

remove the majority of Muir Woods Park and Tamalpais Valley after the conclusion that the 

extension of the City’s services to those areas was improbable.  This sphere of influence was 

reaffirmed by the Commission in 2010.     

5.4 POPULATION AND GROWTH 
 

The City of Mill Valley saw its greatest population boom between 1940 and 1970 when the total 

population of the City grew from 4,847 to 12,942.  Since then, population growth has been 

relatively minimal with an annual growth rate of approximately 0.18% over the course of the last 

50 years. The official count from the 2020 Census put the City’s population at 14,231. The City 

is essentially built5 out at this time, with few remaining vacant lots zoned for development that 

have not already been given a prospective project designation.  In an effort to comply with 

current housing mandates passed by the State, the City is exploring options including the 

updating of the zoning of certain areas as well as publicly owned properties that could be 

candidates for higher-density developments.  A map of the zoning for the City can be seen below 

in figure 5-1. 

Figure 5-1:  City of Mill Valley Zoning Map  

 



 

Marin LAFCo  27 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

5.5 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 
Governance 
The City of Mill Valley operates under a council-manager form of government, in which 

legislative and policy functions are vested in the City Council while the City Manager conducts 

the day-to-day city business.  The City Council for Mill Valley is comprised of five members.  

The positions of Mayor and Vice-Mayor are rotated amongst the members on an annual basis.  

Members are elected to four-year terms, with elections held in March/June of even-numbered 

years with three council members elected in one cycle and two in the following cycle. 

 

City Council duties include establishing legislation and policies governing the City; adopting all 

ordinances, resolutions, and major contracts; approving and modifying annual budgets; making 

appointments to advisory boards, commissions, and committees; and appointing the City 

Manager and City Attorney.  City Council meetings are regularly held on the first and third 

Monday of each month at 6:30 p.m. at the City Council Chambers at 26 Corte Madera Avenue in 

Mill Valley. 

 
Table 5-2:  City of Mill Valley City Council 

Member Position Term End 

Jim Wickham Mayor 2024 

Urban Carmel Vice Mayor 2024 

Stephen Burke Member 2026 

Max Perrey Member 2026 

Vacant Member 2024 

 

Administration 
The City Manager is appointed by the City Council and is responsible for City operations 

management and policy implementation on behalf of the City Council.  The City Manager is an 

at-will employee and administers the City of Mill Valley’s departments through the eight 

department directors:  City Librarian, Director of Planning and Building, Finance and Human 

Resources Director, Fire Chief, General Manager of Wastewater Treatment Plant, Parks and 

Recreation Director, Police Chief, and Public Works Director.   

 

5.6 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

When conducting service reviews and reviewing proposals, LAFCo considers an agency’s 

accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure, operational 

efficiencies, financial resources, and promoting public access.  The City offers multiple ways to 

keep the public informed about services, meetings, finances, and decision-making processes.  

The City Council’s meeting agendas area posted on the bulletin boards in the front and rear of 

City Hall by 5 p.m. each Thursday preceding regular City Council Meetings, as well as copies 



 

Marin LAFCo  28 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

available at the Library and posted on the City website.  Past meeting agendas and meeting 

minutes can be found in the City’s “Archive” page on its website that is linked from the City 

Council page.  The public may also provide verbal comments or concerns by phone or in person 

at City Hall during business hours and/or at Town Council meetings during the public comment 

period.  Given the current issues with public gatherings due to COVID-19, the City offers its 

residents the ability to attend all public meetings remotely and offers recordings of its meetings 

on the City’s website as soon as possible after the meeting.  All City Council meetings are 

broadcast on Marin TV which is available with both Comcast and AT&T cable subscriptions.  

The City also offers a variety of digital newsletters that residents can sign up to automatically 

receive ranging from broader citywide news, to departmental specific updates.  At this time, all 

legal requirements for public agency transparency are being met or exceeded. 

 

5.7 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
 

The City of Mill Valley provides its residents with the municipal services of police, parks and 

recreation, public works, fire and emergency response, street maintenance, and sanitation.  The 

City also partners with outside agencies for the provision of certain municipal services including 

municipal water, wastewater treatment and disposal, and garbage collection.  A description of 

these services is provided below. 

Law Enforcement 
The City of Mill Valley provides law enforcement services to all areas within the jurisdictional 

boundary.  The Mill Valley Police Department headquarters is located at 1 Hamilton Drive in 

Mill Valley in the Mill Valley Public Safety Building that adjoins Fire Station #7.  The projected 

expenditures for police services in FY 2022-23 are $7,992,904 which accounts for 17.6% of the 

City’s budgeted operating expenditures for the year.  This appropriation is an increase of 

$590,698 (8%) from the previous fiscal year.   

The Police Department employs a total of 30 FTE (full-time equivalent) employees with 22 

sworn officers and eight professional staff.  Of those eight, three are part-time employees.  The 

Department’s staff makes a concerted effort to engage with the community on a consistent basis.  

Some of the Police Department community events that have been put on in the past year include: 

• Marin County Multi-Use Path education event 

• National Night Out 

• Book reading in schools and the Mill Valley Library 

• Skateboard park event 

• Coffee with a cop 

• Ice cream or pizza with a student 

• Educational presentations to youth/seniors/homeowners associations  

The Department has also participated in a number of community events in collaboration with the 

City of Mill Valley Community Engagement Team.  Some of these events include: 



 

Marin LAFCo  29 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Trunk or Treat 

• Mill Valley Music Festival 

• Mill Valley Little League Parade 

• Dipsea Marathon 

• High School Graduation 

• Community Campout 

• Memorial Day Parade 

The City’s annual crime statistics as well as the Department’s calls for service for the past five 

years can be seen below in Table 5-3 

Table 5-3:  City of Mill Valley Police Department Crime Statistics 

Category 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

Case Reports 888 981 987 970 898 

Calls for 

Service 

16,942 17,333 22,421 17,908 18,622 

Homicide 0 0 0 0 0 

Rape 0 0 0 1 0 

Felony Assault 5 5 10 4 6 

Misdemeanor 

Assault 

23 10 23 18 23 

Residential 

Burglary 

22 33 24 21 27 

Burglary, 

Other 

21 25 12 23 9 

Theft, All 171 240 177 137 163 

Auto Theft 7 14 10 15 12 

Traffic 

Accidents 

91 101 110 109 121 

Moving 

Violation 

Citations 

475 898 880 1,615 1,815 

Alarm 

Responses 

689 602 562 407 898 

Drunk Driving 

Arrests 

25 22 43 43 43 

Vandalism 35 73 33 32 39 

 

Fire and Emergency Response 
The City of Mill Valley’s Fire Department originated in 1890 as a volunteer brigade.  The town 

trustees passed an ordinance in 1901 creating the official department, with the first fire station 

being constructed in 1936 in conjunction with City Hall.  That original fire station was renovated 



 

Marin LAFCo  30 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

in 1978 and is still in use today, along with the City’s second fire station (Fire Station #7) that 

adjoins the City’s Police Department (known as the Mill Valley Public Safety Building) at 1 

Hamilton Drive in Mill Valley.  Each of the stations has one engine staffed with three 

firefighters, and a shared ambulance (Medic 4) that is stationed at the Mill Valley Public Safety 

Building is also staffed with a firefighter/paramedic, making for a total of seven firefighters on 

duty at all times. 

The Department has a projected expenditure budget for FY 2022-23 of $8,401,476.  This amount 

is $512,311 (6.5%) higher than the previous fiscal year.  The City is a member agency of the 

Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority (MWPA).  MWPA is a joint powers authority with 17 

member agencies throughout Marin County that receive funding for fuel removal projects, 

defensible space evaluations, and other helpful resources by way of a voter-approved parcel tax 

that was passed in March of 2020.  The projected funding from MWPA to the City of Mill 

Valley in FY 2022-23 is $466,164. 

In October of 2014, the Mill Valley Fire Department and the Southern Marin Fire Protection 

District (SMFPD) recognized a mutual opportunity for a trial of shared services.  Both the City 

and the District had a vacancy in one of the three Battalion Chief positions that provide incident 

command and perform program management duties.  Rather than promoting replacement 

employees into the two positions, the agencies agreed to test sharing Battalion Chiefs with the 

hopes of reducing costs and increasing staffing availability during absences.  The trial proved to 

be successful, and on October 19, 2016, the City and the District entered into a formal shared 

services agreement combining the four Battalion Chief positions into a single command team.  

The agreement has resulted in a net savings of over $500,000 per fiscal year.   

The success of this shared services model led the agencies to pursue the evaluation of the 

possibility of a greater consolidation.  The evaluation led to the City and the District agreeing in 

January of 2020 to combine the senior management teams of both agencies into a single team as 

well as combining the fire prevention and wildfire risk reduction resources into a single team.  

This agreement was viewed by the agencies as a large-scale test to see if a full formal 

consolidation of the two departments would be in the best interest of both parties.  In the time 

since this agreement was reached, both agencies have deemed it successful and after a full 

independent study by a consulting firm, the City and the District have agreed to consolidate the 

City’s fire services into the District.  An application for annexation has been submitted to Marin 

LAFCo and a public hearing for the application was held on December 8, 2022.  The application 

was approved, and the Southern Marin Fire Protection District will begin full operation of the 

City’s fire and emergency response services in July of 2023. 

Recreation 
The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have been consequential across all municipal 

departments for agencies all across the state and even the country.  A noteworthy apportionment 

of the City of Mill Valley’s annual General Fund Revenues are generated by way of charges for 

service, with the Recreation Department creating a significant percentage of those revenues.  In 

fiscal year 2019-20, the City realized a combined net position decrease for approximately $5.6 

million.  The major reasons for the decline in profitability were due to the fact that, while 



 

Marin LAFCo  31 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

revenues declined by roughly 1%, total expenses increased by roughly 9% over the prior fiscal 

year.  The main factor in the decline in revenue was due to a nearly $2.85 million decrease in 

charges for services attributable to so many services being halted, particularly within the 

Recreation Department whose projected Recreation Program Fees for FY 2021-22 went from 

$3,477,431 at the time the budget was originally adopted to $1,869,550 when the mid-year 

adjustments were proposed to the City Council.   With Covid-19 restrictions easing and 

numerous services returning to nearly pre-pandemic operations, the Recreation Department’s 

fiscal projections are significantly brighter, with projected program fees for FY 2022-23 of 

$2,377,800 and $2,712,800 in FY 2023-24.   

The Recreation Department’s main facility, the Mill Valley Community Center, is located at 180 

Camino Alto in Mill Valley.  The multi-use facility sits on a 5-acre plot and was constructed in 

2001.  The facility includes multi-purpose athletic fields, an aquatic center, a fitness center, a 

community garden, a commercial kitchen, multiple classrooms, a teen center, and a large 

ballroom.  The parking lot of the Community Center was the site of one of the City’s first major 

solar projects, with a covered parking area being constructed and equipped with solar panels.  

The Community Center itself was also retrofitted with solar panels on its building roofs.   

The Director of Arts and Recreation is supported by staff that includes one Superintendent of 

Recreation and Community Services and one Business Services Supervisor who directly 

supervise multiple full-time staff members. The Director works in concert with the Parks and 

Recreation Commission as an additional layer of community oversight ensuring that the services 

meet the needs of the community.  

The City of Mill Valley offers a number of parks within its jurisdictional boundary including the 

following: 

• Bayfront Park 

• Blithedale Park 

• Ernest Bloch Memorial Park 

• Boyle Park 

• Cascade Park 

• Mill Valley Dog Park 

• Freeman Park 

• Hauke Park 

• Miller Grove Park 

• Old Mill Park 

• Park Terrace 

• Scott Highlands Park 

• Sycamore Park 

The Department offers a wide array of programming and services including (but not limited to): 

• Youth summer camps 

• After-school enrichment classes 



 

Marin LAFCo  32 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Daily seniors programs 

• Swimming lessons 

• Personal training 

• Group fitness classes 

• Adaptive needs camps and classes 

• Special events 

• Facility rentals 

The City also owns and operates a 9-hole golf course that was managed by the Recreation 

Department until early 2022 at which time a contract for services was entered into with 

Touchstone Golf, a Bay Area golf course management firm, to assume operations.  The 

agreement is for Touchstone to manage operations under direction from the City with the City 

agreeing to pay Touchstone a monthly fee of $4,000 and reserve 2.5% of all course revenues to a 

fund dedicated to capital improvements.  In the event the course turns a profit, the City will 

receive 75% and Touchstone 25%. 

 

Library 
The City of Mill Valley provides its residents with comprehensive library services.  The City’s 

library, located at 375 Throckmorton Avenue in Mill Valley, was originally constructed in 1966 

and was renovated in 1998 with the addition of approximately 9,000 square feet to the main 

structure.  The Mill Valley Public Library offers programming for all ages, from early childhood 

programming such as Family Story Time, to it’s Teen Advisory Board, to its First Wednesday 

History Talks.   

 

The Mill Valley Library is a member of MARINet, a Joint Powers Authority established in June 

of 1991.  The JPA is governed by a board of directors consisting of the nine member libraries:  

Belvedere-Tiburon Library, Larkspur Public Library, Marin County Free Library, Mill Valley 

Public Library, San Anselmo Public Library, San Rafael Public Library, Sausalito Public 

Library, College of Marin Library, and Dominican University Library.  The consortium share 

access to each of the members’ catalogs and an automation system. 

 

The adopted operating expenditure budget for the Mill Valley Public Library for FY 2022-23 is 

$3,276,625, an increase of $482,816 (17.2%) from FY 2021-22. 

 

Water 
The water services to the City of Mill Valley are provided by the Marin Municipal Water District 

(MMWD), an independent special district, which is a separate local agency from the City.  The 

District’s services are reviewed separately in Marin LAFCo’s Countywide Water Service Study 

(2016).  This study can be viewed at marinlafco.org.   

 

MMWD’s jurisdictional boundary spans 148 square miles.  61% of this area is unincorporated 

and the additional 39% lies in 10 cities/towns, including the entirety of Mill Valley and its 

http://www.marinlafco.org


 

Marin LAFCo  33 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

surrounding unincorporated areas.  MMWD is currently authorized to provide three specific 

services within its jurisdictional boundary: (1) domestic water; (2) non-potable water; (3) and 

recreation.  The district’s governing board is comprised of five members who are elected by 

electoral divisions to staggered 4-year terms.  The City of Mill Valley is represented by electoral 

Division 4.  Cynthia Koehler is the elected official holding the seat for Division 4.  MMWD 

currently meets on the first and third Tuesday of each month at 7:30 p.m. at the District’s 

Administrative Office at 220 Nellan Avenue in Corte Madera. 

 

Wastewater 
The City of Mill Valley provides the wastewater collection system within the City’s 

jurisdictional boundary which leads to the treatment plant of the Sewerage Agency of Southern 

Marin (SASM).  The sewer service operations are housed within the City’s Public Works 

Department under the Sewer Maintenance Division.  The treatment plant is located in the City of 

Mill Valley at 450 Sycamore Avenue and is jointly owned by each of the six collection agencies 

(City of Mill Valley, Tamalpais Community Services District, Alto Sanitary District, Almonte 

Sanitary District, Homestead Valley Sanitary District, and Richardson Bay Sanitary District) that 

make up the joint powers authority.  The different agencies' ownership shares are measured in 

equivalent dwelling units (EDU) of the treatment plant’s capacity.  An EDU has been determined 

in the joint powers agreement to be the “average flow of wastewater produced by a single family 

equivalent dwelling unit, which has been agreed equates to 200 gallons per day.”  The City of 

Mill Valley is allocated at 49.2%, or 8,856 EDUs. 

 

The City’s sewer collection system services approximately 7,200 EDUs by way of infrastructure 

consisting of 59 miles of sewer pipes, two pumping stations, and just under one mile of force 

main.  Once wastewater is conveyed to and treated at the SASM plant, it is discharged through a 

deep water discharge to the San Francisco Bay.  As required by the State Water Resource 

Control Board, the City created and updates a sewer system management plan in order to 

establish goals that align the City’s sewer collection system operation, management, and capacity 

assurance activity as well as ensuring compliance with the Statewide Water Discharge 

Requirements.  The City’s current sewer system management plan was most recently updated in 

December of 2019. 

 

On March 1, 2021, the Mill Valley City Council adopted a proposed resolution updating the 

City’s sewer service charges.  The updated fee schedule covers five fiscal years (2021-22 

through 2025-26) and comes after undertaking a full cost-of-service study that is required to 

update sewer service rates, per Proposition 218.  The recommendation by staff to the City 

Council was to move away from the previously implemented 100% volumetric rate approach to a 

40% fixed and 60% volumetric approach with the rationale that the City’s sewer service costs are 

mostly fixed, and a 100% volumetric rate approach causes significant variance in annual 

revenues providing more stable revenues without raising overall system costs.  In an effort to 

mitigate the impact of the rate changes for residential customers (which make up over 80% of the 

City’s usage), a phased approach was used that shifted the 100% volumetric rates to 20% fixed 



 

Marin LAFCo  34 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

in year one, 30% fixed in year two, and reaching the target of 40% fixed in year three.  The 

current residential sewer service rates for the City can be seen below in Table 5-4. 

 
Table 5-4:  City of Mill Valley Sewer Service Rate Schedule 

Land Use of 

Premises 

FY 2021-

22 

FY 2022-

23 

FY 2023-

24 

FY 2024-

25 

FY 2025-

26 

Residential Monthly Fixed Service Charge 

Single Family 

Residential 

$27.28 $40.93 $54.57 $54.57 $54.57 

Multi-Family 

Residential 

$16.02 $24.02 $32.03 $32.03 $32.03 

Residential Volumetric Charge 

Single Family 

Residential 

$16.10 $14.08 $12.07 $12.07 $12.07 

Multi-Family 

Residential 

$16.10 $14.08 $12.07 $12.07 $12.07 

 

 

Public Works 
The City of Mill Valley’s Public Works Department fulfills its municipal service responsibilities 

through the maintenance and operation of the public facilities and public rights of way 

throughout the City’s boundary.  In addition to the standard operations and maintenance of 

things such as parks maintenance, streets, storm drains, street lights, traffic signals, and public 

buildings that a municipality’s public works department would typically oversee, the City of Mill 

Valley’s Public Works Department also manages the City’s wastewater collection system by 

performing minor repairs, locating mains and laterals for utility requests, clearing and preventing 

stoppages within the lines, and responding to emergency sanitary sewer overflows.   

The Department also manages and maintains the City’s unique Steps, Lanes, and Paths (SLP) 

program.  These pathways throughout the City were originally constructed during the earliest 

formations of the community as a means of directly connecting different areas for those 

primarily traveling on horseback or on foot as opposed to the major roads which were 

switchbacks.  In 2000, a citizen-driven effort to identify Mill Valley’s public SLPs emerged and 

a renewed recognition of the additional value of the pathways in the event of emergency 

evacuations added interest from the community and local leaders.  Since 2006, numerous SLPs 

have been re-opened, reconstructed or rebuilt.  An index and map of the SLPs throughout the 

City has been made publicly available with included designations for paths that have been 

deemed by the City’s fire department as functional emergency egress in the event of evacuation. 

The Public Works Department oversees the formation and implementation of the City’s Capital 

Improvement Program (CIP).  The program is a five-year planning tool that identifies anticipated 

capital improvements as well as their funding sources.  The current CIP encompasses FY’s 

2020/21 – 2024/25. While the CIP receives funding from multiple sources, the adopted General 



 

Marin LAFCo  35 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Fund allocations to the CIP for FY 2022-23 is $1,180,040.  Some of the major projects within the 

current CIP include (but are not limited to): 

• East Blithedale Avenue Rehabilitation 

• Steps, Lanes and Paths Design and Construction Program 

• Pump Station Improvement Program 

• Corporation Yard Master Plan 

• Flood management and Drainage Master Plan 

The operating expenditure budget for the City’s Public Works Department for FY 2022-23 is 

$6,451,251.  This amount is an increase of $851,562 (15.2%) from FY 2021-22. 

5.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 
 

The City of Mill Valley prepares an annual report on the City’s financial statements in 

accordance with established governmental accounting standards.  The most recent audited 

financial statement was prepared by the independent certified accounting firm, Maze & 

Associates, which issued an unqualified, or “clean”, opinion on the City’s financial statements 

for the fiscal year ending in June 30, 2020.   

 

The City operates on a two-year budget cycle which is adopted and effective July 1st for the 

initial fiscal year and reexamined and adjusted “mid-year” as necessary for the second year.  The 

budget reflects estimated revenues and expenditures.  Appropriations and spending 

authorizations are approved by the City Council.  The City Council may amend the budget by 

resolution during the fiscal year in order to respond to emerging needs, changes, or shifting 

priorities.  Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the fund level, which is the legal level 

of control.  The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between accounts, 

departments, or funds.  The City maintains a Capital Improvement Program based on a five-year 

funding plan.  The program funds projects for civic buildings, parks and open space, streets and 

transportation, and utilities.  The funding allocation to the program for FY 2022-23 is 

$9,161,220. 

 

Revenues and Expenditures 
The FY 2022-23 General Fund expenditure budget for the City of Mill Valley is $36,521,377.  

The expenditure budget is supported predominantly by a projected revenue of $39,362,738, with 

the majority of the remaining difference coming from transfers in from other funds. 

For the FY 2022-23, the City reports that operating expenditures are projected to be $3,431,720 

(10.4%)6 greater than the previous fiscal year.  The City’s total funding for general operations in 

FY 2022-23 is projected to be $919,609 (2.4%)7 greater than the total for FY 2021-22.  The City 

derives revenue from several sources.  The primary sources of revenue are generated by different 

types of taxes, with property taxes being the most significant followed by sales tax, municipal 

tax, franchise tax, transient occupancy tax, and other taxes.  Charges for service account for 

approximately one-third of the City’s total revenues.  These charges for services are derived 



 

Marin LAFCo  36 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

from sewer service fees, community recreation fees, and general government fees such as 

permits and planning fees.  Grants and contributions make up the other most significant portion 

of annual revenues.  Approximately one-third of the City’s operating expenses are incurred to 

provide police and fire protection services.  A variety of cultural and recreation services 

including operation of the City’s community center, recreation programs, golf course, and City 

library account for approximately one-fifth of all annual expenditures.  General government 

administration costs account for approximately 15% of all operating expenses and the remaining 

expenses are derived from public works, streets, sewer services, and other programs. 

The City has created and maintained the financial policies of an annual 15% Contingency 

Reserve and a 10% General Fund balance in an effort to create and maintain the necessary funds 

for any unforeseen expenses during the course of any fiscal year.  For FY 2022-23, the budget 

provides the City with a projected General Fund balance of $3,845,281 (10.5%), as well as a 

15% Contingency Reserve amounting to $5,478,207.  A table of governmental-type activities for 

the most recently available 5 audited fiscal years can be seen below in table 5-5 and a full 

General Fund summary of both revenues and expenditures for the past 2 years as well as 

budgetary projections for the current and following fiscal years can be seen below in figure 5-2. 

Table 5-5: City of Mill Valley Revenues and Expenses 

Revenues FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19 FY 2017-18 FY 2016-17 FY 2015-16 

Charges for 

Services 
$14,987,741 $17,838,000 $16,041,000 $14,480,000 $13,944,000 

Grants and 

Contributions 
$1,421,677 $1,685,000 $6,936,000 $8,435,000 $2,256,000 

Property Taxes $18,367,290 $17,591,000 $16,439,000 $15,701,000 $14,405,000 

Other Taxes $10,411,236 $10,410,000 $10,662,000 $9,257,000 $9,902,000 

Other $2,174,648 $338,000 $146,000 $94,000 $88,000 

Total $47,362,592 $47,862,000 $50,224,000 $47,967,000 $39,785,000 

Expenses FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19 FY 2017-18 FY 2016-17 FY 2015-16 

General 

Government 
$11,950,364 $6,184,000 $6,056,000 $5,335,000 $5,479,000 

Public Safety $15,729,443 $12,165,000 $11,422,000 $10,975,000 $10,474,000 

Sanitary Sewer $5,054,507 $5,760,000 $6,508,000 $7,223,000 $3,476,000 

Public Works $11,640,823 $13,662,000 $13,098,000 $10,463,000 $9,069,000 

Library $2,710,113 $3,367,000 $3,051,000 $2,846,000 $2,710,000 

Recreation/Cult

ure 
$4,944,086 $6,207,000 $5,937,000 $5,822,000 $4,835,000 

Parking $501,126 $566,000 $520,000 $361,000 $365,000 

Other $492,394 $568,000 $610,000 $634,000 $619,000 

Total $53,022,856 $48,479,000 $47,202,000 $43,649,000 $37,027,000 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  37 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 5-2:  City of Mill Valley Statement of General Fund 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  38 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

 

Debt 
The City generally incurs long-term debt to finance projects or purchase assets which will have 

useful lives equal to or greater than the related debt.  High debt levels can overburden a 

municipality, while low debt levels may indicate underutilized capital investment capacity.  The 

totality of the City’s long-term debt obligations (not including pension and OPEB obligations) 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, are $17,147,594.8  The Town’s current long-term debt 

obligations are as follows: 

 

• Local Agency Refunding Revenue Bonds (Public Library Project) –The City of Mill 

Valley Public Financing Authority, on January 20, 2016, issued $2,885,000 in local 

agency refunding revenue bonds with an interest rate of 2.75% to provide funds primarily 



 

Marin LAFCo  39 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

for the advance of refunding and purchasing the City of Mill Valley Community 

Facilities District 1996-1 Local Agency Revenue Bonds 2006 Series A.  The refunding 

revenue bonds are secured by a voter-approved special tax levy on dwelling units of no 

more than $64 per dwelling unit annually.  Under the arrangement, the 2006 bonds are 

considered to have been defeated and refunded, and the liability for the 2006 bonds has 

been removed from the financial statements.   

• Certificates of Participation 2011 Community Center Refinancing – The City in 2011 

entered into a site and project lease arrangement with the Mill Valley Facilities Financing 

Corporation to enable the Corporation to issue $4,115,000 of Certificates of Participation 

to provide funds for the refunding of the 1999 certificates issued to fund construction of 

the City’s new Community Center.  Interest on the certificates bear interest rates of 3.4% 

to 4.25%.   

• Certificates of Participation 2012 Sewer System – The City in 2012 entered into a site 

and project lease arrangement with the Mill Valley Facilities Financing Corporation to 

enable the Corporation to issue $5,620,000 of Certificates of Participation to provide 

funds to finance improvements to the City’s wastewater collection system.  The 

certificates consist of $885,000 in serial certificates and $4,735,000 in term certificates 

maturing at various dates.   

• Pension Obligation Bonds – On May 7, 2008, the City issued $6,775,000 of taxable 

Pension Obligation bonds, Series 2008 for the purpose of obtaining financing to refund 

and pay down the unfounded actuarial accrued liability to the State of California Public 

Employees Retirement System (PERS) applicable to the police and fire employee groups 

and the non-safety employee group.  The pension obligation bonds bear interest at the 

rate of 5.76% compared to the 7.75% rate of the unfounded actuarial accrued liability.  

The bonds are not an obligation for which the City is obligated to levy or pledge any 

form of taxation.  The City has agreed to pay the debt service on these bonds, but it has 

not pledged any specific source of revenue or funds for such repayments. 

• Direct Borrowings Financed Purchases – The City entered into purchase arrangements 

for the purchase of a parcel of land in an original amount of $652,500, fire engines for 

$576,015 (2012) and $427,239 (2017), construction of solar power facilities in an 

original amount of $843,537, and $237,569 for parking meters.  Under the arrangements, 

the City is obligated to appropriate in its annual budget sufficient amounts to provide for 

the debt payments.  The solar facilities arrangement is payable in annual installments 

with zero interest.  The land parcel lease bears interest at 4.6%. 

The City also provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the California Public 

Employees Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides retirement, disability, and death 

benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and final compensation.  As of June 30, 

2020, the City’s Net Pension Liability was $41,470,544.9  As of the most recent CalPERS 

actuarial Valuation on June 30, 2018, the City’s pension funded ratio was 70.8%.  In addition to 

the pension plan, the City provides other post-employment benefits (OPEB) to its retirees.  As of 

June 30, 2020, the Town carried a net OPEB liability of $22,934,294.  The City currently has 

178 employees, both active and inactive, in its OPEB plan. 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  40 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

5.9 SUSTAINABILITY 
 

In 2007, the Mill Valley  City Council adopted resolution number 44/07 which designated the 

City as a participant in the Cities for Climate Protection Campaign.  The campaign is highlighted 

by five milestones for participants to reduce their greenhouse gas and air pollution emissions 

within the community by way of the following: 

• Conduct a greenhouse gas emissions inventory and forecast to determine the source and 

quantity of greenhouse gas emissions in the jurisdiction; 

• Establish a greenhouse gas emissions reduction target; 

• Develop an action plan with both existing and future actions which when implemented 

will meet the local greenhouse gas reduction target; 

• Implement the action plan; 

• Monitor and report progress 

In accordance with these action items, in 2009, the City approved its 2005 Greenhous Gas 

Emissions Inventory and directed staff to complete a Climate Action Plan to reduce both 

government and community greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) over the course of the following 

ten years.  In 2014, the City Council adopted the City’s Climate Action Plan as well as a target of 

reducing the City’s GHG by 15% below the 2005 recorded levels by the year 2020.  As of 2020, 

the City had reduced its community GHG emissions by over 37,000 metric tons10 of CO2e 

(carbon dioxide equivalent) from an estimated 105,000 in 2005 to 67,779 in 2020.  The last 

government operations inventory of GHG emissions was completed in 2018 and showed that 

emissions from municipal operations had declined 15% from 2005 levels.  This was a total 

reduction of approximately 35%.  The City was presented with the Beacon Award by the 

Institute for Local Governments in 2018.  The award (at that time) had only been received by a 

total of 31 jurisdictions (approximately 6% of all California jurisdictions).  The award recognizes 

an agency’s achievements in community greenhouse gas reductions, agency greenhouse gas 

reductions, energy savings, and sustainability best practices.  Some of the steps taken by the City 

to achieve this goal include: 

• In 2017, the City began purchasing 100% renewable electricity (Deep Green) from Marin 

Clean Energy for all municipal facilities. 

• The City has converted nearly 80% of its streetlights to LED fixtures, which use 

approximately 50% less electricity of conventional lighting. 

• The City has adopted green building regulations that exceed State building code 

requirements. 

• In 2017, the City adopted an updated Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan that provides for a city-

wide network of bicycle and pedestrian facilities, including new and upgraded sidewalks, 

multi-use paths, and bicycle lanes and routes.  Mill Valley is also a silver-designated 

bicycle-friendly community. 

• The City partners with the organization Resilient Neighborhoods to provide outreach and 

education on ways residents can reduce their carbon footprint.  



 

Marin LAFCo  41 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

The City is currently in the process of updating its original Climate Action Plan with a target of 

the end of 2022 for the formal presentation of the plan and updated plan priorities to the City 

Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  42 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

6.0 CITY OF SAUSALITO 
 

6.1 OVERVIEW 
 

The City of Sausalito is Marin County’s southernmost municipality.  The City’s eastern border is 

flanked by the Richardson Bay, while the remainder of the City is landlocked by unincorporated 

lands.  To the south and to the west, the City’s boundary is contiguous with the Golden Gate 

National Recreation Area (GGNRA).  To the north of the City lies the census-designated place of 

Marin City.  Highway 101 runs throughout the western edge of of the City, connecting it to the 

rest of Marin County.  The jurisdictional boundary of the City of Sausalito is approximately 2.12 

square miles and, on the basis of the City’s current zoning standards, is predominantly built out1 

at this time with very few vacant parcels remaining that are zoned for development and many of 

those face significant physical constraints.  According to the United States Census Bureau2, the 

City had a population of 7,269 as of the 2020 U.S. Census. 

The City provides a range of municipal services including parks and recreation, street 

maintenance, community development, library, police, and sewage collection.  Other municipal 

services to the City are provided by various special districts. 

Table 6-1:  City of Sausalito Overview 

City of Sausalito Overview 

City Manager: Chris Zapata 

Main Office: 420 Litho Street, Sausalito 

Council Chambers: 420 Litho Street, Sausalito 

Formation Date: September 4, 1893 

Services Provided: Police, Street Maintenance, Parks and Recreation, Library, Sewer 

Collection 

City Boundary: 2.12 sq. mi city limit; 3.41 sq. mi SOI 

Population Served: 7,269 

 

6.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Originally inhabited by the Coast Miwoks, the City of Sausalito began taking shape in the late 

1830s as a place where ships could pick up fresh water near San Francisco. One of the area’s 

most popular locations was a stand of small willow trees where fresh water ran down to the bay.  

The original Spanish name for the area was Saucelito, pronounced sow-say-LEE-to, which was 

ultimately changed to Sausalito in 1887. In 1838, an Englishman by the name of William 

Richardson married the daughter of the Commander of the Mexican military garrison in San 

Francisco and was gifted a 19,571 acre land grant that spanned a large portion of current day 

southern and western Marin County.  Richardson constructed his primary estate in the area of 



 

Marin LAFCo  43 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Sausalito’s present-day Caledonia Street.  The bay that sits adjacent to the land, Richardson Bay, 

was named in his honor.  Richardson would ultimately lose the majority of his estate, and the 

bulk of the plot of land that included Sausalito was sold in 1868 to the Sausalito Land and Ferry 

Company.  The company laid out streets and subdivided lots and then purchased a small ferry, 

the Princess, to bring in prospective buyers from San Francisco.   

The community grew throughout the mid-1800’s into a small fishing, boat repair, and ranching 

center.  In the late 1800s the railroad construction reached Sausalito, linking the area to the 

northern portion of California.  With the railroad connecting to the north and the numerous ferry 

boats that sailed to San Francisco, Sausalito became a growing transportation hub and at the time 

was the second largest community in Marin County, with only San Rafael having a greater 

population.  The City of Sausalito was officially incorporated on September 4, 1893.   

With the completion of the Golden Gate Bridge in 1937, Sausalito’s train and ferry services were 

discontinued, with the final southbound passenger train arriving in 1941.  This was also the time 

that car ferry service came to an end. With the onset of World War II, a marshy area to the north 

of the city center of Sausalito was filled in with dredgings from the Richardson Bay in order to 

construct a major shipyard of the Bechtel Corporation called Marinship.  Thousands of laborers 

descended upon the area from across the country, in particular the deep south, to work in the 

shipyard producing merchant ships to carry supplies around the world.  The majority of the 

workers were housed in a nearby community, Marin City, that had been constructed to 

accommodate the influx.  The City’s population grew by over 36% between 1940 and 1950.  The 

Marinship yard operated 24/7 until September of 1945 and produced 93 Liberty Ships and 

tankers for the war effort.  In honor of the City’s contribution to the war effort, a Tacoma-class 

frigate was christened the USS Sausalito in 1943.  The USS Sausalito was not built in Sausalito, 

however, but at one of the shipyards in Richmond.   

 

After the war ended the shipyard was abandoned in short order and the Army Corps of Engineers 

was given control of the property which was sold off in portions.  By the late 1960s multiple 

houseboat communities had formed in the waterfront along Sausalito’s shore.  In the 1970s, what 

is commonly referred to as the “houseboat wars” broke out between houseboat owners and local 

authorities over the safety and legality of the houseboats.  Over time, legal houseboat marinas 

were created, and the houseboat community became an established part of the fabric of Sausalito.  

Three main houseboat communities remain in the area today. 

 

In 1965, the City of Sausalito sued the County of Marin and a private developer for the illegal 

zoning of 2,000 acres of land to build a city named Marincello adjacent to Sausalito.  Marincello 

was planned as a bedroom community for San Franciscans in the interior landscape of the Marin 

Headlands.  Originally, the community was designed to house over 150,000.  This vision was 

eventually scaled down through the planning process and settled on the creation of a 

municipality of 30,000.  Between the lawsuit and other financial issues for the developers, the 

land was ultimately sold to the Nature Conservancy in 1972 for the newly established Golden 

Gate National Recreation Area.  The only architectural evidence of the project, the planned 

community’s entry gates, were demolished in 1976.  Passenger ferries returned to the City in 

1970, and Sausalito quickly became a popular tourist destination for visitors to the greater Bay 

Area.   



 

Marin LAFCo  44 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

6.3 JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

 
The current jurisdictional boundary for the City of Sausalito is approximately 2.12 square miles 

(1,358 acres).  A majority of the City’s northern border is shared with the census-designated 

place (CDP) of Marin City as well as the Waldo Point area.  The eastern edge of the City extends 

beyond the shoreline and into the Richardson Bay. The western and southern regions of the 

City’s boundary are surround by the Golden Gate National Recreation Area.  

Originally established in 1984, the City’s current sphere of influence (SOI) is a fair amount 

larger than the jurisdictional boundary at approximately 3.41 square miles (2,186 acres).  The 

total area included in the sphere that is outside of the city limits encompasses the entirety of the 

Waldo Point area and extends north up Highway 101 to the Richardson Bay Bridge and also 

encompasses the floating homes between Waldo Point and the bridge.  The SOI extends east 

across the Richardson Bay to be contiguous with the western edge of the jurisdictional boundary 

of the City of Belvedere.  The original sphere of influence that was adopted for the City in 1984 

also included the unincorporated community of Marin City as well as the Fort Baker area of the 

GGNRA and the Manzanita/Heliport area, which created an overlap with the City of Mill 

Valley’s SOI.   In 2004, the sphere was amended by Marin LAFCo to remove Marin City, Fort 

Baker, and the Manzanita/Heliport area as it was deemed that annexation and/or extension of the 



 

Marin LAFCo  45 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

City’s services to those areas was improbable.  This sphere of influence was reaffirmed by the 

Commission in 2010.     

The City's current sphere of influence is contiguous to a census tract block group (Tract 1290, 

Block Group 1) that has been designated by Marin LAFCo as a disadvantaged unincorporated 

community (DUC) based on 2020 U.S. Census Bureau Redistricting Data.  A disadvantaged 

community is defined in Water Code Section 7905.5(a) as a community with an annual median 

household income of less than 80 percent of the statewide median household income.  The 

statutory definition of DUCs comes from Government Code Section 56033.5, which defines 

DUCs as “inhabited territory” that constitutes all or a portion of a disadvantaged community.  

“Inhabited territory” may be defined by Government Code Section 56046 as having at least 12 

registered voters, or it can be determined by “commission policy”. 

 

6.4 POPULATION AND GROWTH 
 

The City of Sausalito saw its greatest population boom between 1940 and 1950 when the total 

population of the City grew from 3,540 to 4,828. The City continued to see steady growth until 

roughly 1980 when it reached its peak population of 7,338.  Since then, population has seen a 

slight decline with the 2020 U.S. Census showing the City to have a population of 7,269.  This 

number, however, is an increase of 2.9% from the 2010 Census number of 7,061. The City is 

essentially built3 out at this time, with few remaining vacant lots zoned for development, and 

those that are face significant topographical development difficulties.  The City is shown to have 

4,425 housing units, with 433 of those units being vacant.  The maximum development allowed 

by the current General Plan policies would give the City 5,134 dwelling units.  A map of the 

zoning for the City can be seen below in Figure 6-1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  46 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 6-1:  City of Sausalito Zoning Map 

 

6.5 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 
Governance 
The City of Sausalito operates under a council-manager form of government, in which legislative 

and policy functions are vested in the City Council while the City Manager conducts the day-to-

day city business.  The City Council for Sausalito is comprised of 5 members.  The positions of 

Mayor and Vice-Mayor are selected annually by way of nominations and voting by the Council 

members.  Members are elected to staggered four-year terms during even-numbered years with 

three council members elected in one cycle and two in the following cycle. 

 

City Council duties include establishing legislation and policies governing the City; adopting all 

ordinances, resolutions, and major contracts; approving and modifying annual budgets; making 

appointments to advisory boards, commissions, and committees; and appointing the City 

Manager.  City Council meetings are regularly held on the first and third Tuesday of each month 

at 7:00 p.m. at the City Council Chambers at 420 Litho Street in Sausalito, though meetings are 

currently being held via a virtual meeting setting. 
 
 



 

Marin LAFCo  47 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Table 6-2:  City of Sausalito City Council 

Member Position Term End 

Janelle Kellman Member 2024 

Melissa Blaustein Mayor 2024 

Jill Hoffman Member 2026 

Ian Sobieski Vice-Mayor 2026 

Joan Cox Member 2026 

 

Administration 
The City Manager is appointed by the City Council and is responsible for City operations 

management and policy implementation on behalf of the City Council.  The City Manager is an 

at-will employee and administers the City of Sausalito’s departments through the support of 

multiple department heads such as (but not limited to) the City Librarian/Director of 

Communications, Director of Planning and Building, Finance Director, Community and 

Economic Development Director, Director of Public Works, and Police Chief.  The City 

Manager is also charged with appointing a City Attorney who is retained on a contract basis. 

6.6 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
When conducting service reviews and reviewing proposals, LAFCo considers an agency’s 

accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure, operational 

efficiencies, financial resources, and promoting public access.  The City offers multiple ways to 

keep the public informed about services, meetings, finances, and decision-making processes.  

The City Council’s meeting agendas are posted on the City website at least 72 hours prior to 

each scheduled meeting.    Past meeting agendas and meeting minutes can be found in the City’s 

“Archive” page on its website that is linked from the City Council page.  The public may also 

provide verbal comments or concerns by phone or in person at City Hall during business hours 

and/or at City Council meetings during the public comment period.  Given the current issues 

with public gatherings due to COVID-19, the City offers its residents the ability to attend all 

public meetings remotely and offers recordings of its meetings on the City’s website as soon as 

possible after the meeting.  All City Council meetings are broadcast on Marin TV which is 

available with both Comcast (Channel 27) and AT&T (Channel 99) cable subscriptions.   

The City offers a variety of digital newsletters that residents can sign up to automatically receive 

ranging from broader citywide news, to departmental specific updates.  Within the Finance 

Department’s section of the website, the City also offers a unique transparency tool that displays 

multiple areas of the City’s finances with easily digestible images and graphics.  At this time, all 

legal requirements for public agency transparency are being met or exceeded. 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  48 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

6.7 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
 

The City of Sausalito provides its residents with the municipal services of police, parks and 

recreation, public works, community development, sewage collection, and library.  The City also 

partners with outside agencies for the provision of certain municipal services including 

municipal water, wastewater treatment and disposal, fire and emergency medical, and garbage 

collection.  A description of these services is provided below. 

Law Enforcement 
The City of Sausalito provides law enforcement services to all areas within the jurisdictional 

boundary.  The Sausalito Police Department headquarters is located at 29 Caledonia Street in 

Sausalito, directly adjacent to the Southern Marin Fire Protection District Fire Station #1.  The 

projected expenditures for police services in FY 2022-23 are $6,749,208 which accounts for 

31.1% of the City’s budgeted operating expenditures for the year.  This appropriation is a 

decrease of $585,277 (8%) from the previous fiscal year.  The City Council has maintained the 

prior approval of the freezing of 2 Police Officer positions in an effort to minimize expenditures 

across all City departments to slow the depletion of General Fund reserves. 

The Police Department employs a total of 18 FTE (full-time equivalent) employees with 13 

sworn officers and five professional staff.  The City’s annual crime statistics as well as the 

Department’s calls for service for the past five years can be seen below in Table 6-2. 

Table 6-3:  City of Sausalito Crime Statistics 

Category 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

Calls for 

Service 

11,797 11,750 12,739 14,084 14,419 

False Alarm  423 432 621 590 677 

Extra Patrol 449 845 635 928 1,380 

Assault 

Battery 

25 11 9 23 23 

Domestic 

Violence 

11 12 7 9 12 

Residential 

Burglary 

21 14 9 8 21 

Burglary, 

Other 

122 58 122 68 74 

Theft 

(Grand and 

Petty) 

132 142 100 108 104 

Auto Theft 24 25 18 10 19 

DUI 10 20 34 19 19 

Arrests 151 17 198 301 241 



 

Marin LAFCo  49 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Traffic 

Accidents 

40 62 70 79 80 

Moving 

Violations 

40 146 399 633 354 

Parking 

Violation 

8,790 8,188 15,145 12,917 13,265 

 

Fire and Emergency Response 
The City of Sausalito’s fire and emergency medical response services are provided by the 

Southern Marin Fire Protection District.  In 2004, the City formed a Joint Powers Agreement 

(JPA) with the District in order to share personnel.  This agreement, over time, ultimately 

evolved into the District annexing the City of Sausalito in June of 2012.  The Southern Marin 

Fire Protection District receives a full review in Section 3 of this document.   

Parks & Recreation 
The City of Sausalito offers its residents a broad scope of recreation programming and facilities 

despite operating with very lean staffing levels.  As was the case for a number of municipalities 

around the state, the Covid-19 pandemic had significant impacts on both the City’s and the 

Recreation Department’s finances.  As many recreation departments are dependent upon 

program offerings to generate a good apportionment of their annual revenue streams, the 

inability to do so during Covid-19 restrictions forced many departments to reassess their program 

offerings and staffing levels.  As part of the effort to slow the depletion of General Fund reserves 

in FY 2021-22, the Sausalito City Council approved the reorganization of the Parks and 

Recreation Department by phasing out the Parks and Recreation Director position and 

downsizing the Recreation Superintendent position to a Recreation Coordinator, offering the City 

a sizable savings in the Department’s staffing expenditures.4  The Department utilizes the 

services of a number of independent contractors in order to provide the community with high 

quality recreation programming while still maintaining lean staffing levels.  

Some of the programming and services that the Parks and Recreation Department offers includes 

(but not limited to): 

• Tai Chi 

• Pickleball Clinics 

• Tennis Lessons 

• Line Dancing 

• After School Enrichment Classes 

• Youth Day Camps 

• Taekwondo 

• Bocce Ball League 

• Edgewater Seniors Club 



 

Marin LAFCo  50 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

The City of Sausalito also offers a number of parks within its jurisdictional boundary as well as 

sport courts and indoor facility space, many of which are available for rental.  The City’s parks 

include the following: 

• Cloud View Park 

• CazneauPark 

• Dunphy Park 

• Gabrielson Park 

• Lagendorf Playground 

• Marinship Park 

• Mary Ann Sears Park 

• MLK Park 

• Remington Dog Park 

• Robin Sweeny Park 

• Southview Park 

• Tiffany Park 

• Yee Tock Chee Park 

Library 
The City of Sausalito provides its residents with comprehensive library services.  The City’s 

library, located at 420 Litho Street in Sausalito, was originally Formed in 1906 on the second 

floor of the Sausalito Land and Ferry Company building on Brigeway.  In 1974, the Library was 

moved to its current location at 420 Litho Street.  Since that time, the Library has undergone two 

remodels with one in 1979 and most recently in 2013.  The Sausalito Public Library offers 

programming for all ages, from early childhood programming such as Story Time In The Park, to 

it’s Read To A Dog program in partnership with the Marin Humane Society to help aid reading 

and literacy, as well as a Banned Books Club literature program for middle school and high 

school students.   

 

The Sausalito Library is a member of MARINet, a Joint Powers Authority established in June of 

1991.  The JPA is governed by a board of directors consisting of the nine member libraries:  

Belvedere-Tiburon Library, Larkspur Public Library, Marin County Free Library, Mill Valley 

Public Library, San Anselmo Public Library, San Rafael Public Library, Sausalito Public 

Library, College of Marin Library, and Dominican University Library.  The consortium share 

access to each of the members’ catalogs and an automation system. 

 

The adopted operating expenditure budget for the Sausalito Public Library for FY 2022-23 is 

$1,203,596, an increase of $343,082 (39%) from FY 2021-22. 

 

Water 
The water services to the City of Sausalito are provided by the Marin Municipal Water District 

(MMWD), an independent special district, which is a separate local agency from the City.  The 



 

Marin LAFCo  51 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

District’s services are reviewed separately in Marin LAFCo’s Countywide Water Service Study 

(2016).  This study can be viewed at marinlafco.org.   

 

MMWD’s jurisdictional boundary spans 148 square miles.  61% of this area is unincorporated 

and the additional 39% lies in 10 cities/towns, including the entirety of Sausalito and its 

surrounding unincorporated areas.  MMWD is currently authorized to provide three specific 

services within its jurisdictional boundary: (1) domestic water; (2) non-potable water; (3) and 

recreation.  The district’s governing board is comprised of five members who are elected by 

electoral divisions to staggered 4-year terms.  The City of Sausalito is represented by electoral 

Division 4.  Jed Smith is the elected official holding the seat for Division 4.  MMWD currently 

meets on the first and third Tuesday of each month at 7:30 p.m. at the District’s Administrative 

Office at 220 Nellan Avenue in Corte Madera. 

 

 

Wastewater 
The City of Sausalito provides the wastewater collection system within the City’s jurisdictional 

boundary which leads to the treatment plant of the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District 

(SMCSD).  The City has maintained the same original agreement for these services that it has 

had with SMCSD since 1953.  The City’s collection system is made up of approximately 21 

miles of sewer pipes as well as four pump stations that the City contracts with SMCSD to 

provide operation, maintenance, and rehabilitation.  The entirety of the City’s jurisdictional 

boundary lies within the jurisdictional boundary of SMCSD.  The sewer service operations are 

housed within the City’s Public Works Department under the Sewer Maintenance Division.   

 

In 2019, the City enlisted the services of the consulting firm NBS to perform a sewer rate study.  

The study was completed in April of 2019 and presented to the Sausalito City Council for 

review.  After the completion of the Proposition 218 process, the City Council adopted the 

proposed rate adjustments on June 18, 2019.  The previously adopted rates were adopted in 2014.  

The updated sewer service rates can be seen below in Table 6-4.   

 

In 2019, the Board of Directors for SMCSD and the City Council authorized the City to seek 

proposals for a joint study on consolidation from qualified consultants and that they would share 

the cost of a Phase 1 Consolidation Feasibility Study.  On January 28, 2020, the contract for the 

study was awarded by the Sausalito City Council to Causey Consulting.  In June of 2020, the 

completed Phase 1 Feasibility Study exploring the possibility of consolidating the City’s 

collection services and infrastructure to the District was presented to both agencies.  The study 

ultimately recommended two options for the agencies:  formal consolidation or, as an alternative, 

an updating of the current service agreement with a potential expansion of the current scope of 

services.  Phase 2 of the feasibility study, the Operational Plan, has also been completed.  Most 

recently on October 11th, a committee of both City and District staff (as well as the study’s 

consultant) presented at the Sausalito City Council Meeting and informed the Council that after 

the recent televising and review of the City’s collection system, it appears that the City’s 

collection system is in need of approximately $18 million in repairs.  With the City’s current 

revenue of $1.7 million annually, improvements can be accomplished over a 14-year period (not 

file:///C:/Users/jeren/OneDrive/Desktop/Twin%20Cities%20Docs/Corte%20Madera/marinlafco.org


 

Marin LAFCo  52 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

including possible inflation costs).  A consensus from both agencies after the report was that the 

District and the City will continue to move the consolidation effort forward and next steps will 

include seeking legal assistance to develop the procedure for consolidation, including 

consultation with Marin LAFCo staff.  A joint committee of members from the City and the 

District is continuing to meet to consider the recommendations, with the hope that a final 

decision will be reached in the near future. 

. 
Table 6-4:  City of Sausalito Sewer Service Rate Schedule 

Land Use of 

Premises 

FY 2019-

20 

FY 2020-

21 

FY 2021-

22 

FY 2022-

23 

FY 2023-

24 

Residential Customers (Fixed and Volumetric) 

Single Family  $624.24 $649.21 $675.18 $702.19 $730.27 

Single-Family 

Attached 

$339.22 $352.79 $366.91 $381.58 $396.84 

Duplexes $339.26 $352.83 $366.95 $381.62 $396.89 

Multi-Family $300.41 $312.43 $324.93 $337.93 $351.44 

Residential 

Volumetric 

Charge 

$1.09 $1.13 $1.18 $1.22 $1.27 

Commercial/Industrial Customers (Fixed and Volumetric) 

Fixed Charge $561.67 $584.14 $607.51 $631.81 $657.08 

Volumetric 

Charge 

$1.09 $1.13 $1.18 $1.22 $1.27 

 

 

Public Works 
The City of Sausalito’s Public Works Department fulfills its municipal service responsibilities 

through the maintenance and operation of the public facilities and public rights of way 

throughout the City’s boundary.  In addition to the standard operations and maintenance of 

things such as parks maintenance, streets, storm drains, street lights, traffic signals, and public 

buildings that a municipality’s public works department would typically oversee, the City of 

Sausalito’s Public Works Department also manages the City’s wastewater collection system by 

performing minor repairs, locating mains and laterals for utility requests, clearing and preventing 

stoppages within the lines, and responding to emergency sanitary sewer overflows.   

The Public Works Department oversees the formation and implementation of the City’s Capital 

Improvement Program (CIP).  The program is a five-year planning tool that identifies anticipated 

capital improvements as well as their funding sources and is re-evaluated on an annual basis 

towards the end of each fiscal year.  The Department works to identify both priority projects that 

they deem to be infrastructure issues that warrant immediate attention as well as secondary 

projects that are tackled when the resources become available.  For FY 2022-23 the Sausalito 

City Council approved an amount of $4.4 million5 to be allocated to capital improvements. The 

operating expenditure budget for the City’s Public Works Department (combined Engineering, 

Maintenance, and Landscaping) for FY 2022-23 is $3,660,830.   



 

Marin LAFCo  53 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

6.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 
The City of Sausalito prepares an annual report on the City’s financial statements in accordance 

with established governmental accounting standards.  The most recent audited financial 

statement was prepared by the independent certified accounting firm, Maze & Associates, which 

issued an unqualified, or “clean”, opinion on the City’s financial statements for the fiscal year 

ending in June 30, 2021.   

 

Previously working under a biennial budget process, the City Council moved to a one year 

budget adoption in FY 2020-21 due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The City annually adopts an 

operating budget which is adopted no later than the end of the active fiscal year and is effective 

July 1st through June 30th.  The budget reflects estimated revenues and expenditures.   

 

Appropriations and spending authorizations are approved by the City Council.  The City Council 

may amend the budget by resolution during the fiscal year in order to respond to emerging needs, 

changes, or shifting priorities.  Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the fund level, 

which is the legal level of control.  The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts 

of operational expenditure categories within funds as deemed necessary in order to meet the 

City’s operational needs.  City Council approval is required for all inter-fund transfers, fund 

reserve to appropriations transfers, new revenue sources with offsetting appropriations, and for 

transfers to/from the capital expenditure category. 

 

Revenues and Expenditures 
The FY 2022-23 Citywide expenditure budget for the City of Sausalito is $35,650,620.  The 

expenditure budget is supported predominantly by a projected revenue of $34,423,886. For the 

FY 2022-23, the City projects that citywide expenditures will be $5,007,929 (12.3%)6 less than 

the adopted amount in the previous fiscal year.  The City’s total citywide revenues in FY 2022-

23 is projected to be $3,693,729 (10.2%)7 lower than the total for FY 2021-22.  The City derives 

revenue from several sources.  The primary sources of revenue are generated by different types 

of taxes, with property taxes being the most significant percentage at approximately 35% of 

General Fund revenues.  What makes Sausalito so financially unique in comparison to the other 

municipalities in Marin County is its reliance on sales tax and transient occupancy tax (TOT) to 

make up a large apportionment of its annual General Fund revenues with sales tax annually 

providing approximately 20% of the City’s total revenues and TOT making up approximately 

11%.  These two areas were appreciably impacted over the past couple of fiscal years due to 

Covid-19 restrictions.  

In FY 2020-21, these impacts posed a considerable challenge within the City’s budget, creating 

an identified $4.5 million gap in revenues and expenditures for FY 2021-22.  Staff presented a 

plan to the City Council which in turn adopted a budget for FY 2020-21 that was balanced by 

using $1.7 million in Federal American Recovery Act Funds, $1.2 million from Measure O (the 

City’s voter approved 0.5% sales tax levy), $1 million dollars from the City’s Parking Fund, and 

$930,000 from the General Fund Reserve.  In addition to these one-time revenue adjustments, 

the City identified and enacted areas for cost reductions such as downsizing the City Manager 



 

Marin LAFCo  54 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Office by eliminating the Assistant City Manager position, lowering the City Manager 

compensation package, freezing two vacant Police Officer positions, and phasing out the Parks 

and Recreation Director position and downsizing the Recreation Superintendent position to 

Recreation Coordinator.  This budget allowed the City to maintain their current service levels as 

well as avoiding layoffs.  In October of 2021, staff presented to the City Council projecting 

additional budget deficits in coming years as well as considerable basic infrastructure needs.  In 

an effort to bolster revenues, the Council approved the hiring of grant writing resources as well 

as the hiring of a property manager.   

In preparation for FY 2022-23, the City Manager presented to Council the significant factors that 

would continue to impact the City’s budget in the coming fiscal year such as rising pension costs 

and increasing debt service costs for Police, fire stations, and major park improvements.  

Through the best efforts of staff and the Council, the adopted budget gap of revenues to 

expenditures was closed from $4 million to $2.6 million.  This gap will be filled by funds from 

the city’s unassigned General Fund Reserve in lieu of service and staff cuts.  This amount leaves 

the City’s undesignated general fund balance at approximately $2.5 million.  Combined with the 

current funds in the Budget Stabilization fund and the Shortfall fund, the City has approximately 

$5.8 million, or 26% of the General Fund operating expenditures, which exceeds the 

recommended two-month operating threshold.  In addition to the previously mentioned measures 

taken by the Council to generate additional revenue, approval was also given to go forward with 

a ballot measure to renew and replace Measure O sales tax.  Measure L was put before the voters 

in November of 2022 and was approved.  The measure extends the pre-existing tax measure for 

ten years and raises it from 0.5% to 1%, generating a projected $2.8 million annually.   

A table of General Fund revenues and expenditures for the most recently available five audited 

fiscal years can be seen below in Table 6-4. 

Table 6-5:  City of Sausalito General Fund Revenues and Expenditures 

Revenues FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19 FY 2017-18 FY 2016-17 

Property Tax $6,310,385 $5,977,754 $5,704,360 $5,295,149 $5,060,976 

Sales Tax $4,071,720 $3,845,633 $3,607,786 $3,600,023 $3,480,087 

Other Tax $1,650,159 $2,084,090 $2,699,645 $2,378,416 $2,432,321 

Licenses and 

Permits 
$1,443,537 $1,763,872 $631,060 $641,887 $564,123 

Fines and 

Forfeitures 
$344,804 $504,712 $676,406 $558,573 $532,679 

Use of Money 

and Property 
$655,332 $616,242 $522,884 $392,971 $385,217 

Intergovernmen

tal 
$86,521 $11,738 $12,823 $12,923 $12,823 

Charges for 

Services 
$1,386,263 $1,256,004 $1,757,075 $1,630,106 $1,481,313 

Other Revenue $635,145 $150,243 $1,092,407 $216,536 $112,081 

Total $16,583,866 $16,210,288 $16,704,446 $14,726,584 $14,061,620 



 

Marin LAFCo  55 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Expenses FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19 FY 2017-18 FY 2016-17 

General 

Government 
$6,418,953 $5,019,891 $4,021,872 $3,864,252 $3,487,116 

Library $684,278 $859,080 $913,151 $888,923 $880,082 

Police $6,178,011 $5,672,031 $5,242,137 $5,225,737 $4,773,520 

Community 

Development 
$1,568,392 $1,685,301 $1,923,504 $1,643,279 $1,576,144 

Public Works $1,912,411 $1,976,807 $1,967,910 $1,764,648 $1,797,401 

Parks and 

Recreation 
$1,377,580 $1,497,017 $824,193 $779,468 $715,871 

Capital Outlay $58,000 $0 $58,000 $58,000 $0 

Total $18,197625 $16,710,127 $14,950,767 $14,224,307 $13,230,134 

 

 

 

Debt 
The City generally incurs long-term debt to finance projects or purchase assets which will have 

useful lives equal to or greater than the related debt.  High debt levels can overburden a 

municipality, while low debt levels may indicate underutilized capital investment capacity.  The 

totality of the City’s long-term debt obligations (not including pension and OPEB obligations) 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, are $32,300,609.8  The City’s current long-term debt 

obligations are as follows: 

 

• Southern Marin Fire Protection District Annexation Agreement – In September 

2011, the City entered into an annexation agreement with the Southern Marin Fire 

Protection District (SMFPD).  The City agreed to pay SMFPD $58,000 annually for 30 

years, a total of $1,740,000 which represented the retiree medical costs of the nine 

firefighters who worked for the City prior to annexation.  The first payment was made in 

2013 and the final payment is due in FY 2042. 

• Department of Boating and Waterways – Between April 1995 and March 1996, the 

City borrowed $1.2 million from the California Department of Boating and Waterways to 

finance certain improvements.  The loan bears interest at 4.5%.  The payments on the 

loan are in annual installments of $72,156 with the final payment scheduled for August 1, 

2025.   

• Building Acquisition Lease – On October 1, 2020, the City entered into a lease 

agreement with the Sausalito Financing Authority in the amount of $1,858,000 to finance 

the acquisition of a former Bank of America building located at 750 Bridgeway.  This 

lease agreement was assigned to Zions Bancorporation.  The lease bears interest at a rate 

of 2.79%.  Payments are due semi-annually with the final payment scheduled for 2035. 

• General Obligation Bond 2006 Series A – On November 16, 2006, the City issued 

General Obligation Bonds Series A in the amount of $8,205,000.  The bond proceeds 

from this series and the bond proceeds from Series B (listed below) are being used to 

General Obligation Bond 2006 Series A � On November 16, 2006, the City issued General Obligation Bonds Series A in the amount of $8,205,000. 
The bond proceeds from this series and the bond proceeds from Series B (listed below) are being used to   


finance the demolition 
and replacement of a police building and fire station. Interest payments are due each February 1 and August 1, and principal payments 
are due each August 1 with the final payment scheduled for August 1, 2026.



 

Marin LAFCo  56 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

finance the demolition and replacement of a police building and fire station.  Interest 

payments are due each February 1 and August 1, and principal payments are due each 

August 1 with the final payment scheduled for August 1, 2026. 

• General Obligation Bond 2006 Series B (Capital Appreciation Bonds) – On 

November 16, 2006, the City issued General Obligation Bonds Series B in the amount of 

$7,293,894.  Repayments of the accreted principal will commence August 1, 2026, with 

the final repayment scheduled for August 1, 2041. 

• 2015 Sewer Revenue Bonds – In January 2015, the City, via the Sausalito Financing 

Authority, issued the 2015 Sewer Revenue Bonds in the amount of $6,750,000. The 

proceeds are being used to finance the acquisition and construction of sewer 

improvements and facilities, fund a reserve fund for the bonds, and pay issuance costs.  

The Bonds are payable from the net revenues of the City’s Sewer Enterprise fund.  The 

final payment is scheduled for August 1, 2044. 

• California State Water Resources Control Board Project Finance Agreement – On 

September 28, 2011, the City entered into a project finance agreement with the State 

Water Resources Control Board in the amount of $1,036,480 to replace existing sewer 

pipe and build a new grease interceptor. 

• 2016 Certificates of Participation – In January 2016, the City, via the Sausalito 

Financing Authority, issued the 2016 Certificates of Participation in the amount of 

$6,940,000.  The bond proceeds are being used to finance capital improvements to the 

City’s MLK Campus and Robin Sweeny, Southview, and Dunphy Parks.  Payments are 

made on May 1 and November 1 annually with the final payment scheduled for May 1, 

2030. 

The City also provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the California Public 

Employees Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides retirement, disability, and death 

benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and final compensation.  As of June 30, 

2021, the City’s Net Pension Liability was $31,924,136.9  As of the most recent CalPERS 

actuarial valuation the City’s pension funded ratio was approximately 78%10.  In addition to the 

pension plan, the City provides other post-employment benefits (OPEB) to its retirees.  As of 

June 30, 2021, the Town carried a net OPEB liability of $4,372,838.  The City currently has 145 

employees, both active and inactive, in its OPEB plan. 

 

6.9 SUSTAINABILITY 
 

February 26, 2008, the Sausalito City Council adopted resolution number 4935 which designated 

the City as a participant in the Cities for Climate Protection Campaign.  The campaign is 

highlighted by five milestones for participants to reduce their greenhouse gas and air pollution 

emissions within the community by way of the following: 

• Conduct a greenhouse gas emissions inventory and forecast to determine the source and 

quantity of greenhouse gas emissions in the jurisdiction; 

• Establish a greenhouse gas emissions reduction target; 



 

Marin LAFCo  57 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Develop an action plan with both existing and future actions which when implemented 

will meet the local greenhouse gas reduction target; 

• Implement the action plan; 

• Monitor and report progress 

In accordance with these action items, on June 7, 2011, the City approved its 2005 Greenhous 

Gas Emissions Inventory and directed staff to complete a Climate Action Plan to reduce both 

government and community greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) over the course of the following 

ten years.  On June 16, 2015, the City Council accepted and adopted the City’s Climate Action 

Plan as well as a target of reducing the City’s GHG by 25% below the 2005 recorded levels by 

the year 2020.  As of 2019, the City had reduced its community GHG emissions by over 16,800 

metric tons11 of CO2e (carbon dioxide equivalent) from an estimated 73,763 in 2005 to 56,909 in 

2019.  

The City formed a Sustainability Commission to advise the City Council issues and impacts 

related to the current climate emergency and assist in the implementation of the City’s Climate 

Action Plan and Low Emissions Action Plan.  The Low Emissions Action Plan was authored by 

the seven-member commission in April of 2019 and provides recommendations to aid in the City 

meeting or exceeding the statewide goal of reducing emissions by 40% below the 2005 baseline 

by 2030.  The Low Emissions Action Plan as well as the Climate Action plan were both 

incorporated in the City’s updated General Plan within the Sustainability – Climate Change 

Mitigation and Resiliency Element.   

On February 8, 2022, the City adopted a Climate Emergency Resolution, which established 

climate change as a high priority for the City Council.  It directs the City Manager to pursue 

grant funding and resourcing to implement the City’s goals.  On August 30th, the City Council 

unanimously approved a new ordinance banning gas-powered lawn mowers, hedge trimmers, 

weed trimmers, and weed whackers which goes into effect January 31, 2023.  The City will also 

ban gas-powered chainsaws and pole-mounted trimmers effective December 31, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  58 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

7.0 SOUTHERN MARIN FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

7.1 OVERVIEW 
 

The Southern Marin Fire Protection District (SMFPD) was established on April 8, 1999,1 as an 

independent special district by way of the consolidation of the Alto-Richardson Fire Protection 

District and the Tamalpais Fire Protection District.  The SMFPD boundary surrounds just over 

5.9 square miles of the southern portion of Marin County’s Highway 101 corridor. The District 

maintains contracts for service with the National Park Service (NPS) that expand the District’s 

full area of service to 20.5 square miles. The district serves a population of approximately 

25,0002 persons.  The last Municipal Service Review that included the SMFPD was conducted in 

April of 2004 as part of the Southern Marin Service Review and Sphere of Influence Update.     

The primary function of SMFPD is to provide structural fire protection, emergency medical 

response, water rescue, and disaster planning and response to the census-designated places 

(CDP) of Strawberry and Tamalpais-Homestead Valley, as well as the City of Sausalito and the 

northwestern area of the Town of Tiburon, with the City of Mill Valley recently approved for 

annexation to the District with the District taking operational control of the City’s Fire 

Department services in July of 2023.  The District also provides services to the Marin Headlands 

and the Fort Baker areas of the Golden Gate National Recreation Area by way of a contract with 

the National Park Service.  The SMFPD participates in the Marin County and California Mutual 

Aid System with nearby fire districts and responds to wildland fires as needed.  The District is 

also a member agency of the Southern Marin Emergency Medical Paramedic System (SMEMPS) 

as well as the Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority (MWPA).  SMEMPS has a board of directors 

that is comprised of representatives from the City of Mill Valley, Town of Tiburon, Southern 

Marin Fire Protection District, City of Sausalito, and the County of Marin.  The City of 

Belvedere is also a non-voting member.  Meanwhile, MWPA’s 17 member agencies throughout 

Marin County receive funding for fuel removal projects, defensible space evaluations, and other 

helpful resources by way of a voter-approved parcel tax that was passed in March of 2020.     

 

Table 7-1:  Southern Marin Fire Protection District Overview 

Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Primary Contact: Chief Chris Tubbs Phone: (415)-388-8182 

Headquarters: 28 Liberty Ship Way, Suite 2800, Sausalito, CA  

Formation Date: April 8, 1999 

Services Provided: Fire Protection and Emergency Medical/Rescue 

Service Area: 3,830 acres Population Served: ≈25,000 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  59 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

7.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Southern Marin Fire Protection District was established as an independent Special District 

whose legal authority and responsibilities are contained in the State of California Health and 

Safety Code Sections 13800-13970. While the official formation of the Southern Marin Fire 

Protection District took place on April 8, 1999, the two departments that were consolidated in 

order to form the District, the Alto-Richardson Bay Fire Protection District and the Tamalpais 

Fire Protection District (with the Tamalpais Fire Protection District also having been the product 

of a previous consolidation with the Homestead Fire Protection District), were spawned back in 

the early 1940s.  In 1942 the Alto Fire Department was set up by three local residents, Mabel 

Berger, Joe Reis, and Clinton Thoney (the former Fire Chief to the City of Mill Valley), who had 

recently received civil defense service training.  The training was a five-week course instructing 

members of the public on how to battle fires and administer first aid.  The training was provided 

by Marin County Fire Chief Lloyd De La Montanya.  With no formal fire fighting equipment, 

the founders of the Alto Fire Department would carry fire hoses, hand tools, and any other piece 

of equipment that could be used to control a small fire in the trunks of their cars.  In September 

of 1946, volunteers began construction on the first fire station for the department, located on 

Shell Road.  The building was 700 square feet which was just large enough to house the old fire 

truck that had been purchased from the Muir Woods Improvement Club. 

In 2004, the District formed a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) with the City of Sausalito in order 

to share personnel.  This agreement, over time, ultimately evolved into the District annexing the 

City of Sausalito Fire Department in June of 2012.  In October of 2010, the District entered into 

a service agreement with the National Park Service to provide service to the Marin Headlands 

and Fort Baker areas of the Golden Gate National Recreation Area. 

In the early part of 2015, the District entered into an operational cost-sharing agreement with the 

City of Mill Valley Fire Department in order to reduce administrative redundancies, reduce 

command redundancy, and create a single shared Training Division.  In 2020 this agreement 

grew into a greater shared services agreement that combined the administrative and prevention 

components of both agencies to form a single management with the SMFPD Fire Chief serving 

as the Chief for both agencies.  Most recently the District and the City of Mill Valley have 

submitted a formal application to Marin LAFCo for the District to annex the City and take over 

fire and emergency response services beginning in July of 2023.  The application was approved 

at Marin LAFCo’s regular meeting on December 8, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  60 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

 

7.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

Southern Marin Fire Protection District’s service boundary, which currently encompasses just 

under six square miles, includes all of the census-designated places (CDP) of Strawberry and 

Tamalpais-Homestead Valley, as well as the City of Sausalito and the northwestern area of the 

Town of Tiburon. A large apportionment of SMFPD’s boundary is contiguous with the City of 

Mill Valley’s southern boundary. The District’s sphere of influence is coterminous with its 

jurisdictional boundary.  The sphere of influence was last updated on November 10, 20113. 

7.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
 

The Southern Marin Fire Protection District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses the entirety 

of the jurisdictional boundary of the City of Sausalito and will soon include the City of Mill 

Valley. The District encompasses unincorporated spaces as well, such as the census-designated 



 

Marin LAFCo  61 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

places (CDP) of Tamalpais-Homestead Valley and Strawberry.  The District also includes the 

area on the northwestern end of the Town of Tiburon.  According to 2020 U.S. Census 

Redistricting Data, the population of the Tamalpais-Homestead CDP is 11,492, which is 

approximately a 7% increase from the 2010 population number of 10,7354. The most recent 

census data shows the CDP to have 4,678 total housing units, with 218 of those units vacant. The 

remaining development potential in the planning area is minimal as current zoning regulations 

designated by the Community Plan make the area essentially built out.  According to 2020 U.S. 

Census Redistricting Data, the population of the City of Sausalito is 7,269, which is 

approximately a 2.9% increase from the 2010 population number of 7,061.  The City is shown to 

have 4,425 housing units, with 433 of those units being vacant.  The maximum development 

allowed by the current General Plan policies would give the City 5,134 dwelling units.  The City 

of Mill Valley’s official count from the 2020 Census put the City’s population at 14,231. The 

City is essentially built5 out at this time, with few remaining vacant lots zoned for development 

that have not already been given a prospective project designation.  The total population of the 

CDP of Strawberry as of the 2020 Census was 5,447, which was an increase from 5,393 in 2010.  

While there is still some room for development in the northern pocket of the CDP, the majority 

of the CDP is essentially built out and shows little growth potential.   

 

7.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

 

Fire Protection and Emergency Response 
The SMFPD provides fire protection, emergency medical response, water rescue, and disaster 

planning and response services. Incident call types fielded by the agency include 

rescue/emergency medical response, fire/explosion, service calls, good intention calls, natural 

disasters, false alarm, and hazardous conditions (no fire).  Over the past 10 years, the District has 

averaged 3,777 calls for service annually.  The majority of those calls (approximately 60% 

annually) are for rescue/emergency medical response.  On average, the District receives 2,302 

rescue/emergency medical calls each year.  A breakdown of the District’s calls for service 

between FY 2011/12 and 2020/21 can be seen below in Figure 7-1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  62 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 7-1:  Southern Marin Fire Protection District Calls for Service Statistics 

 

On July 25, 2016, Southern Marin Fire Protection District was given a Class 1/1x Public 

Protection Classification (PPC) rating by the Insurance Services Office (ISO), an organization 

that independently evaluates municipal fire-protection efforts throughout the United States.  

Ratings range on a scale of 1 to 10.  Class 1 generally represents superior property fire 

protection, and class 10 indicates that the area’s fire suppression program does not meet ISO’s 

minimum criteria.6  While many communities receive a single number classification, many 

smaller and more rural communities receive a split classification to reflect the risk of loss more 

precisely.  In the case of a split classification, the first number refers to the classification of 

properties within five road miles of a fire station and within 1,000 feet of a creditable water 

supply.  The second number, with either the X or Y designation, applies to properties within five 

road miles of a fire station but beyond 1,000 feet of a creditable water supply (i.e. fire hydrant).  



 

Marin LAFCo  63 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

ISO generally assigns Class 10 to properties beyond 5 road miles.  The majority of insurance 

agencies throughout the country use the PPC classification for underwriting and calculating 

premiums on residential, commercial, and industrial properties.  SMFPD’s rating of 1/1x puts the 

district in the top 1% of fire protection agencies in the country.  The District’s PPC rating is 

currently under review by the ISO. 

 

Facilities and Apparatuses 
The SMFPD owns, operates, and maintains three fire stations.  The stations are: 

• Station 1 – 333 Johnson Street, Sausalito 

• Station 4 – 309 Poplar Avenue, Mill Valley 

• Station 9 – 308 Reed Boulevard, Mill Valley 

The District leases space for its administrative, prevention, and preparedness operations in a 

building at 28 Liberty Ship Way in Sausalito. The SMFPD also has a variety of apparatus that 

serves the community ranging from support vehicles to paramedic trucks.  SMFPD’s apparatus 

listed by station is provided below. 

Station 1:  1 Type 1 Engine, 1 Advanced Life Support Ambulance, 1 Inflatable Rescue Boat, 1 

Dive Team Tender, 1 40’ Metalcraft Fire Boat, 2 Rescue Watercraft, 1 Utility Vehicle 

Station 4:  1 Type 1 Engine, 1 Aerial Ladder Truck, 1 Type 3 Engine, 1 Advanced Life Support 

Ambulance, 1 Utility Vehicle 

Station 9:  2 Type 1 Engine (1 in reserve), 1 Medium Duty Rescue Truck, 2 Utility Vehicles, 1 

Rescue Water Craft, 1 Utility Vehicle 

The District maintains a long-range (12-year) capital improvement plan (CIP) and allocates 

funding to the plan annually based on the estimated replacement cost of major assets in addition 

to any funds needed for forecasted facilities’ upgrades.  In FY 20/21 the District allocated 

$1,534,500 to the CIP fund from its net revenue for the year. 

 

7.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

Board of Directors 
The Southern Marin Fire Protection District is governed by a seven-member board that is elected 

to four-year terms through an at-large election.  All directors are required to live within the 

District’s jurisdictional boundary.  The Board of Directors maintains current certificates for the 

AB 1234 Ethics Training Compliance as well as AB 1666 Sexual Harassment Prevention 

Training.  Certificates for each of the board members can be viewed on the SMFPD website.  

Over the course of the last 10 years (five Board of Directors election cycles),  the District’s 

Board of Directors has experienced fairly regular turnover with a total of nine new Board 

members being either elected or appointed in that span.  In November 2020, the Marin County 



 

Marin LAFCo  64 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Board of Supervisors made an appointment to the District’s board as the empty seat had no 

candidate running for the seat.  The only other occurrence of this in the District’s history came in 

2005The Board of Directors meets regularly on the 4th Wednesday of each month at 5:00 p.m. at 

the SMFPD Administration Headquarters located at 28 Liberty Ship Way, Suite 2800, in 

Sausalito.  

Table 7-2:  Southern Marin Fire Protection District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Tom Perazzo President November 2022 

Cristine Soto DeBerry Vice President November 2022 

Kurt Chun Director November 2022 

Stephen Willis Director November 2024 

Peter Fleming Director November 2022 

Cathryn Hilliard Director November 2024 

Ashley Raveche Director November 2024 

Staffing and District Operations 
The SMFPD currently carries a staffing equivalent of 62.5 full-time employees.  This staffing 

level includes a Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, Battalion Chiefs, Fire Marshal, Fire Inspectors, 

Prevention Administrative Aide, Fire Captains, Paramedic Engineers, Firefighters, and 

administrative staff members.  An organization chart for the District can be seen below in Figure 

7-2. 

Figure 7-2:  SMFPD Organization Chart 

 

Operations for the full service area (not limited to the jurisdictional boundary) are divided into 

three distinct zones in order to streamline responses and shorten response times.  The first zone, 

Zone 1, includes the City of Sausalito and the Marin Headlands area of the Golden Gate National 

Recreation Area.  The second zone, Zone 4, includes Tamalpais Valley and Homestead Valley.  

The third zone, Zone 9, encompasses the areas of Alto and Strawberry.  The three zones have a 

minimum daily on-duty staff of 15 personnel cross-staffing four firefighting apparatus. 



 

Marin LAFCo  65 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

7.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

The Southern Marin Fire Protection District offers a very informationally expansive website.  

The website (smfd.org) gives members of the public access to the District’s financial, 

operational, historical, and preventative information.  It offers a wealth of different offerings for 

disaster preparation instructions for homes, families, and businesses, as well as access to 

PulsePoint, which is a 911-connected app that offers real-time information on emergencies 

occurring locally.  The District also contracts with a private firm to ensure that the website is 

ADA compliant and that all links throughout the website are functional. 

Meetings and Agendas 
The SMFPD Board of Directors meets regularly on the 4th Wednesday of each month at 5:00 

p.m. at the SMFPD Administration Headquarters located at 28 Liberty Ship Way, Suite 2800, in 

Sausalito.  Special meetings are held as needed to go over specific topics.  Meeting agendas and 

minutes can be found on the SMFPD website (https://www.smfd.org/our-district/district-

overview/board-of-directors/meeting-documents). 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year, provides overall 

control of revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line item basis and the means 

of financing them.  The Bookkeeper produces monthly reports on expense activity that assist the 

Chief in monitoring activities and programs.  These reports are reported to the Board every 

month to assure budgetary compliance. 

7.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
 

The Southern Marin Fire Protection District has ended the year with a budget surplus in four of 

the past five fiscal years with completed financial audits.  The District has seen a steady increase 

in its net position annually over the course of the past four fiscal years. The District’s Board of 

Directors has established a policy of funding an Unallocated Reserve Fund for Financial 

Emergencies, with a target of 40% of annual operating costs available in the fund.  As of June 

30, 2021, the fund balance was $6.7 million7 which represents a value of approximately 37% of 

the annual expenditure figure over the course of the study period (previous five audited fiscal 

years).  The SMFPD recently received a Certificate of Completion from the Government Finance 

Officers Association (GFOA) for its first-ever Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) 

submittal. 

Revenues and Expenditures 
The primary revenue source for the SMFPD comes primarily from the portion of the 1% 

property tax on residents within its district boundaries.  Of the 1% property tax, the SMFPD 

receives between 10.8% and 17.9% dependent upon the area of the District, which amounts to 

approximately $15.96 million for FY 2020-21, and a projected amount of approximately $17.26 

million for FY 2022-23.  The District’s total operational revenues for FY 2020-21 were $25.2 

http://smfd.org/
https://www.smfd.org/our-district/district-overview/board-of-directors/meeting-documents


 

Marin LAFCo  66 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

million.  Other fundamental sources of annual revenue for the District include the charges for 

service, special assessments, and interest income.  The charges for service saw a significant 

increase of $1,598,693 from FY 2019-20 to FY 2020-21 due to the addition of the 

reimbursements from the City of Mill Valley for the shared Battalion Chiefs and Administrative 

Cleark, as well as charges to the Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority for finance and 

administrative services.  The special assessment line item also saw an increase between FY 

2019-20 and 2020-21 of $3,127,923 thanks to the passage of Measure U in November of 2018 

that went into effect in July of 2019.  Measure U is a special tax that is levied annually at a rate 

of $200 per residential parcel, $150 per undeveloped parcel, and $0.18 per improved square foot 

of business parcels.  Measure U was passed with an agreed upon automatic 5% annual elevator 

to account for inflation which can be adjusted by the Board of Directors to be less than that 

amount if deemed appropriate.  To date, the Board of Directors has not utilized the automatic 

elevator of 5%. 

The primary expense for the District comes in the form of personnel costs (salaries, benefits, 

overtime), accounting for approximately 78% of the District’s $21.9 million in total expenditures 

in FY 2020-21.  The other primary expenditures annually for the District are materials and 

services, equipment, and capital outlay and debt service.  Expenses and revenues over the course 

of ten previous fiscal years can be seen below in figure 7-3. 

Debt 
The SMFPD currently does not utilize long-term debt to fund operations or growth8. 

The SMFPD also provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the Marin County 

Employees’ Retirement Association (MCERA).  MCERA provides retirement, disability, and 

death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and final compensation.  As of June 

30, 2021, the SMFPD Net Pension Liability9 was $13,296,989.  The SMFPD pension funded 

ratio is approximately 85% which is above average for fire districts.  In addition to the pension 

plan, the SMFPD previously provided other post-retirement health care benefits (OPEB) to its 

retirees.  In 2014, the District ceased providing OPEB benefits and switched to offering its 

employees the option of health savings accounts (HSA) as a means of trying to address its OPEB 

liability. As of June 30, 2021, the District carried a Net OPEB liability10 total of $5,427,113.  

The District currently has 65 employees, both active and inactive, in their OPEB plan.  The 

District also currently carries a total of $1,192,141 in compensated absences.  The District’s 

general revenues and expenditures can be seen in greater detail below in Figure 7-3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  67 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 7-3:  SMFPD Revenues and Expenditures Detail 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  68 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

Financial Audit 
The Southern Marin Fire Protection District annually contracts with an outside accounting firm, 

most recently Badawi & Associates, to audit the District’s financial statements.  The most recent 

audited financial statement made publicly available on the District’s website was prepared for 

the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.   

 



 

Marin LAFCo  69 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Table 7-3:  SMFPD Financial Audit Summary 

Revenues FY 2020-2021 Audit 

Property Taxes $15,961,951 

Special Assessment $4,041,799 

MWPA Revenue $243,356 

Charges for Services $1,501,576 

Grants $243,356 

Other Revenue $466,277 

Investment Earnings $119,344 

Interest Income $59,274 

Total Revenues $25,199,181 

 

Expenditures FY 2020-2021 Audit 

Salaries and Benefits $17,244,531 

Operating Expenditures $3,299,075 

Grant Related Expenditures $218,924 

Capital Outlay $1,165,846 

Total Expenditures $21,928,376 

 

7.9 WILDLAND FIRE PREPAREDNESS  
 

Local agencies such as the Southern Marin Fire Protection District play a critical role in 

protecting natural resources and the environment.  Extended periods of drought, changing 

climate patterns, wind, and low humidity has the potential to increase the occurrence and severity 

of wildland fires which could threaten structures and lives in the Wildland Urban Interface. 

The SMFPD participated in the Community Wildfire Protection Plan that was published in 2016 

by way of a $123,200 grant from the State Resource Area Fire Prevention Fee Fund.  The plan 

was most recently updated again in 2020.  This was a collaborative effort among fire agencies in 

the county, local fire organizations including FIRESafe Marin, land management agencies, and 

community stakeholders.  Through this effort, areas of concern throughout the county were 

identified based on population, fire behavior, vegetation, and other factors.   

The SMFPD, with a significant area within its jurisdictional boundary being a part of the 

wildland-urban interface, is taking steps on multiple fronts to aid in the safeguarding of the 

communities it serves.  Some of these efforts include (but are not limited to) the following: 

• Targeted vegetation management program 

• Conducting multiple public education events annually  

• Providing inspection services 

• Processing and permitting new construction and improvement projects 



 

Marin LAFCo  70 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Partnering with the Southern Marin Community Emergency Response and NRG teams 

• Offering neighborhood chipper events 

• Creating fuel breaks and buffer zones in high-risk areas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  71 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

8.0 TAMALPAIS COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 

8.1 OVERVIEW 
 

The Tamalpais Community Services District (TCSD) was established in 1967 as an independent 

special district under Section 61000 of the California State Government Code.  The District 

provides wastewater, solid waste management, and parks and recreation services to the 

unincorporated community of Tamalpais Valley which makes up a portion of the census-

designated place (CDP) of Tamalpais-Homestead Valley. The full CDP includes the 

unincorporated communities of Tamalpais Valley, Homestead Valley, Almonte, and Muir 

Woods Park.  The community is considered by the County of Marin as part of the greater 

Richardson Bay planning area1.   

The District is a member agency of the Joint Powers Agency of the Sewerage Agency of 

Southern Marin, and also contracts for service with the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District for 

wastewater treatment.  The District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses just under 3.02 square 

miles.  The last municipal service review that included the TCSD was conducted in 2011. 

 

Table 8-1:  Tamalpais Community Services District Overview 

Tamalpais Community Services District 

Primary Contact: Garrett Toy Phone: (415)-388-6393 

Mailing Address: 305 Bell Lane, Mill Valley, CA 94941 

Formation Date: August 4, 1967 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection, Solid Waste Management, Parks and 

Recreation 

Service Area: 1,933 acres Population Served: ≈7,000 

 

8.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Tamalpais Community Services District was formed in 1967, but the District’s original 

service roots date back to 1954 when the Tamalpais Valley Sanitary District was formed.  The 

original sanitary district was petitioned in 1966 to be reorganized as a community services 

district primarily out of the desire of residents within the District to be able to increase the public 

availability of parks, recreation, and open space preservation in the community.  This came 

following the purchase of an 11-acre property at 203 Marin Avenue by the Tamalpais Valley 

Improvement Club (which was also the entity that penned and submitted the petition). The 

original petition states the following reasons for the reorganization request: 



 

Marin LAFCo  72 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

“1.  There is a great need for recreation and park facilities in Tamalpais Valley.  The Tamalpais 

Valley Improvement Club has purchased eleven acres suitable for a park and recreation facility.  

2.  The district proposed is the most effective, efficient, and equitable way to construct park and 

recreation facilities on this land, and will also aid long-range planning for both park and 

recreation as well as sanitation facilities in our community.  3.  The natural and feasible area for 

such long-range planning is the entire watershed of the Tamalpais and Tennessee Valleys.” 

On August 4, 1967, the Certificate of Completion was received from the California Secretary of 

State for the reorganization by way of detaching territory from the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary 

District and dissolving of the Tamalpais Valley Sanitary District in order to complete the 

formation of the Tamalpais Community Services District with the activated powers of 

wastewater collection, solid waste management, and parks and recreation.  In 1968, The Hall, 

which is now referred to as the Tamalpais Valley Community Center, was constructed by the 

Tamalpais Valley Improvement Club (TVIC) and opened to residents.  In 1994, TVIC signed a 

50-year lease with the District to manage the property and the community center.  In 2017, 

TCSD purchased the community center and land from TVIC for the agreed upon price of $1 as 

well as agreement for the construction of a new historical archive room by the District, which 

has since been completed adjacent to the community center.  The agreement was made “... in 

order to keep the Community Center in use for the public benefit in perpetuity.”2 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  73 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

8.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

The Tamalpais Community Services District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses 

approximately 3.02 square miles of unincorporated lands within the census-designated place of 

Tamalpais-Homestead Valley.  Marin LAFCo has no record of changes in the District’s 

jurisdictional boundary.  In 2005, the District’s leadership began exploring the possibility of 

annexation of lands within the jurisdictional boundary of the Almonte Sanitary District strictly 

for the purposes of expanding its recreation services.  The area would have included the 

commercial area east of Shoreline Highway at Tam Junction and the Manzanita/Heliport areas.  

TCSD inquired to Marin LAFCo about the process and how to proceed.  The action was 

staunchly opposed by both the leadership of the Almonte Sanitary District as well as the 

Almonte District Improvement Club.  In addition, LAFCo as a matter of best practice does not 

encourage two districts that provide the same municipal service to have overlapping 

jurisdictional boundaries.  Ultimately, the District decided against formally moving forward with 

any application for annexation.   

The District’s sphere of influence was established by Marin LAFCo in 1983 as being an “interim 

sphere” that is coterminous with its jurisdictional boundary.  The sphere was last reaffirmed in 

2005. 

8.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
 

The Tamalpais Community Services District jurisdictional boundary encompasses an 

apportionment of the census-designated place (CDP) of Tamalpais-Homestead Valley.  

According to 2020 U.S. Census Redistricting Data, the population of the Tamalpais-Homestead 

CDP is 11,492, which is approximately a 7% increase from the 2010 population number of 

10,7353. The most recent census data shows the CDP to have 4,678 total housing units, with 218 

of those units vacant. The remaining development potential in the planning area is minimal as 

current zoning regulations designated by the Community Plan make the area essentially built out.  

While the U.S. Census Bureau does not directly recognize the community of Tamalpais Valley, 

population estimates for the community are approximately 7,000 residents.  The two agencies 

that provide the District with wastewater treatment, the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District 

and the Sewerage Agency of Southern Marin, each have sufficient remaining treatment capacity 

to support the District’s wastewater collections at the currently projected buildout.4  In the past 

five years (scope of the study window) the District has only added a total of four service 

connections for wastewater collection. 

8.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

 

Wastewater Collection 
TCSD provides wastewater collection to the residents and businesses within its jurisdictional 

boundary.  The majority of the collections flow to the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District’s 

(SMCSD) treatment plant, with the remainder flowing to the Sewerage Agency of Southern 



 

Marin LAFCo  74 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Marin’s (SASM) treatment plant.  A map of the District’s collection system showing the areas 

that flow to each treatment plant can be seen below in Figure 8-1.  The District is one of the six 

member-agencies that make up the Joint Powers Agency of SASM, along with the City of Mill 

Valley, Alto Sanitary District, Almonte Sanitary District, Homestead Valley Sanitary District, 

and Richardson Bay Sanitary District.  The treatment plant is jointly owned by each of the six 

member agencies, with the different agencies' ownership shares measured in equivalent dwelling 

units (EDU) of the treatment plant’s capacity.  An EDU has been determined in the joint powers 

agreement to be the “average flow of wastewater produced by a single-family equivalent 

dwelling unit, which has been agreed equates to 200 gallons per day.”  The TCSD is allocated at 

0.01%, or 252 EDUs. 

The District currently has 2,180 service connections, with 2,161 of those consisting of residential 

connections, 16 being commercial, and three additional connections for Muir Woods, Tamalpais 

Elementary School, and the community fire station.  The system’s infrastructure consists of 

approximately 29 miles of gravity sewer line, four miles of force main, and four pump stations.  

The average age of the District’s sewer lines is approximately 67 years, and is in need of 

rehabilitation.  In 2020, the District enlisted the services of Nute Engineering to assist in the 

formulation of an accelerated Captial Improvement Program.  This accelerated program was 

adopted in August of 2020, and provides the District with a five-year road map of capital 

improvement projects. 

 

On May 12, 2021, the District updated its five-year sewer rate plan.  The charges for service fund 

the District’s sewer collections operations and capital improvements.  The plan runs through FY 

2025/26, at which time the District will engage in a new rate study and completion of the 

Proposition 218 process.  The current charges for annual sewer service can be seen below in 

Table 8-2. 

 

In 2017, the District and the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District (SMCSD) had unresolved 

disputes over the interpretation of a number of terms and conditions contained within the two 

district’s 2013 services agreement which led to the filing of a complaint by SMCSD and a cross-

complaint by TCSD in the Marin County Superior Court.  On June 11, 2018, SMCSD and TCSD 

submitted their disputes to mediation.  The two agencies reached a settlement during the course 

of mediation of all the disputes that was ultimately agreed to by both of the district’s Board of 

Directors.  In February of 2020, both of the districts accepted the updated settlement agreements 

into an amended and restated agreement which supersedes and replaces the 2013 agreement that 

the districts had been operating under. 

 

 
Table 8-2:  TCSD Sewer Service Rate Schedule 

 FY 

2021/22 

FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24 FY 2024/25 FY 2025/26 

Base Sewer 

System Charge 

$1,374.88 $1,429.86 $1,487.04 $1,546.52 $1,608.40 

Usage Charge $33.42 $34.74 $36.12 $37.56 $39.06 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  75 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 8-1:  TCSD Wastewater Treatment Plant Flow Designation Map 

 
 

 

Parks and Recreation 
The District’s initial petition to reorganize from a sanitation district to a community services 

district was born out of the community’s intrinsic value in parks, recreation, and open space 

preservation.  Today, the Tamalpais Community Services District continues to prioritize its parks 

and recreation service provisions with renewed emphasis on long-term planning.  In September 

of 2020, the Board of Directors for TCSD approved a contract for services with the consulting 

firm, Management Partners, to specifically review and make recommendations for the 

sustainability and growth of the District’s parks and recreation services.  The consultants 

returned to the District in February of 2021 with a full study of the District’s parks and recreation 

services that included a list of 23 recommendations.  The primary recommendations made 

included the creation of a one-year and five-year strategic plan, as well as the formation of a 25-

year master plan.   

In April of 2021, the Board adopted the District’s first financial reserves policy specifically for 

parks and recreation of maintaining two-months of operating expenditures in reserves, per the 

consultant’s recommendation.  In June of 2021, the Board held a work session to examine the 

District’s operations with the intention of working towards a five-year plan.  In October of 2022, 



 

Marin LAFCo  76 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

the Board conducted another work session at which time District staff reported on the status of 

the progress of each of the 23 recommendations that the 2021 study had contained.  Most 

recently, in December of 2022, the Board adopted an ordinance establishing the TCSD Parks and 

Recreation Commission (as well as the Commission’s powers and duties) and replacing the 

Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission.  In early 2023, the Board and staff plan to convene 

for a retreat at which time the initial discussions of the 5-year strategic plan are set to take place. 

TVCSD provides a variety of community classes and programs as well as a number of annual 

community events.  The District maintains eight major parks and recreation facilities.  The 

facilities are listed below: 

• Tam Valley Community Center 

• Cabin Facility 

• Kay Park 

• Eastwood Park 

• Hawk Hill 

• Jim Knott Park 

• Flamingo Park 

• McGlashan Park 

The District makes four of the listed facilities, specifically the Community Center, Eastwood 

Park, Kay Park, and the Tennessee Valley Cabin, available for private rentals.  The District owns 

a total of 54 parcels of open space and miscellaneous lands that amount to approximately 46 

acres.  Within these areas, the District also maintains a number of trailheads, access points, and 

open space.  The District works in close concert with local volunteers to procure grant funding 

for open space maintenance and wildland fire fuel management.  Since 2010, the District has 

received over just under $500,000 from State and Federal grants to address fire mitigation within 

the District’s jurisdictional boundary.  The District also had a Tree Inventory and Management 

Plan completed in June of 2019 by Bartlett Tree Experts.  The inventory and plan includes the 

areas of Kay Park, McGlashan Park, Eastwood Park, the Cabin Facility, and the area surrounding 

the Community Center.   

Solid Waste Management 
Tamalpais Community Services District provides solid waste management to both commercial 

and residential properties within its jurisdictional boundary.  While most other small special 

districts in Marin County and elsewhere throughout the state that offer solid waste management 

typically do so by way of a contract for services with an outside agency, TCSD is fairly unique 

in providing this service by way of its own staff and collection fleet in house.  The District 

provides residential collection services, commercial collection services, and other services such 

as drop-off programs for E-waste, sharps, batteries, and other items, as well as collection day 

events for paper shredding, green waste, and household debris.  The District staff that is 

dedicated solely to waste management services operates the fleet of solid waste collection 

vehicles that are customized to navigate the narrow roads and steep terrain within the District’s 

boundary.  The District also provides services to a handful of hard-to-service residences with a 

small pickup truck. 



 

Marin LAFCo  77 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

The District adopted its current rate schedule for solid waste management services in May of 

20185 after enlisting the services of R3 Consulting Group to perform a Financial Plan and Rate 

Study.  The rate schedule is in place from FY 2018-20 – FY 2022-23.  The rates for FY 2020-21 

– FY 2022-23 can be seen below in Figure 8-2. 

 

Figure 8-2:  TCSD Solid Waste Rate Schedule 

 

 

8.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

Board of Directors 
The Tamalpais Community Services District receives oversight and policy direction by way of a 

five-member board that is elected to staggered four-year terms with election cycles held in even-

numbered years.  All directors are required to be registered voters residing within the District’s 

jurisdictional boundary.  Over the course of the last 10 years (five Board of Directors election 

cycles), the District’s Board of Directors has experienced minimal turnover with a total of two new 

Board Members in that span with no directors needing to be appointed by the Marin County Board 

of Supervisors.   

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  78 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

 

Table 8-3:  Tamalpais Community Services District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Matt McMahon President December 2024 

Jeff Brown Vice-President December 2026 

Steffen Bartschat Director December 2024 

Steven Levine Director December 2024 

James Jacobs Director December 2026 

 

Administration 
The Board of Directors of TCSD appoints the District’s General Manager who leads and 

manages the District’s day-to-day operations.  The General Manager conducts the day-to-day 

management of the District as specified by Board policy, and is supported administratively by an 

Assistant General Manager.  The General Manager also oversees the work of the Superintendent, 

and Programs and Finance Manager, and District Clerk, who oversee the remaining full and part-

time staff members as well as contract workers.  In total, the District employs 13 full-time 

equivalent (FTE) employees. 

8.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

The Tamalpais Community Services District makes a concerted effort to maintain high 

accountability and transparency with all its activities.  The TCSD website (www.tamcsd.org) 

provides documentation and information on Board meetings, financial reports, services, facility 

rentals, contracts, sewer system management plan, and more.  At this time the District is 

meeting, if not exceeding, all the transparency requirements of special districts for the State of 

California. 

Meeting and Agendas 
The TCSD Board of Directors meets regularly on the 2nd Wednesday of each month at 7:00 p.m. 

at the Tam Valley Community Center at 203 Marin Drive in Mill Valley.  Special meetings are 

held as needed to go over specific topics.  Meeting agendas and minutes can be found on the 

TCSD website (tamcsd.org/board-of-directors). 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, typically adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year, provides 

overall control of revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line item basis and the 

means of financing them.  The General Manager presents financial reports to the Board every 

month to assure budgetary compliance. 

 

http://tamcsd.org/
http://tamcsd.org/board-of-directors


 

Marin LAFCo  79 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

8.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
 

Over the course of the study window (past 5 fiscal years), TCSD has maintained increases in 

total net position each year for both governmental activities and business-type activities, with the 

one exception coming in FY 2017-18 with the decrease in net position coming as a result of the 

District implementing Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75 (GASB 75).  

The District’s funds are reported in a manner that separates governmental activities and 

Business-type activities.  Governmental activities include services financed mainly through 

property taxes.  The District’s parks and recreation, community center services, and Measure A 

services comprise its governmental activities.  Business-type activities include services financed, 

in whole or in part, by fees paid by those who directly benefit from the service.  The District’s 

business-type activities include wastewater collection and treatment and solid waste collection 

and disposal.   

The District’s revenues have outpaced expenditures in each of the past four fiscal years, by an 

annual average of approximately $2.4 million.  The average annual operating revenues for the 

District over the five-year period were $7,188,304.  The primary revenue sources for the District 

amongst governmental activities are property taxes (75%) and charges for services (12%) with 

operating grants and contributions supplementing the District’s total revenues at approximately 

10%.  The primary revenue source for the District amongst the business-type activities is charges 

for service (98%).  The primary annual operating expenses for TCSD are contract services as 

well as salaries and wages.  The projected total revenue for the District for fiscal year 2022-23 is 

$9,679,600.  A breakdown of the past 5 years of operational revenues and expenses can be seen 

below in Table 8-4. 

Table 8-4:  TCSD Operating Revenues and Expenditures 

Operating 

Revenue 
FY 2015-16 FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 Average 

Charges for 

Services 
$4,352,764 $5,131,875 $5,852,402 $7,099,748 $7,395,570 $5,966,472 

Operating 

Grants 
$50,195 $162,645 $35,291 $69,403 $141,986 $91,904 

Capital 

Grants 
  $876,984   $175,397 

Property 

Taxes 
$789,385 $870,414 $915,534 $970,319 $997,750 $908,680 

Investment 

Earnings 
$4,699 $7,911 $8,979 $45,693 $62,677 $25,992 

Miscellaneous $51,396 $24,746 $12,257 $7,905 $5,994 $20,460 

Total $5,245,439 $6,197,591 $7,701,447 $8,193,068 $8,603,977 $7,188,304 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  80 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Operating 

Expenses 
FY 2015-16 FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 Averages 

Parks and 

Recreation 
$1,095,406 $1,287,036 $1,049,513 $1,102,747 $1,091,026 $1,125,146 

Community 

Center 
$31,068 $37,858    $13,785 

Measure A $52,661 $40,375 $26,321 $77,839 $57,958 $51,031 

Sanitation $2,827,448 $2,687,274 $3,896,471 $4,061,134 $4,033,004 $3,501,066 

Refuse $1,648,879 $1,894,997 $1,719,462 $1,743,854 $1,628,023 $1,727,043 

Total $5,655,202 $5,947,540 $6,691,767 $6,985,574 $6,810,011 $6,418,019 

 

 

Debt 
As of June 30, 2020, TCSD was carrying $3,471,632 in long-term liabilities.  This amount is not 

inclusive of net pension, other post-employment benefits (OPEB), and compensated absences 

liabilities.  The sources of the District's long-term liabilities are outlined below. 

• 2013 Loan Agreement -  In December of 2013, the District entered into a loan 

agreement with Municipal Finance Corporation for the purpose of refinancing the costs to 

upgrade and replace certain wastewater collection improvements to the District’s 

sanitation enterprise system.  The District also entered into a loan agreement with 

Municipal Finance Corporation at the same time for the purpose of obtaining financing 

for the acquisition and construction of additional enterprise facilities consisting generally 

of sewer line replacements and improvements to the inflow and infiltration system.  

Municipal Finance Corporation assigned both loans to City National Bank.  The loans 

carry note payable in semi-annual principal and interest payments of $204,884 and 

$17,737 respectively. 

• 2020 Loan Agreement - In May of 2020 the District entered into a loan agreement with 

Mercedes-Benz Financial Services for the purpose of obtaining financing for the 

acquisition of two refuse collection trucks.  The note payable in annual principal and 

interest payments of $44,804 annually. 

• Net Pension Liability - The TCSD provides a pension plan for employees and is part of 

the Marin County Employees’ Retirement Association (MCERA).  MCERA provides 

retirement, disability, and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, 

and final compensation.  As of June 30, 2020, the TCSD’s Net Pension Liability was 

$1,304,834.  TCSD’s pension-funded ratio is approximately 88%. 

• Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – TCSD provides other post-employment 

benefits to its retirees.  As of June 30, 2020, the District carried a Net OPEB liability of 

$1,674,934.  There are 18 total employees, both active and inactive, within the District’s 

OPEB plan. 

• Compensated Absences – The District provides its employees with different forms of 

paid leave.  As of June 30, 2021, the total liability of the District’s compensated absences 

totaled $130,317. 



 

Marin LAFCo  81 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Financial Audit 
The Tamalpais Community Services District annually has its financial statements audited and 

contracts with an outside accounting firm, Croce, Sanguineti, & Vander Veen.  The most recent 

publicly available audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 

2020.   

8.9 SUSTAINABILITY 
 

Local agencies such as the Tamalpais Community Services District play a critical role in 

protecting natural resources and the environment.  Extended periods of drought and increasingly 

unpredictable climate patterns have significantly increased the importance for local agencies to 

step up their own conservation and long-term planning measures as well as making a concerted 

effort towards higher levels of public outreach. 

The District has recently taken an aggressive approach to expedite the rehabilitation of its 

collection system infrastructure.  This prioritization towards the replacement of aging pipes will 

assist the District in minimizing future sewer system overflows that can have significant 

ecological impacts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  82 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

9.0 MARIN CITY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 

9.1 OVERVIEW 
 

The Marin City Community Services District (MCCSD) was established in January of 1958 as 

an independent special district.  The MCCSD jurisdictional boundary is composed of 

approximately 0.6 square miles of Marin County’s southern Highway 101 corridor. The district 

serves a population of approximately 2,9931 persons.  The District’s most recent inclusion in a 

municipal service review came in April of 2004 in the Southern Marin Service Review and 

Sphere of Influence Update.  The primary function of MCCSD is to provide parks and 

recreation, solid waste disposal, and street lighting services to the census-designated place (CDP) 

of Marin City.  

Table 9-1:  Marin City Community Services District Overview 

Marin City Community Services District 

Primary Contact: Juanita Edwards Phone: (415)-332-1441 

Headquarters: 640 Drake Avenue, Marin City, CA  

Formation Date: January 27, 1958 

Services Provided: Parks & Recreation, Solid Waste Disposal, Street Lighting 

Service Area: 384.5 acres Population Served: 2,993 

 

9.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

The census-designated place (CDP) of Marin City was founded in 1942, when housing was built 

for employees who worked at the nearby Marinship Corporation during World War II, building 

ships for the war effort.  Marinship was one of many early 1940’s emergency shipyards 

established on the West Coast to fuel America’s need for oil tankers and war cargo ships.  In the 

early 1940s, many African Americans migrated from southern states such as Louisana and 

Mississippi in search of shipbuilding work after being excluded from higher-paying industrial 

jobs back home as it was not uncommon for a shipbuilder to make in an hour what they formerly 

would make in a day back in the South.  Shipbuilding had gained a reputation as steady work 

that paid generous wages and included family housing, and it was ultimately these benefits that 

made the lengthy migration worthwhile2.  The community of Marin City was formed by building 

housing, churches, and schools to accommodate the influx of approximately 6,000 newly arrived 

workers.   

Despite such a diverse workforce and blossoming community, racial discrimination was rampant 

within the Marinship organization.  Workers of color were only allowed as “auxiliary” members 

to the Boilermakers Union, which meant they were unable to vote on union matters and received 

smaller insurance benefits3.  In November of 1943, African American Marinship workers from 



 

Marin LAFCo  83 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Marin City as well as Richmond and Oakland all went on strike and refused to pay their auxiliary 

member dues.  This matter went all the way to the Supreme Court and in 1945 it was found that 

it was “readily apparent that the membership offered to minorities is discriminatory and 

unequal.”  Marinship ultimately closed in May of 1946 and as the war wound down, African 

American employment also plummeted.  In July of 1945, approximately 20,000 African 

American Marinship workers were employed, and by September of the same year, there were 

less than 8,000.  When Marinship ultimately closed, many African American Marin City 

residents found they could not afford to leave, and those that could afford it were unable to 

relocate due to the discriminatory rental and homeowner statutes that stipulated against renting to 

minorities that were common throughout the Bay Area until the 1960s. 

On February 16, 1944, residents formed the Marin City Council, Inc., in an effort to provide 

basic services to Marin City residents.  The Marin City Community Services District (MCCSD) 

was formed in January of 1958 under California State Government Code section 61000 with the 

activated service powers of providing recreation, parks and landscape management, street 

lighting, and solid waste management.   

In the early 1990s, MCCSD gave up its lease of land used for a flea market in order to allow for 

the implementation of the Marin City Redevelopment Plan.  At that time the operation of the flea 

market provided the District with its largest source of revenue.  The Redevelopment Plan 

included financing for a variety of public infrastructure improvements and facilitated the 

development of the Gateway Shopping Center.  In return, it was agreed that the District revenues 

from the flea market would be replaced by a percentage share of profits from the operation of the 

Gateway Shopping Center.  The Gateway Shopping Center, however, did not prove to produce 

the level of profit that had been anticipated, and as such those revenues did not flow to the 

District.  Additionally, the increased property tax revenue from the development of the shopping 

center did not flow to the District, but rather to the Redevelopment Agency to finance the cost of 

public improvements.  The County of Marin provided loans to the District to continue operation 

at a minimal level until the sale of the Gateway Center was completed in 2003.  The terms of sale 

included a lump-sum distribution to MCCSD of $450,000 over three years. 

In 2004, the District started planning for the development of a new state-of-the-art community 

center to replace the existing Manzanita Center.  In 2009, a Master Plan for the project was 

developed and submitted to the County of Marin for approval.  The proposed project’s cost was 

approximately $30 million.  In early 2010, the proposed project was deemed economically 

unfeasible by District staff and the Board of Directors due to the economic downturn.  As such, 

the focus shifted to renovating in a more phased manner with the top priority in the process being 

a new gymnasium and teen center. 

In 2014, the District, in partnership with the Trust for Public Land, broke ground on a 1.095 acre 

plot of land in Marin City that would be developed into the community’s first and only outdoor 

recreational space, Rocky Graham Park.  The development of the park was made possible by 

way of a grant in the amount of $4.93 million from the Proposition 84 California Parks Bond 

Act.  The construction of the park was completed in May of 2015 and today the park is managed 



 

Marin LAFCo  84 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

through a cooperative operations agreement between the District and Marin County Parks.  The 

current agreement sunsets in March of 2023 and negotiations for renewal are ongoing. 

At its January meeting in 2022, the Board of Directors approved a contract with the firm 

dSantana Arquitectura to develop a feasibility study and new master plan in a renewed effort 

towards renovating and expanding the District’s community center.  The updated plan would 

include the construction of an aquatics center, a sports complex and gymnasium, an early 

education center, classrooms, a health center, and a multi-level parking structure.  The District 

plans to employ the services of consultants in order to assist in applying for grant funding for the 

projects. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  85 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

9.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

The Marin City Community Services District’s service boundary, which currently encapsulates 

just over 384 acres, includes all of the residential area of the census-designated place of Marin 

City.  The entirety of the District’s western border is contiguous with the jurisdictional boundary 

of the Tamalpais Community Services District.  The District’s boundary is separated from the 

City of Sausalito to the southeast by Highway 101.  Previously, MCCSD staff has reported that 

the District’s board has explored expanding the jurisdictional boundary to include the 

unincorporated houseboat area and commercial center immediately to the north of the City of 

Sausalito’s boundary at Gate 6 (which is currently within the City’s sphere of influence). To 

date, no application has been submitted to LAFCo.  

The District’s current jurisdictional boundary surrounds a census tract block group (Tract 1290, 

Block Group 1) that has been designated by Marin LAFCo as a disadvantaged unincorporated 

community (DUC) based on 2020 U.S. Census Bureau Redistricting Data.  A disadvantaged 

community is defined in Water Code Section 7905.5(a) as a community with an annual median 

household income of less than 80 percent of the statewide median household income.  The 

statutory definition of DUCs comes from Government Code Section 56033.5, which defines 

DUCs as “inhabited territory” that constitutes all or a portion of a disadvantaged community.  

“Inhabited territory” may be defined by Government Code Section 56046 as having at least 12 

registered voters, or it can be determined by “commission policy”.   

The District’s sphere of influence was originally set by Marin LAFCo in 1984 as an “interim” 

sphere of influence as the Marin City community was included in the sphere of influence of the 

City of Sausalito with the anticipation of the continued operation of MCCSD until the annexation 

of Marin City to the City of Sausalito which then would have dissolved the District and its 

services into the City.  In 2004, Marin LAFCo concluded that annexation of the area to the City 

of Sausalito was improbable and designated a coterminous sphere of influence for the District 

with its boundary and simultaneously removed the District from the sphere of influence of the 

City of Sausalito.  The sphere of influence was last reaffirmed in 2010.    

9.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
 

The Marin City Community Services District jurisdictional boundary encompasses the entirety 

of the census-designated place (CDP) of Marin City. According to 2020 U.S. Census 

Redistricting Data, the population of the Marin City CDP is 2,993, which is approximately a 

12% increase from the 2010 population number of 2,6661. The most recent census data shows 

the CDP to have 1,337 total housing units, with 34 of those units vacant. The remaining 

development potential in the planning area is minimal as current zoning regulations designated 

by the current Community Plan make the area essentially built out.  Since 2000, only 28 units 

have been added to the planning area, making the annual residential unit additions approximately 

1.4 units per year.   



 

Marin LAFCo  86 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

9.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

 

Recreation and Parks 
The Marin City Community Services District offers the residents within its jurisdictional 

boundary assorted recreation programs and facility rentals.  Programs are offered by way of 

community partnerships, independent contractors, and in-house staff.  Some of the programs 

offered by the District include: 

• Boxing/Fitness Class 

• Teen Social Group 

• Midnight Basketball 

• Intergenerational Garden 

• Computer Classes 

• Zumba Dance Class 

• Sunshine Club – Senior Social Group 

One of the District’s biggest strengths is its collaborative efforts with other local entities, both 

public and private, throughout Marin County in order to offer as many opportunities as possible 

to residents within the District.  Some of the local partners the district works in concert with 

include: 

• Age Friendly Sausalito 

• Marin Center for Independent Living 

• Innovative Health and Human Services 

• Vivalon 

• Marin City Library 

• Dominican University 

• County of Marin Health and Human Services 

• Zero Waste Marin 

As well as the main Community Center location, the District also oversees the programming of 

the area of Rocky Graham Park.  The District has a cooperative operations agreement with the 

Marin County Parks Department for maintenance and needed improvements of the park. 

Solid Waste Management 
The District contracts with Bay Cities Refuse for residential and commercial trash removal and 

recycling services.  The current contract for services was entered into in March of 2019 and is 

good for ten years, with an option to review the terms in year eight.  As part of the contract for 

services, Bay Cities Refuse also provides street-sweeping services within the District. 



 

Marin LAFCo  87 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

9.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

Board of Directors 
The Marin City Community Services District has a five-member board that is elected to four-

year terms through an at-large election.  As of the writing of this document, the Board has one 

vacant seat that has been open since May of 2022.  All directors are required to live within the 

District’s jurisdictional boundary.  Over the course of the last 10 years (five Board of Directors 

election cycles), the District’s Board of Directors has experienced fairly regular turnover with a 

total of six new Board Members being either elected or appointed in that span.  In addition, a 

recent occurrence has been noticed.  Both in 2020 and 2022 they have not had enough candidates 

filing to run for office which is causing the Board of Supervisors to make an appointment to fill 

empty seats. 

The Board of Directors meets regularly on the 1st Thursday of each month at 6:30 p.m. at the 

Marin City Community Center located at 640 Drake Avenue in Marin City.  

Table 9-2:  Marin City Community Services District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Lynette Egenluaf Chair November 2024 

Henry Mim Vice-Chair November 2024 

Terrie Green Director November 2026 

Angela Haynes Director November 2026 

Kevin Douglas Director November 2026 

 

9.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

The Marin City Community Services District has made great strides recently in increasing its 

public transparency.  During the initial meetings that Marin LAFCo staff had with MCCSD staff 

in preparation for this municipal service review, the District’s website was shown to be out of 

compliance with numerous State requirements for public agencies as well as being fairly 

informationally outdated.  The District worked with LAFCo in finding a new website provider 

that works specifically with public agencies and ensures they are compliant with all current 

requirements and regulations and updated the website to its current state.  The MCCSD website 

(www.marincitycsd.com) provides information on Board meetings, financial reports, district 

history, district staff, and more.  While the District has made a good faith effort to make the 

necessary change to be in compliance with the minimum requirements by state law, further 

public transparency could be offered with the addition of the District’s budgets for the current 

and recent fiscal years as well as Board meeting minutes and Board meeting agenda packet 

materials.  The District is also aware of and actively working towards ensuring that the uploaded 

documents on its site are compliant with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 

http://www.marincitycsd./


 

Marin LAFCo  88 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Meeting and Agendas 
The MCCSD Board of Directors meets on the 1st Thursday of each month at 6:30 p.m. at the 

Marin City Community Center located at 640 Drake Avenue in Marin City.  Special meetings are 

held as needed to go over specific topics such as the annual budget.  Meeting agendas can be 

found on the MCCSD website (www.marincitycsd.com/board-meetings). 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year, provides overall 

control of revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line-item basis and the means 

of financing them.  The Bookkeeper produces monthly reports on expense activity that assist the 

General Manager in monitoring activities and programs.  These reports are reported to the Board 

every month to assure budgetary compliance. 

9.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
 

Revenue sources for the MCCSD come primarily from grants and contributions from outside 

agencies, accounting for an average annual revenue percentage of approximately 74% over the 

past five fiscal years.  This figure becomes a bit skewed towards the latter stages of the study 

window due to the inclusion of the anomalistic Prop 84 funding.  That average will also be 

impacted in the near term by the recent exhausting of the Marin City Community Services 

District Trust Fund.  In June of 2013, the County of Marin Established the Marin City 

Community Services District Trust Fund with the proceeds from the sale of the Gateway 

Shopping Center.  When initially established, the fund reserved $774,932 for MCCSD 

operations.  Annual payments were made of $115,000.  The balance of this fund was exhausted 

in June of 2020.  

The other main source of revenue for the District is its apportionment of the 1% of property tax 

that it receives, as well as Measure A funding and charges for services and rentals.  Over the 

course of the study window, the District has seen revenues outpace expenditures in three of the 

five fiscal years. As of the writing of this document, despite a good faith effort on the part of 

LAFCo staff to collect financial documentation from the District as well as collaboration with 

the District’s auditor over the course of the past nine months, the District has been unsuccessful 

in providing LAFCo with the requested copies of its adopted operating budgets for any fiscal 

year within the study window.  As such, determining the specific sources of annual operating 

income as well as the expenditures has been rendered to a certain level of ambiguity without the 

full picture provided by viewing the District’s annual finances at a line-item level. One of the 

more recent recommendations made by the District’s auditor that the auditor has reported that the 

District has implemented is that “… the Board participate in the District budget process and help 

put in place policies that facilitate the District’s ability to overtake the negative fund balances.”  

The auditor reported in July of 2021 that the District had implemented this recommendation for 

the General Fund, but there were two other funds with deficit fund balances still needing to be 

addressed.  

Debt 

http://www.marincitycsd.com/board-meetings


 

Marin LAFCo  89 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

At this time, the District does not utilize long-term debt to fund operations or growth.  

The MCCSD provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the Marin County Employees’ 

Retirement Association (MCERA).  MCERA provides retirement, disability, and death benefits 

based on the employee’s years of service, age, and final compensation.  As of June 30, 2021, the 

MCCSD Net Pension Liability was $0.   

The District grants employees’ vacation and sick leave in varying amounts.  In the event of 

retirement or termination, an employee is reimbursed at full salary rates for accumulated 

vacation days.  The current portion of accumulated vacation and sick leave is recognized in the 

General Fund.  All compensated absences are accrued when incurred in the government-wide 

financial statements.  The liability for accrued vacation, administrative, and compensatory time 

off leave was $7,346 for the year ended June 30, 2021. 

Financial Audit 
The Marin City Community Services District annually contracts with an outside accounting firm, 

most recently R.J. Ricciardi, Inc., to audit the District’s financial statements in accordance with 

established governmental accounting standards.  The firm has been the District’s auditor for the 

past seven fiscal years and has made several financial best practices recommendations to the 

District in that time span.  In addition to the recommendations made, when auditing the financial 

statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the auditing firm was compelled to include a 

disclaimer of opinion, stating, “Marin City Community Services District does not maintain 

accounting records sufficient to assure that all transactions are recorded.  Accordingly, it was not 

practicable for us to extend our procedures sufficiently to determine that all of the assets and 

liabilities of Marin City Community Services District and changes in their net position are 

recorded in the financial statements referred to above.  We were unable to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence about the completeness, accuracy and occurrence of revenue and 

expense accounts or subsequent events by other auditing procedures.  In addition, we were 

unable to obtain written representations from management of the Marin City Community 

Services District as required by generally accepted auditing standards.  Because of the 

significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph, we have 

not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit 

opinion.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the financial statements referred to in the 

first paragraph.” In the three fiscal years following this disclaimer, the auditor has received the 

necessary documentation to confidently offer an opinion on the District’s financial statements as 

having presented fairly in all material respects.  

Some of the most recent recommendations that the accounting firm has made that have been 

implemented by the District include the following:   

• Recommendation that the District implement policies and procedures to maintain copies 

of employee’s timesheets to substantiate labor costs and to complete employee personnel 

records. 

• Recommendation that the District develop an operating reserve of at least $250,000 

through budget monitoring and reducing expenses when possible (in process). 



 

Marin LAFCo  90 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Recommendation that the District keep and maintain copies of all checks, check stubs, 

and related supporting documents for all checks and revenues received by the District. 

The most recent audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 

2021.  

Table 9-3:  Marin City Community Services District Financial Audit Summary 

Revenues FY 2020-

2021  

FY 2019-

20 

FY 2018-

19 

FY 2017-18 FY 2016-17 

Taxes $484,903 $350,224 $428,910 $197,420 $162,640 

Grant and 

Contributions 

$624,439 $980,654 $762,947 $1,178,729 $2,127,336 

Total Revenues $1,109,342 $1,330,878 $1,191,857 $1,376,149 $2,289,976 

Expenditures      

Services and 

Supplies 

$1,351,485 $1,102,739 $902,188 $1,872,757 $1,691,763 

Total Expenditures $1,351,485 $1,102,739 $902,188 $1,872,757 $1,691,763 

Change in Net 

Position 

$(242,143) $228,139 $289,669 ($496,608) $598,213 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grant and Contributions 

Services and Supplies 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  91 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

10.0 SAUSALITO-MARIN CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

10.1 OVERVIEW 
The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District (SMCSD) was established in 1950 as an independent 

special district under Section 6400 of the California State Government Code.  The District 

provides wastewater conveyance and treatment to the City of Sausalito by way of a 1953 

services agreement and wastewater collection, conveyance, and treatment to unincorporated 

areas, primarily the census-designated place of Marin City, within the District’s jurisdictional 

boundary.  Additionally, the District maintains contracts for wastewater conveyance and 

treatment service with the Tamalpais Community Services District and the National Park Service 

including Fort Baker, Fort Barry, Fort Cronkite, the Marine Mammal Center, and the Cavallo 

Point Resort.   

The District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses just under 3.4 square miles.  The last 

municipal service review that included the SMCSD was conducted in 2004. 

 

Table 10-1:  Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District Overview 

Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District 

Primary Contact: Jeffrey Kingston Phone: (415)-332-0244 

Mailing Address: 1 East Road, Sausalito, CA 94965 

Formation Date: 1950 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection, Conveyance, and Treatment 

Service Area: 2163 acres Population Served: ≈18,000 

 

10.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District was formed in 1950 out of a necessity to 

accommodate the influx of workers who had migrated to the area during World War II to work 

for the nearby Marinship Corporation building ships for the war effort.  By the late 1940s, the 

Marin City community area had seen an influx of approximately 6,000 newly arrived workers, 

and the community of Marin City was taking shape by way of the building of housing, churches, 

and schools.  The City of Sausalito also saw a nearly 40% growth in population from 1940 to 

1950.  The SMCSD treatment facility was constructed in 1953 at 1 East Road, just south of the 

jurisdictional boundary of the City of Sausalito, on land that was at that time under the 

jurisdiction of the United States Army.  The Army authorized the construction of the facility and 

an easement in 1953 that was updated in 1967 for a 50-year term to accommodate the facility’s 

secondary treatment upgrade project.  The area of the treatment facility, as well as other 

surrounding areas of Fort Baker and the Marin Headlands, had their easements transferred to the 



 

Marin LAFCo  92 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

National Park Service on March 10, 1986.  The District recently renewed its property lease 

agreement with the National Park Service which continues in effect through 2049.   

The original facility consisted of a primary treatment plant and a system of pump stations and 

lines.  A sludge dewatering facility was added in 1974.  The facility underwent a major 

renovation in 1987 in order to increase capacity needs and comply with state and federal 

regulatory requirements.  These upgrades included the addition of a secondary treatment with 

fixed film reactors on top of the new secondary sedimentation tanks.  Two contact tanks were 

constructed to improve the facility’s chlorination/dechlorination processes, and a sludge 

thickener and secondary digester were added to better manage the flow of solids.  Most recently, 

the District completed a major renovation of the facility in 2020 to address updated discharge 

regulations, better manage peak wet weather flows, and improve the treatment plant’s 

performance and reliability.  The upgrade increased the plant’s secondary treatment capacity to 9 

million gallons per day (MGD) and increased tertiary treatment capacity to 6 MGD. 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  93 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

10.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately 

3.4 square miles of both incorporated lands in the City of Sausalito as well as unincorporated 

Marin County.  Marin LAFCo has no record of changes in the District’s jurisdictional boundary. 

The District’s current jurisdictional boundary surrounds a census tract block group (Tract 1290, 

Block Group 1) that has been designated by Marin LAFCo as a disadvantaged unincorporated 

community (DUC) based on 2020 U.S. Census Bureau Redistricting Data.  A disadvantaged 

community is defined in Water Code Section 7905.5(a) as a community with an annual median 

household income of less than 80 percent of the statewide median household income.  The 

statutory definition of DUCs comes from Government Code Section 56033.5, which defines 

DUCs as “inhabited territory” that constitutes all or a portion of a disadvantaged community.  

“Inhabited territory” may be defined by Government Code Section 56046 as having at least 12 

registered voters, or it can be determined by “commission policy”.   

The District’s sphere of influence was established by Marin LAFCo in 1984 as being 

coterminous with its jurisdictional boundary.  The sphere was amended in 2005 to be an interim 

sphere of influence designation coterminous with the District’s existing jurisdictional boundary.  

The purpose of the interim designation was to “…express this Commission’s expectation that 

Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District will continue to provide service within its present 

boundaries while engaged in functional collaboration efforts with neighboring sewer agencies 

and that political consolidations should be evaluated by southern Marin sewer agencies in the 

future as appropriate.” 

10.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
 

The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District jurisdictional boundary encompasses the entirety of 

the jurisdictional boundary of the City of Sausalito as well as the census-designated place (CDP) 

of Marin City and another smaller area of unincorporated territory to the north of Sausalito 

(primarily floating homes). According to 2020 U.S. Census Redistricting Data, the population of 

the Marin City CDP is 2,993, which is approximately a 12% increase from the 2010 population 

number of 2,6661. The most recent census data shows the CDP to have 1,337 total housing units, 

with 34 of those units vacant. The remaining development potential in the planning area is 

minimal as current zoning regulations designated by the current Community Plan make the area 

essentially built out.  Since 2000, only 28 units have been added to the planning area, making the 

annual residential unit additions approximately 1.4 units per year.  According to 2020 U.S. 

Census Redistricting Data, the population of the City of Sausalito is 7,269, which is 

approximately a 2.9% increase from the 2010 population number of 7,061.  The City is shown to 

have 4,425 housing units, with 433 of those units being vacant.  The maximum development 

allowed by the current General Plan policies would give the City 5,134 dwelling units.  While 

SMCSD’s wastewater infrastructure has the capacity to support growth within the planning area 

that is beyond the planning area’s potential buildout2, minimal growth is projected in the area.  



 

Marin LAFCo  94 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

The District’s total equivalent dwelling units (EDU) served has only increased by a total of 13 

over the course of the study window (past five fiscal years). 

10.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

 

Wastewater Collection and Treatment 
SMCSD provides wastewater conveyance, treatment, and disposal to all residents and businesses 

within its jurisdictional boundary.  Although the City of Sausalito is within the District’s current 

boundary, the District provides sewer service to the City as well as operates and maintains the 

four pump stations owned by the City by way of a services agreement that was formed in 1953.  

The District also maintains agreements for conveyance and treatment service with the Tamalpais 

Community Services District and the National Parks Service including Fort Baker, Fort Barry, 

Fort Cronkhite, the Marine Mammal Center, and Cavallo Point Resort. The District has 

experienced zero sanitary sewer overflows in the past five years. 

In addition to the conveyance, treatment, and disposal provided to the other previously 

mentioned areas, the District provides collection services to the unincorporated areas within its 

jurisdictional boundary, primarily the census-designated place of Marin City.  The District 

oversees the operations, maintenance, and capital improvements of the sewer collection system 

in the unincorporated territory within its jurisdictional boundary, as well as the seven pump 

stations that it owns. The District engaged in a significant rehabilitation of that system in 2012, 

rehabilitating approximately 36% of the system in total.   

The District currently has 7,241 service equivalent dwelling units (EDU), with 5,728 of those 

consisting of residential EDU and 1,513 being commercial.  On July 8, 2019, the District 

updated its five-year sewer rate plan.  The charges for service fund the District’s operations and 

capital improvements.  The plan runs through FY 2023/24, at which time the District will engage 

in a new rate study and completion of the Proposition 218 process.  The current charges for 

annual sewer service and the supplementary charges for collections services to unincorporated 

residents can be seen in Table 10-2. 

 

In 2017, the District and the Tamalpais Community Services District (TCSD) had unresolved 

disputes over the interpretation of a number of terms and conditions contained within the two 

district’s 2013 services agreement which led to the filing of a complaint by SMCSD and a cross-

complaint by TCSD in the Marin County Superior Court.  On June 11, 2018, SMCSD and TCSD 

submitted their disputes to mediation.  The two agencies reached a settlement during the course 

of mediation of all the disputes that was ultimately agreed to by both of the district’s Board of 

Directors.  In February of 2020, both of the districts accepted the updated settlement agreements 

into an amended and restated agreement which supersedes and replaces the 2013 agreement that 

the districts had been operating under. 

 

In June of 2020, the District and the City of Sausalito completed a Phase 1 Feasibility Study by 

way of a contracted consulting firm to explore the possibility of consolidating the City’s 

collection services and infrastructure to the District.  The study ultimately recommended two 

options for the agencies:  formal consolidation or, as an alternative, an updating of the current 

service agreement with a potential expansion of the current scope of services.  Phase 2 of the 



 

Marin LAFCo  95 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

feasibility study, the Operational Plan, has also been completed.  Most recently on October 11th, 

a presentation by City staff (as well as the study’s consultant) presented at the Sausalito City 

Council Meeting and informed the Council that after the recent televising and review of the 

City’s collection system, it appears that the City’s collection system is in need of approximately 

$18 million in repairs.  With the City’s current revenue of $1.7 million annually, improvements 

can be accomplished over a 14-year period (not including possible inflation costs).  The 

information presented by the City was neither confirmed or agreed to by the District prior to 

presentation and both the cost and term of improvements need to be resolved prior to any further 

consolidation process.  The terms of the report and approach to consolidation are to be further 

evaluated as consolidation efforts proceed.  A joint committee of members from the City and the 

District is continuing to meet to consider the recommendations, with the hope that a final 

decision will be reached in the near future. 

 

 
Table 10-2:  SMCSD Sewer Service Charges for Conveyance and Treatment Only 

Customer 

Class 

FY 2019/20 FY 202/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24 

Single-

Family 

$866 $906 $942 $970 $999 

Multi 

Family 

$771 $793 $824 $849 $875 

Floating 

Homes 

$659 $683 $710 $731 $753 

Non-

Residential 

$866 $906 $942 $970 $999 

 
10-3:  SMCSD Collection Supplemental Charge for Unincorporated Areas (Additional to Conveyance) 

Customer 

Class 

FY 2019/20 FY 202/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24 

Single 

Family 

$192 $198 $220 $291 $387 

Multi 

Family 

$169 $174 $194 $256 $341 

Floating 

Homes 

$144 $148 $165 $218 $290 

Non-

Residential 

$192 $198 $220 $291 $387 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  96 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

10.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

Board of Directors 
The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District receives oversight and policy direction by way of a 

five-member board that is elected to staggered four-year terms with election cycles held in even-

numbered years.  All directors are required to be registered voters residing within the District’s 

jurisdictional boundary.  Over the course of the last 10 years (five Board of Directors election 

cycles), the District’s Board of Directors has experienced minimal turnover with a total of two 

new Board Members in that span with one being appointed by the Marin County Board of 

Supervisors.   

Table 10-4:  Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Dan Rheiner President December 2026 

William Ring Vice-President December 2024 

Ann Arnott Director December 2026 

Donald Beers Director December 2024 

James DeLano Director December 2026 

 

Administration 
The Board of Directors of SMCSD appoints the District’s General Manager who leads and 

manages the District’s day-to-day operations.  The General Manager conducts the day-to-day 

management of the District as specified by Board policy, and is supported administratively by a 

Board Secretary/Office Manager.  The General Manager also oversees the work of the 

Operations Superintendent, and District Engineer, who oversee a total of seven other employees.  

In total, the District currently employs 10 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees. 

10.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District makes a concerted effort to maintain high 

accountability and transparency with all its activities.  The SMCSD website 

(www.sausalitomarincitysanitarydistrict.com) provides extensive documentation and information 

on Board meetings, financial reports, services, history, contracts, sewer system management 

plan, and more.  At this time the District is meeting, if not exceeding, all the transparency 

requirements of special districts for the State of California. 

Meeting and Agendas 
The SMCSD Board of Directors meets regularly on the 1st Tuesday of each month at 12:00 p.m. 

by virtual meetings until further notice.  Special meetings are held as needed to go over specific 

topics.  Meeting agendas and minutes can be found on the SMCSD website 

(www.sausalitomarincitysanitarydistrict.com/about-us/board/agendas-and-minutes/). 

http://www.sausalitomarincitysanitarydistrict/
http://www.sausalitomarincitysanitarydistrict.com/about-us/board/agendas-and-minutes/


 

Marin LAFCo  97 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, typically adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year, provides 

overall control of revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line item basis and the 

means of financing them.  The General Manager presents financial reports to the Board every 

month to assure budgetary compliance. 

10.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
 

Over the course of the study window (past five fiscal years), SMCSD has maintained increases in 

total net position each year, with an average annual increase over that span of 4.46%.  Strictly 

operationally, the District’s revenues have outpaced expenditures in each of the past five fiscal 

years, by an annual average of approximately $2.4 million.  The average annual operating 

revenues for the District over the five-year period were $9,004,426.  The primary revenue 

sources for the District are sewer service charges (70%) and service contracts (23%) with 

property taxes supplementing the District’s total revenues at approximately 6%.  The primary 

annual operating expenses for SMCSD are salaries and benefits (60%), operations and 

maintenance (30%), and general and administrative costs (10%).  The projected total revenue for 

the District for fiscal year 2022-23 is $10,471,493.  A breakdown of the past five years of 

operational revenues and expenses can be seen below in Table 10-4. 

The District maintains fiscal reserve policies that were most recently updated by the Board of 

Directors in 2018.  The reserve policy takes a five-pronged approach to ensuring the multiple 

areas of the District are prepared for any sort of funding shortage.  The different reserves are as 

follows: 

• Operating – Provides working capital for operating expense cash flow during the year.  

Target balance threshold of six-months of annual operation and maintenance expenses.  

Minimum balance threshold equivalent to two months of annual operation and 

maintenance expenses.  Also funding to cover any restricted reserve obligations. 

• Capital – Provide capital for major capital projects in 10-year capital program.  Target 

balance threshold equivalent to 1.5 times the average annual 10-year CIP expense.  

Includes debt service payments.  Minimum balance threshold equivalent to funding to 

cover the 10-year capital improvement program debt service and other restricted reserve 

obligations. 

• Repair and Replacement – Provide capital for renewal and replacement of equipment and 

appurtenances assets.  Target balance threshold of two-years annual renewal replacement 

costs.  Minimum balance threshold equivalent to one-year of average annual renewal and 

replacement costs. 

• Disaster Recovery – Provide additional capital funding for emergency recovery until 

long-term funding is arranged from rate increases, loan, or debt.  Target balance threshold 

of one-year of average annual 10-year capital improvement program cash-funded capital 

expense.  Minimum balance threshold of $1,250,000. 



 

Marin LAFCo  98 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Self-Insurance and Deductible – Provide funding for the deductibles of the various 

insurance policies carried by the District.  Target balance threshold of $100,000 to be 

adjusted if there are changes to policy coverages or deductibles.  Minimum balance 

threshold of $100,000. 

Table 10-5:  SMCSD Operating Revenues and Expenditures 

Operating 

Revenue 
FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 

Average

s 

Service 

Charges 
$6,081,006 $6,284,135 $6,386,328 $6,530,609 $6,762,935 $6,409,003 

TCSD 

Service 

Contract 

$1,648,912 $2,409,451 $2,893,082 $2,107,451 $2,201,773 $2,252,134 

NPS Service 

Charges 
$158,683 $263,569    $84,450 

Sausalito 

Service 

Contract 

$78,820 $367,710 $102,851 $116,347 $228,568 $178,859 

Other 

Operating 

Revenues 

$2,845 $1,621 $79,438 $212,822 $132,176 $85,780 

Total $7,970,266 $9,315,486 $9,443,699 $8,967,229 $9,325,452 $9,004,420 

 

Operating 

Expenses 
FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 Averages 

Salaries and 

Benefits 
$2,737,082 $2,540,801 $2,431,730 $2,697,454 $2,860,733 

$2,653,56

0 

Plant 

Operations 
$647,082 $799,129 $817,482 $827,007 $856,276 $789,395 

Repairs and 

Maintenance 
$298,194 $242,886 $91,896 $81,246 $70,856 $157,016 

Permit Testing 

and 

Monitoring 

$54,394 $53,508 $68,430 $57,587 $66,851 $60,154 

Depreciation 

and 

Amortization 

$2,133,667 $2,190,449 $2,194,231 $2,178,260 $3,034,449 
$2,346,21

1 

Utilities and 

Telephone 
$306,826 $277,659 $302,514 $292,176 $332,585 $302,352 

General 

Administrativ

e 

$292,756 $387,363 $298,923 $199,017 $330,145 $301,641 

Total $6,470,016 $6,491,795 $6,205,206 $6,332,747 $7,551,895 
$6,610,33

2 

 

Debt 
As of June 30, 2021, SMCSD was carrying $38,910,150 in long-term liabilities.  This amount is 

inclusive of net pension and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liabilities as well as 

Averages 



 

Marin LAFCo  99 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

compensated absences.  During the fiscal year 2020/21, the District paid off two long-term 

liabilities in full.  The first was to the State Water Resource Control Board which was originally 

agreed to in August of 2011 to finance the Locust Street Pump Station Improvements project.  The 

second was to City National Bank which was originally agreed upon in April of 2008 for the 

acquisition and construction of wastewater system improvements.  The sources of the District's 

remaining long-term liabilities are outlined below. 

• 2017 Revenue Bonds -  In April of 2017, the District issued $33,630,000 in Series 2017 

Revenue Bonds through the Marin Public Financing Authority.  The bonds were issued to 

provide funds to finance capital improvements to the District’s wastewater system and to 

provide a debt service reserve for the bonds, which may be funded through the deposit of 

a reserve surety, and to pay the costs of issuing the bonds.  The bonds carry an interest rate 

ranging from 3.0% - 4.0% and are expected to be fully repaid in 2046. 

• Net Pension Liability - The SMCSD provides a pension plan for employees and is part of 

the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides 

retirement, disability, and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and 

final compensation.  As of June 30, 2021, the SMCSD’s Net Pension Liability was 

$3,893,670.  The SMCSD’s pension-funded ratio is approximately 79%. 

• Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) – SMCSD provides other post-employment 

benefits to its retirees.  As of June 30, 2021, the District carried a Net OPEB liability of 

$912,949.  There are 24 total employees, both active and inactive, within the District’s 

OPEB plan. 

• Compensated Absences – The District provides its employees with different forms of paid 

leave.  As of June 30, 2021, the total liability of the District’s compensated absences totaled 

$161,221. 

Financial Audit 
The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District annually has its financial statements audited and 

contracts with an outside accounting firm, Chavan and Associates, LLP.  The most recent 

audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.   

10.9 SUSTAINABILITY 
 

Local agencies such as the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District play a critical role in protecting 

natural resources and the environment.  Extended periods of drought and increasingly 

unpredictable climate patterns have significantly increased the importance for local agencies to 

step up their own conservation and long-term planning measures as well as making a concerted 

effort towards higher levels of public outreach. 

SMCSD operates its wastewater treatment facilities with a focus on long-term planning and 

programs designed to safeguard the local environment.  The District’s proactive approach to both 

regular maintenance as well as capital improvements helps to ensure the minimization of 

opportunities for any instance of sanitary sewer overflows.  These efforts have aided the District 

in recording zero sanitary sewer overflows over the course of the study window. 



 

Marin LAFCo  100 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

11.0 COUNTY SERVICE AREA 14 
 

11.1 OVERVIEW 
 

Marin County Service Area 14 (CSA 14) is a dependent special district that provides parks and 

recreation services as well as open space management to the unincorporated community of 

Homestead Valley.  The CSA is funded by a special assessment that was approved by the voters 

within the District’s boundary in 2009 (Measure A) as well as an apportionment of the ad 

valorem within the jurisdictional boundary.  The revenues accrued by the assessment are split 

between two local non-profits, The Homestead Valley Community Association (HVCA) and the 

Homestead Valley Land Trust (HVLT), with 60% going to HVCA for maintenance and 

improvements to its Community Center and 40% going to HVLT for wildland fire hazard 

reduction projects, ongoing vegetation management, trail maintenance, and trail improvements to 

open space areas, and park improvements to Three Groves and Stolte Grove.  CSA 14 has a local 

advisory board that advises the Marin County Parks Department and the Marin County Board of 

Supervisors on all matters relating to its services in the CSA. 

Table 11-1:  County Service Area 14 Overview 

County Service Area 14 Overview 

Primary Contact: Jim Chayka, Superintendent Marin County Parks 

Main Office: 3501 Civic Center Drive, Suite 260 San Rafael, CA  

Contact Information: (415)-473-3639 

Formation Date: December 12, 1967 

Services Provided Parks & Recreation, Open Space Management 

 

11.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Marin County Service Area (CSA) 14 was formed on December 12, 1967, by way of the 

adoption of Resolution 9445 by the Marin County Board of Supervisors.  The CSA was formed 

with the intention of preserving and maintaining the open space within the District’s 

jurisdictional boundary.  In the mid-1960s, there was a push by a private developer to develop a 

large apportionment of the land in the southern Marin Headlands.  The proposed development, 

known as Marincello, was originally designed to form a new city in Marin County that would 

house upwards of 150,000 residents.  Ultimately the development failed after multiple lawsuits 

as well as local protests.  The land was eventually sold to the Nature Conservancy in 1972 for the 

newly established Golden Gate National Recreation Area.   

With this attempt at large-scale development happening right in their backyard, the residents of 

Homestead Valley were eager to protect the natural environment surrounding their small 

community, so a group petitioned the Marin County Supervisors and in December of 1967, CSA 



 

Marin LAFCo  101 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

14 was formed with the activated powers of parks and open space maintenance.  On September 

18, 1973, the voters within the CSA’s boundary passed a $600,000 bond measure to purchase 

approximately 80 acres of land in conjunction with Marin County and the Trust for Public Land 

with a significant amount bordering the Golden Gate National Recreation Area.  The Homestead 

Valley Community Association sold Brown’s Hall on Miller Avenue, and with matching funds 

from Marin County, the site of the current Homestead Valley Community Center was purchased.  

Local residents also donated additional parcels of land, bringing the total to approximately 85 

acres.  After the purchase, all of the lands were deeded to the Marin County Open Space District.  

In 1974 the Homestead Valley Land Trust was formed in conjunction with CSA 14 and the 

County of Marin and the entity became the caretaker of the open space and parklands in 

Homestead Valley.   

On September 28, 1976, the Homestead Valley Community Association entered into an 

agreement with the County of Marin to provide recreation programming in Homestead Valley.  

This agreement was updated in June of 1984.  The agreement leases the Community Center to 

HVCA for $1.00.  In return, the HVCA is charged with the recruitment, hiring, supervision, and 

pay of a Program Director for the Community Center and its programs.  The HVCA also agrees 

to develop recreation programming, as well as provide supervision and maintenance for both the 

pool located at the Community Center, as well as the Community Center itself.   

In 1993, the voters within CSA 14 approved another bond measure totaling $300,000 to provide 

improvements to the Community Center.  These bonds were paid off in 2001.  In 2009, the CSA 

voters approved a parcel tax measure, Measure A, to maintain open space, reduce wildland fire 

hazards, maintain and improve trails and parks, and renovate and update the Community Center.  

The tax is levied on every improved parcel within the CSA’s boundary (952 parcels in total) for 

$125 annually with an annual inflation increase of 2% with an agreed upon 60% of the proceeds 

going to HVCA and 40% of the proceeds towards HVLT projects.  The tax has no sunset.   

In 2011, the County of Marin on behalf of CSA 14 agreed to a loan in the amount of $925,000 to 

fund needed updates and renovations to the Community Center with the loan being serviced from 

the Measure A tax.  In 2013, the Community Center underwent a $1.2 million renovation 

including a new foundation.  In 2020, Marin County arranged a combination of new financing as 

well as refinancing for the remaining balance on the 2011 financing (approximately $545,487 at 

that time) for a total amount of $1,339,000 to fund improvements to the Community Center Pool.  

In 2021, the Board of Supervisors approved an amendment to the financing amount due to 

additional costs to the project which updated the principal amount to $1,417,475.  The loan is 

serviced through Westamerica Bank for a term of 19.5 years at a fixed interest rate of 2.85%.  

The renovation was completed in 2022 and includes a new saltwater filtration system, patio, and 

changing rooms, among other updates. 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  102 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

11.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

Marin County Service Area 14’s service boundary, which currently encompasses just under 472 

acres (0.74 square miles), includes the entire unincorporated community of Homestead Valley.  

Approximately 40% of its jurisdictional boundary is contiguous with the City of Mill Valley.  

The District’s sphere of influence is coterminous with its jurisdictional boundary.  The sphere of 

influence was originally established by Marin LAFCo in 1983, with the Commission expecting 

the CSA to eventually be annexed by the City of Mill Valley.  The sphere of influence has not 

been amended since its original establishment.   

 

11.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
 

CSA 14’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses the unincorporated community of Homestead 

Valley which makes up an apportionment of the census-designated place (CDP) of Tamalpais-

Homestead Valley.  According to 2020 U.S. Census Redistricting Data, the population of the 

Tamalpais-Homestead CDP is 11,492, which is approximately a 7% increase from the 2010 

population number of 10,7353. The most recent census data shows the CDP to have 4,678 total 



 

Marin LAFCo  103 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

housing units, with 218 of those units vacant. The remaining development potential in the 

planning area is minimal as current zoning regulations designated by the Community Plan make 

the area essentially built out.  While the U.S. Census Bureau does not directly recognize the 

community of Homestead Valley, block group two within Marin County census tract 1282 

approximately encompasses it.  The population for the block group according to 2020 U.S. 

Census data is 2,222. 

11.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
 

Parks and Recreation 
As an extension of the County of Marin, CSA 14 has a written agreement with the Homestead 

Valley Community Association.  In exchange for the County of Marin leasing the Community 

Center to HVCA for the charge of $1.00, the HVCA agrees to provide the following services: 

1. Recruit, hire, supervise, and pay a Director for the Community Center and its programs; 

2. Develop a comprehensive recreation program to be operated at the Community Center, 

the Homestead Elementary School, and such other sites as the parties mutually upon; 

3. Provide Supervision and maintenance for the pool located at the Community center; 

4. Provide security and maintenance for the Community Center building and grounds. 

In accordance with this agreement, the HVCA (by way of CSA 14 funding) provides the 

community of Homestead Valley with a wide array of community recreation programs for all 

ages year-round.  The organization also hosts multiple community events throughout the year as 

well as an annual music festival.  The HVCA makes multiple areas of the Community Center 

facility as well as the pool available for private party rental. 

Open Space Management 
Since its formation in 1974, the Homestead Valley Land Trust has been the custodian of the 

county-owned open space and parklands within CSA 14.  In December of 2013, HVLT and the 

County of Marin executed a memorandum of agreement that helped to more clearly define the 

roles and responsibilities for the management of those lands.  The agreement is in place for 10 

years, with an update set to be discussed in the coming fiscal year.  The agreement also 

facilitated the implementation of a Land Management Plan (LMP) specific to Homestead Valley.  

The LMP was adopted in 2014 and provides a comprehensive list of land management actions as 

well as procedures for prioritizing land management actions and developing annual work plans.   

The HVLT is active throughout the CSA 14 boundary in numerous functions such as (but not 

limited to) the following: 

• Fire fuel mitigation (including residential efforts such as chipper day programs and 

neighborhood debris boxes); 

• Servicing local trails; 

• Contracting tree professionals; 

• Maintenance of the community’s three parks: Stolte Grove, Three Groves, and Volunteer 

Park; 



 

Marin LAFCo  104 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

• Mitigation of invasive and non-native plants 

In 2020, the HVLT created a detailed map of the trails in and around the community of 

Homestead Valley in order to better educate residents on all of the opportunities afforded to them 

by all of the efforts of those involved in CSA 14.  The map can be seen below in Figure 11-1. 

 

Figure 11-1: Homestead Valley Trail Map 

 

11.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

Board of Supervisors 
As a dependent special district, the Marin County Board of Supervisors serves as the CSA’s 

governing body.  The five-member Board of Supervisors meets the second and fourth Tuesday 

every month at 9:00 am in the County of Marin Civic Building located at 3501 Civic Center 

Drive, Suite 260 in San Rafael.  The Board of Supervisors determines policy, adopts annual 

budgets, fixes salaries, and is responsible for overseeing mandated district functions as carried 

out by various county departments.  



 

Marin LAFCo  105 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

CSA 14 also has a local advisory board that is comprised of members who reside within the 

CSA’s boundaries.  The advisory board is made up of seven members, four of whom are 

appointed by the Marin County Department of Parks and Open Space, one of whom is appointed 

by the Homestead Valley Sanitary District, one member appointed by the Homestead Valley 

Community Association, and one member appointed by the Homestead Valley Land Trust.  The 

Board acts in an advisory capacity to Marin County Parks staff and the Board of Supervisors on 

matters relating to projects and programs that can be conducted with funding from the CSA 14 

budget and that affect county land contained within the boundaries of CSA 14.  The Advisory 

board typically meets twice a year, unless there is a need to schedule a special meeting for more 

urgent matters, with the first meeting generally on the third Thursday of February and the second 

meeting on the third Thursday of September.  Advisory Board meetings are typically held at the 

Homestead Valley Community Center at 315 Montford Avenue in Mill Valley. 

Table 11-2:  Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Katie Rice Supervisor January 2, 2025 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters President January 2, 2025 

Dennis Rodoni Vice President January 2, 2025 

Eric Lucan Supervisor January 2, 2027 

Mary Sackett 2nd Vice President January 2, 2027 

Table 11-3: CSA 14 Advisory Board 

Member 

Alan Cowan 

Andy Stoelting 

Devi Brown 

Brian Spring 

Leslie Dixon 

Marabeth Grahame 

Al Wuthnow 

 

Staffing and District Operations 
As a dependent district of the County, all administrative services are provided by County 

departments, including legal counsel and compilation of financial transaction reports for the State 

Controller’s Office required under Government Code Section 53891.  CSA 14 is provided general 

oversight and management by the Marin County Parks Department with input and project guidance 

from the CSA 14 Advisory Board. 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  106 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

11.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

When conducting service reviews, LAFCo considers an agency’s accountability for community 

service needs, including governmental structure, operational efficiencies, financial resources, and 

promoting public access.  Currently, while both the Homestead Valley Community Association 

and the Homestead Valley Land Trust each have their own websites that offer information on 

each of the entities, there is no dedicated page for CSA 14 itself (as is the case with multiple 

other CSAs in Marin County).  As such, information such as meeting agendas and minutes is 

difficult to come by without a direct request for them to Marin County staff.  While the County 

does offer a page within its own website that offers two links to different PDFs for information 

on special districts within Marin County, information on many of the CSAs is sparse, and the 

contact information listed is very dated, with all of the CSAs directing the public to Marin 

LAFCo’s former web address that is no longer active.  With that said, a number of the other 

CSAs that are under the umbrella of Marin County Parks offer a significant amount of 

information on the CSAs and their advisory boards within the Marin County Parks website.  The 

HVCA has its Board meeting minutes posted on its website, however, the most recent posts are 

from October of 2021.  The HVLT does not have meeting agendas or minutes available on its 

site.  

11.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
 

The funding for CSA 14’s annual operating budget has two primary sources of annual revenue 

for the District.  The first source is the voter-approved tax assessment, Measure A, which levies 

$125 per parcel per year in the District’s service area.  The second source of revenue is the ad 

valorem property tax the District collects annually as well as the small amount of excess ERAF 

tax.  Each of these sources produces approximately $225,000 in revenue annually.  The District’s 

combined total projected revenues for FY 2022-23 are $448,446.  The HVLT and HVCA each 

present annual expenditure budgets to the CSA for review around February of each year.  After 

review, the budget is submitted to the Board of Supervisors for approval.  A breakdown of CSA 

14’s Measure A revenues and expenditures for the past 13 years as well as an estimate of the 

non-Measure A fund balance can be seen below in Figure 11-2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  107 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 11-2:  CSA 14 Measure A Data 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  108 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

12.0 FLOOD CONTROL ZONE NO. 3 
 

12.1 OVERVIEW 
 

Flood Control Zone No. 3 (FCZ 3) is an area of the greater Marin County Flood Control and 

Water Conservation District that encompasses approximately 13.3 square miles surrounding 

Richardson Bay.  The zone includes the City of Mill Valley as well as the unincorporated 

communities of Marin City, Alto, Sutton Manor, Almonte, Tamalpais Valley, Homestead Valley, 

and a majority of the community of Strawberry.  The boundaries of FCZ 3 were formed by the 

Marin County Flood Control and Water Conservation District and approved by the Board of 

Supervisors.  The Zone was established in 1956 in an effort to address the impacts of flooding in 

the area tributary to the upper end of Richardson Bay.   

 

Flood Control Zone 3 

Primary Contact: Hannah Lee, Senior Civil 

Engineer 

Phone (415)-473-2671 

Main Office: 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael 

Formation Date: April 17, 1956 

Services Provided: Reduce flood risk within its boundaries 

Service Area: 8,535 acres 

Population Served: ≈34,000 

 

12.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
The Marin County Flood Control and Water Conservation District was established in 1953 by 

the State Legislature through the Marin County Flood Control and Water Conservation District 

Act. The boundaries of the District coincide with the County’s boundaries, with the exception of 

the Town of Corte Madera not being included in the District.  Within the District, several flood 

control zones have been created which are located principally in populated areas.  The zones 

raise money through property taxes and assessment overrides.  The zones fund their own flood 

control projects and contribute funds to the central administration of the Flood Control District.  

Funds raised within any particular zone may only be spent on efforts within that zone.  Flood 

Control Zone 3 was formed on April 17th, 1956, in an effort to minimize the impacts of flooding 

events in a large apportionment of the Richardson Bay Watershed.   

 

Since its formation, the Zone has annually performed impactful maintenance and larger-scale 

projects within its boundary, with some of the most impactful being the construction of pump 

stations at Cardinal Road, Marin Avenue, Shoreline Highway at Coyote Creek, and Ryan Creek.  

In addition to the significant infrastructure additions and maintenance work throughout the 

Zone, the District has been instrumental in a number of critical regional studies and planning 



 

Marin LAFCo  109 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

documents, many of which have led to significant project work, that have been both completed 

previously and some that are currently in progress.  These studies/documents include (but are 

not limited to): 

 

• Marin City Comprehensive Watershed and Flood Mitigation Plan 

• Marin City Pond Flood Reduction Project 

• Manzanita Area Flood Reduction Study 

• Richardson Bay Shoreline Study 

• Southern Marin Watershed Guide 

• Coyote Creek Levee Evaluation Geotechnical Report 

• Coyote Creek to Bothin Marsh Dredge Sediment Beneficial Reuse Feasibility Study 

• Mill Valley Flood Management and Storm Drain Master Plan 
 

12.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
 

FCZ 3’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately 8,535 acres (13.3 square miles).  

The Zone encompasses the entirety of the City of Mill Valley, as well as the unincorporated 

communities of Marin City, Alto, Sutton Manor, Almonte, Tamalpais Valley, Homestead Valley, 

and a majority of the community of Strawberry.  Within the jurisdictional boundary lies the sub-

watersheds of the Arroyo Corte Madera del Presidio, Ryan Creek, Sutton 

Manor/Alto/Strawberry, Marin City, and Coyote Creek, each draining to the Richardson Bay.  

FCZ 3’s sphere of influence is coterminous with its jurisdictional boundary.  



 

Marin LAFCo  110 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

12.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
 

Flood Control Zone 3 encompasses the City of Mill Valley as well as the unincorporated 

communities of Marin City, Alto, Sutton Manor, Almonte, Tamalpais Valley, Homestead Valley, 

and a majority of the community of Strawberry. According to the 2020 U.S. Census, the 

population of the City of Mill Valley is 14,231.  The City is essentially built out at this time, with 

few remaining vacant lots zoned for development that have not already been given a prospective 

project designation.  The census-designated place (CDP) of Marin City has a current population 

of 2,993.  Based on the current zoning within the Community Plan, the CDP is primarily built 

out at this time.  The CDP of Tamalpais-Homestead Valley encompasses the unincorporated 

communities of Tamalpais Valley, Homestead Valley, Almonte, and Sutton Manor.  According 

to the 2020 Census, the population of the CDP is 11,492.  The remaining development potential 

within the CDP is minimal as current zoning within the Community Plan makes the CDP 

essentially built out at this time.  The CDP of Strawberry has a population of 5,447.  While there 

is still some room for development in the northern pocket of the CDP, the majority of the 

community is essentially built out and shows little growth potential. 



 

Marin LAFCo  111 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

12.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
 
FCZ 3 provides a myriad of flood abatement services within its jurisdictional boundary.  These 

services include (but are not limited to): 

• Regular servicing of 13 pumps at five pump stations 

• Maintenance of 1.3 miles of flood protection levees 

• Maintenance of tide gates and trash racks 

• Annual vegetation maintenance program along three miles of creek 

• Periodic dredging of lower Coyote Creek to remove accumulated sediment in the 

concrete channel to improve flow conveyance 

The Zone operates four pump stations:  Ryan Creek pump station, Shoreline pump station, 

Cardinal Road pump station, and Crest Marin pump station.  Within the Mill Valley city limits, 

the City and Zone 3 share some responsibilities for flood abatement.  The City operates one 

pump station and numerous tide gates, and partners with the Zone in some of the creek 

maintenance efforts.  The City also provides regular roadway and drain inspections.  The area 

within the Zone includes the entirety or portions of the Coyote Creek Watershed, the Arroyo 

Corte Madera del Presidio Watershed, the Ryan Creek Watershed, the Sutton 

Manor/Alto/Strawberry Watershed, and the Marin City Watershed.  Each of the watersheds 

contains unique topography and hydrological resources that present a multitude of challenges in 

the flood control efforts throughout the area.  A description of each of these distinctive watershed 

areas is given below along with some of the broader issues the District faces in the area in its 

flood control efforts. 

Ryan Creek Watershed – Ryan Creek flows only after storms and winds through a multitude of 

ditches, culverts, and pipes in the neighborhood south of Blithedale Avenue and east of Camino 

Alto in Mill Valley.  Downstream of Nelson Avenue, Ryan Creek conveys flows in an open 

channel which is interrupted by short culverted sections at Camino Alto and two pathways at the 

Mill Valley Middle School.  At the edge of the school, stormwater enters the intake of the Ryan 

Creek Pump Station where it is pumped into Richardson Bay.  A concrete tidal barrier wall at the 

pump station equipped with a manually operated tide gate regulates tides within the creek. The 

watershed is impacted by the lack of extensive storm drains to move stormwater which results in 

ponding and, during intense rainfall, uncontrolled runoff flowing down gutters and streets.  

Additionally, some storm drain outfalls in areas of the creek are not equipped with tide gates 

making some low-lying areas upstream of these outfalls susceptible to tidal flooding.   

Sutton Manor/Alto/Strawberry Watershed – A majority of the Sutton Manor/Alto/Strawberry 

Watershed lies within Zone 3’s jurisdictional boundary.  The watershed includes the Sutton 

Manor Creek Watershed and lands on the Strawberry Peninsula that drain directly through very 

small drainages into Richardson Bay.  In addition to the street drainage system, major drainage 

facilities include a series of both earthen and concrete-lined open channels, pipes, culverts, and a 

wetland retention facility.  Flows upstream of Ashford Avenue concentrate in a T-shaped ditch, 

then flow into a concrete-lined channel that discharges into a marsh adjacent to Hauke Park.  The 

area is faced with a storm drain system that is undersized and easily overwhelmed by storm 



 

Marin LAFCo  112 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

runoff.  Isolated ponding occurs in areas that are lacking storm drains, and extreme high tides can 

inundate roadways, trails, and parking lots along the Richardson Bay shoreline.   

Marin City Watershed – The Marin City watershed is the southernmost watershed and consists 

mostly of the unincorporated community of Marin City with the National Park Service owning 

most of the upper watershed and the lower watershed is a mix of housing and commercial 

development.  Small channels drain down the hillsides to the valley floor where they meet the 

developed areas and enter underground storm drain pipes which converge in a small marsh 

known as the Marin City Pond.  Water levels in the pond can be manipulated by a manually 

controlled tide gate that drains into Richardson Bay.  A second tide gate on the southeast side of 

the marsh controls drainage between the marsh and the Highway 101 off-ramp.   Often times the 

Marin City Pond’s stormwater drainage can be limited by high tides.  Additionally, the areas in 

the lower watershed are former tidal marshes and have subsided which inhibits draining, and 

causes localized ponding.  Finally, while the trash racks in small channels collect debris which 

helps to reduce blockage of downstream pipes, the debris caught can block flow and flood the 

surrounding areas if there is a lack of regular debris cleaning, inspection, and maintenance.  This 

has posed a consistent issue with the channel, trash rack, and stormwater drain residing outside 

of the public right-of-way. 

Coyote Creek Watershed – The Coyote and Nyhan Creeks collect and convey stormwater 

runoff from the steep areas in the upper watershed through to the valley floor and join 

approximately a half mile from the Richardson Bay in a lowland area that was formerly a tidal 

marsh.  This area is home to the Coyote Creek Flood Control Project, which was an effort to 

reduce frequent flooding by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers that was completed in the 1960s.  

The project involved the construction of a concrete channel and earthen levee.  This channel and 

levees area now the District’s responsibility for ongoing operation and maintenance.  In the 

1970s and 1980s, the addition of stormwater pump stations and floodwalls also helped to reduce 

flooding frequency.  Within this watershed the flood control facilities require frequent 

maintenance to address the continued settlement of the levees, aging culverts and floodwalls, 

impeding vegetation, and sediment accumulation.  Additionally, high tides regularly flood the 

area east of Shoreline Highway.  While the original Coyote Creek Flood Control Project 

extended downstream past Shoreline Highway, the development of the lands behind the levees 

was never realized and the majority of the levee was not maintained to its original design 

elevation.  This subsequent tidal flooding consistently leads to the closure of the Shoreline 

Highway, Manzanita Park-and-Ride lot, and the Mill Valley-Sausalito Pathway. 

Arroyo Corte Madera del Presidio Watershed – The Arroyo Corte Madera del Presidio 

watershed collects and drains from the peak of Mount Tamalpais to the Pickleweed Inlet on 

Richardson Bay.  The Cascade Creek, Old Mill Creek, Reed Creek, Warner Canyon Creek, and 

Arroyo Corte Madera del Presidio Creek (ACMPC) all flow within this area.  The ACMPC can 

spill over its banks at relatively low flows, causing flooding of homes and businesses several 

times over the past century.  With a large apportionment of the area having undersized storm 

drains and debris-choked pipes in combination with the differential settlement of inlets and 



 

Marin LAFCo  113 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

pipes, stormwater overflow throughout the watershed is a consistent issue.  Finally, extreme high 

tides can frequently inundate low-lying areas near the shoreline.   

 

12.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Flood Control Zone 3 was formed as a part of the dependent special district of the Marin County 

Flood Control and Water Conservation District with the Marin County Board of Supervisors as 

its governing body.  County Supervisors are elected to four-year terms of office, with no term 

limits.  The members are elected by district and they are required to live in the district they 

represent.  The Board serves as the legislative and executive body of Marin County.   

Table 12-2:  Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Member Position Current Term 

Katie Rice Supervisor Expires January 2025 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters President Expires January 2025 

Dennis Rodoni  Vice-President Expires January 2025 

Eric Lucan Supervisor Expires January 2027 

Mary Sackett 2nd Vice President Expires January 2027 

 

Advisory Board 
The FCZ 3 Advisory Board consists of seven members that are residents within the zone’s 

jurisdictional boundary and are appointed by the Board of Supervisors.  Members serve four-year 

terms.  The Board holds an annual meeting on the third Thursday of March.  At the annual 

meeting, the Advisory Board and the District Engineer schedule additional regular meetings to 

be held throughout the year and as the date approaches if there is no business to be conducted, 

the meeting can be canceled by the Engineer by noticing the Advisory Board and providing a 

written update on the Zone activities. Special meetings may be called by the District Engineer as 

well as at the request of the Advisory Board president when needs dictate such actions.  Current 

advisory board members can be seen below in Table 12-3. 

Table 12-3: Flood Control Zone 3 Advisory Board 

Member Position 

Garry Lion Chair 

Kevin Conger Vice-Chair 

Terrie Green Member 

John McCauley Member 

Charles Oldenburg Member 

Janice Bosenko Member 

Kim Rago Member 



 

Marin LAFCo  114 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Staffing and District Operations 
As a dependent district of the County, all administrative services are provided by County 

departments, including legal counsel and compilation of financial transaction reports for the 

State Controller’s Office required under Government Code Section 53891. 

12.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

Meeting and Agendas 
Advisory Board meetings are held annually on the third Thursday of March as well as any 

additional meetings that are deemed necessary by the District Engineer or the Board Chair.  

Advisory Board meeting notices are posted in three public places.  Meeting notices and meeting 

documents are posted on the District’s website (marinflooddistrict.org).  The meeting date, time, 

and location are posted on the Marin County Flood Control District website.  Also posted on the 

website are agendas, staff reports, and prior meeting minutes.  The most recent meeting was on 

April 13, 2022. 

Annual Budget Review 
FCZ 3 posts draft budgets on the Marin County Flood Control District website as part of the 

advisory board meeting packet materials.  The proposed baseline budget is reviewed by the 

Advisory Board at its annual meeting in March and then presented to the Board of Supervisors 

for adoption.  The baseline budgets are within the Final Budget for the County of Marin.  

Starting in FY 2020-2021 the County Administrator, consistent with other funds they oversee, 

requested a baseline budget to start out the fiscal year and for the budget to be adjusted 

throughout the year for major project expenses as contracts are approved by the District Board of 

Supervisors. This means the advisory board will review an expenditure plan for the upcoming 

fiscal year and that the baseline budget submitted to the District Board will be adjusted as 

contracts are awarded for design and implementation. The FCZ is included in the County of 

Marin Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as a line item under Public Protection of the 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule. 

12.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 
 

Annual operations for Flood Control Zone 3 are funded in their entirety by the ad valorem it 

receives from properties within its jurisdictional boundary.  The annual tax revenue for the Zone 

is approximately $2.3 million for FY 2022-23.  The Zone also receives grant funding when 

applicable to help supplement the expenditures of large projects and capital improvements within 

the zone.  Expenditures for large projects that exceed annual revenues and grant funding are 

budgeted with the Zone’s total fund balance.  The projected fund balance for the end of FY 

2022-23 is $7,323,058.  The baseline budget for FCZ 3 for FY 2022-23 and 2023-24 can be seen 

below in figure 12-1. 

 

 

file:///C:/Users/jeren/OneDrive/Desktop/marinwatersheds.org


 

Marin LAFCo  115 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

Figure 12-1:  FCZ 3 Baseline Budget Detail 

 

12.9 SUSTAINABILITY 
 

Local agencies play a critical role in protecting natural resources and the environment through 

land conservation, water recycling, preserving open space, and renewable energy projects. FCZ 

3’s purpose is to reduce the risk of flooding for the protection of life and property while 

utilizing sustainable practices. The work within the Zone to date has both endeavored to 

combat seasonal flooding as well as looking to the future and the impacts of climate change in 

the area.  A myriad of assets within the region are regularly impacted by localized flooding and 

stand to be vulnerable to sea level rise in the future, including regional transportation on US-

101 and SR-1 at the Manzanita and Marin City interchanges.  Flooding in this area impacts not 

just the local community and residents’ ability to commute and even access their homes, it also 

critically limits north-south connections for all of Marin County and the Northern Bay Area as 

a whole.   



 

Marin LAFCo  116 Golden Gate Corridor Region  

Public Draft  January 2023 

 

While the Zone has been proactive in flood prevention infrastructure since its formation, with 

sea level rise, the gravity drainage system will become less effective and the pumping system 

may need to be expanded in addition to other regional mitigation efforts.  A rising bay tide 

level also makes direct coastal flooding more difficult and costly to manage, ultimately 

requiring longer and higher coastal barriers and drainage systems behind the barriers.  Multiple 

sea level rise models show the significant impacts of 12” sea level rise to shoreline areas as 

well as 36” sea level rise to multiple communities within the Zone which would have severe 

consequences to a projected 889 parcels in the area with a combined land value of just under 

$737.5 million.1  The continued work within the Zone is both endeavoring to prevent next 

winter’s creeks from overflowing their banks as well as planning mitigation efforts that will 

protect these low-lying communities and the sensitive ecological habitats that surround them in 

10, 25, and even 50 years from now.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley 

 

Lew Kious, Chair 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Sanitary District 
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  
County of Marin 

 
 
 

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Item No. 5 (Business) 
 
TO:   Local Agency Formation Commission  
  
FROM:   Jason Fried, Executive Officer  
   
SUBJECT:  Discussion of Return to In-Person Commission Meetings and Future Location of Those 

Meetings 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background  
 
Since 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic the State created some special rules that pertained to meeting 
locations and noticing of those meetings.  These rules have allowed us to meet using Zoom like we are 
doing today.  Those rules are set to expire at the end of this month.  There are three issues staff would like 
to have the Commission discuss to help staff prepare for the April meeting which will be in person. 
 
First, we will need to return to in-person meetings but the State added the ability for agencies to decide if 
they want to run hybrid meetings where the members of the body need to be in person, with a couple of 
exemptions, but allow the public to attend either in person or remotely.  In some cases, other bodies have 
found more members of the public attending and participating in the meetings when remote access was 
allowed so have chosen to do hybrid meetings.  Staff can only think of 2 people who attended our meetings 
that likely would not have attended an in-person meeting because they had an item on the agenda they 
wished to speak to.  Both of those people happen to be staff to other LAFCos interested in something on 
our agenda.  The amount of work and oversight to have remote access would add to the staff workload 
during a Commission meeting.  It is staff’s opinion that while a nice option to offer the amount of work 
needed to run a hybrid meeting compared to the number of members of the public who would utilize the 
hybrid service would not warrant the need to set up a hybrid meeting system.  The Commission should 
discuss if it wants to have hybrid or just in-person meetings moving forward. 
 
Second, the issue LAFCo faces is our board is larger than most other government agencies so finding a place 
where we can easily fit all our Commissioners and the general public that has a Marin TV system set up in 
the room is limited.  Prior to the pandemic, the Commission had been using the meeting room at Marin 
Clean Energy (MCE) office in San Rafael.   MCE space kind of fit our needs but the room can be cramped, 
and in a post-pandemic world for Commissioners and when we get a few members of the public in 
attendance the room quickly becomes crowded.  In order to use the room MCE charged us a fee and we 
had to pay to have a security company watch the building since we meet after hours.  In addition they also 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

now want us to carry insurance to use the room.  Recently the Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority (MWPA) 
moved into new offices at 1600 Los Gamos Road, just down the street from our office.  With this office, 
they have built out a meeting room that has a Marin TV system in place.  Staff had the chance to look at 
the room and it is much larger than the MCE room which would allow some space between Commission 
members and plenty of space for the public to attend without feeling cramped.  MWPA does not have a 
fee associated with using the room and we are not required to hire security as the building already has its 
own security personnel on-site.  Staff does understand that the MWPA is 4 exits farther north on 101 than 
MCE which will cause those coming from Southern Marin to deal with evening commute traffic for the six 
meetings we have each year for a few exits more.  Staff would suggest that we try out the MWPA meeting 
room for our April meeting.  This is mainly due to the fact that we will be having interviews for the LAFCo 
Public seats.  At this point, we are unsure how many applicants we will get but if we get 5 or more it will 
be hard to have a good setup in the MCE meeting room.  It is staff’s belief we could more easily 
accommodate a larger application pool at MWPA.  The Commission could also choose to try the MWPA for 
the April meeting and make a more formal decision at a future meeting if the Commission wanted to 
permanently move to this location or return to MCE space after the April meeting.  As a side note staff 
intends to go back to using our office conference room for committee meetings since those will also need 
to be done in person. 
 
Lastly, when we meet in person we offer a basic dinner, normally pizza and salad.  Does the Commission 
wish to have staff order dinner for the meetings?  If so does anybody have any dietary restrictions we 
should be aware of along with how many of you would partake in the dinner so we can order an appropriate 
amount? 
 
No formal action is needed today but staff would like to get a general understanding from the Commission 
on its desires for the three items mentioned above so we can start preparing for our April meeting. 
 
 

 
 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley 

 

Lew Kious, Chair 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Sanitary District 
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  
County of Marin 

 
 
 

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Item No. 6 (Business) 
 
TO:   Local Agency Formation Commission  
  
FROM:   Jason Fried, Executive Officer  
  Jeren Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 
   
SUBJECT:  Discussion and Approval of Alternative System to Marin Map and Authorize the 

Executive Officer to Execute a Contract With Cinquini & Passarino For the Creation of a 
New Mapping System 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background  
 
At the December 2022 Commission meeting staff presented some concerns on the current state of affairs 
with Marin Map.  At that meeting, the Commission authorized the Executive Officer to enter into an 
agreement with Cinquini & Passarino to perform a review of alternatives for LAFCo to the current Marin 
Map system.  That review has now been completed and is attached. 
 
Based on that review as well as a short demo of the preliminary build of the replacement option, staff 
believes that if approved, this transition from a technical standpoint presents a positive step forward in 
both functionality and user interface.  Additionally, the creation of a LAFCo-specific mapping hub housed 
within Marin LAFCo’s own website would streamline inquiries that members of the public might have.  
Cinquini & Passarino have thoughtfully constructed multiple options surrounding the public-facing sources 
of information between Marin Map and Marin LAFCo should the Commission choose to move forward with 
this option.  Staff recommends the provided Alternative B within the attached review for resolving possible 
issues with source information. 
 
From a larger picture cost perspective, this system would cost more than we spend for Marin Map annually 
in year one due to set-up costs but by year two we would be seeing annual savings.  The set-up cost would 
be about $10,800 plus another $1,200 for our annual license.  This means our set-up should be about 
$12,000 and then there may be some maintenance and other fixes needed over the course of the year.  
After the first year, we would only need to pay the $1,200 license plus possibly a little bit to Cinquini & 
Passarino to help maintain the system.  We currently pay Marin Map $10,000 annually for the system we 
have with them.  Marin Map will fix an issue, to the degree they can figure out how to fix the issue, without 
charging us.  With the new system, Cinquini & Passarino would charge us to fix any issue we present to 
them.  We normally don’t have a lot of items we notice in Marin Map but staff would recommend in the 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

future we budget $800-$1,000 annually to cover any issues that come up which means we would be $1,200 
for the license and budget for another $1,000 in case it is needed.  This will lead to about 80% savings 
annually once the system set-up costs are paid for.  
 
Should we have approvals today then Cinquini & Passarino should have the system up and running by June 
of this year.  This would mean we would not need to pay the $10,000 to Marin Map in July when our annual 
dues to them would be billed to us.  Should the Commission approve this project then overall our FY22-23 
budget would be fine but Line Items 55 (Professional Services) and 20 (IT & Communication Services) could 
go over budget for the year.   If the Commission wishes staff can present an updated line item budget for 
the current fiscal year to cover these new costs or the Commission can accept that for our current fiscal 
year these two line items may go a little over budget by the end of the current fiscal year. 
 
Finally, should the Commission approve moving forward with this then staff will inform Marin Map and 
Marin General Services Authority that we plan to leave the Marin Map system.  We will work with them on 
some of the technical issues to make sure both our systems can work together as needed. 
 
 
 

 

Staff Recommendation for Action 
 

1) Staff recommendation – Authorize staff to enter into an agreement with Cinquini & Passarino to 
create the online map system and to inform and work with Marin Map and Marin General 
Services Authority and the transition to this new system. 
 

2) Option 2 – Continue consideration of the item to a future regular meeting, and provide direction to 
staff, as needed. 
 

3) Option 3 – Deny the request.   
 

Attachment: 
1. Report from Cinquini & Passarino 

 



 

 

 BOUNDARY   TOPOGRAPHIC  CONSTRUCTION 

 RAILROAD  INFRASTRUCTURE  HYDROGRAPHIC 

CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC. 
 

                   LAND SURVEYING 

1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Jason Fried, Executive Officer 

 Marin County LAFCo 

FROM: Jason Sweeney, GIS Specialist 

DATE: January 12, 2023 

RE: Technical Investigation and Fee Estimate regarding the development of a stand-

alone Marin LAFCo Web Mapping Application 

JOB NO.: 11021-22 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Purpose and Background 

To meet the objectives of improving the functionality and future ongoing maintenance of their 

existing “LAFCo Approved Districts” web mapping application in the most cost-effective and 

timely manner, Marin County LAFCo (LAFCo) contracted Cinquini & Passarino to investigate 

the potential cost benefit of relocating the web mapping application from its current location on 

the County of Marin servers to a new ArcGIS Online (AGOL) account owned and controlled by 

LAFCo. The purpose of this memorandum is to develop a more thorough understanding of the 

scope of work and associated costs involved with such a project. 

A web mapping application uses a web map to access geographic data and includes tools and 

controllers that allow the user to query and extract information from the available datasets, such 

as name, location, and various measurements. The web mapping application is comprised of 

geographic and tabular data, an interactive web map, and various control and query tools housed 

in a web browser interface. The LAFCo web mapping application (web app) provides a public 

interface to explore, visualize, and query various Marin County administrative geographic data 

such as district, service, and sphere of influence boundaries alongside useful County reference 

data, to locate properties, areas of interest, and identify associated district and service area 

jurisdictions. LAFCo’s current web app is a highly customized implementation deployed from 

the County of Marin’s ArcGIS Enterprise server environment and accessed by the public through 

marinmap.org. 

The County of Marin currently manages and hosts their GIS data and applications from 

dedicated private servers (programmatically referred to as MarinMap), which provides the ability 

to serve a variety of government GIS needs across the entire County. LAFCo is a County special 

district participating in MarinMap. There is no doubt that LAFCo benefits from this excellent 

platform; however, their specific GIS needs do not require private server functionality and can 

likely be met at a lower annual cost. As the accessibility of geospatial technology and platforms 

rapidly advances, more options have become available for hosting web maps and geospatial data. 

This memorandum has been developed on the assumption that a web mapping application 

CINQUINI & PASSARINO, 
INC. LAND 
SURVEYING



CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC 

MEMORANDUM 

11021-22 MARIN LAFCO WEB APPLICATION SCOPING 

January 12, 2023 

Page 2 of 7 

 

 
1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

similar to that of the LAFCo Approved Districts application on marinmap.org will be developed 

and hosted in the cloud via AGOL as a cost-effective alternative. No additional hardware 

purchases will be necessary.  

A major objective of LAFCo’s is to have the ability to control and manage edits and updates to 

these administrative data layers and post the updated layers to the public web app on their 

timeline. This also includes managing any necessary maintenance to the web app itself. 

Currently, when problems are encountered with the web app, our understanding is that the 

County has not been able to respond in a timely manner to these requests and, in at least one 

case, was unable to offer a solution to the application functionality issue. Additionally, LAFCo 

currently relies on the County to update boundary layers before LAFCo can finalize project 

documentation and provide new boundary data to applicants and constituents. 

Under this proposed implementation, LAFCo would manage the web app using an appointed 

consulting GIS administrator. This will provide LAFCo more control over project timing and the 

annual costs of maintaining and provisioning public GIS data at a scale that is appropriate to 

their needs. LAFCo’s consulting GIS administrator will work with LAFCo staff to implement the 

required queries and search functionality as well as the look of the web app. 

The project as proposed would involve the following components: 

1. Purchasing the ESRI software licensing required to establish a LAFCo AGOL account; 

2. Configuring an AGOL site and desktop software for use by LAFCo; 

3. Configuring a public-facing GeoHub page to host the GIS data layers and the associated 

web map (if necessary); 

4. Rebuilding the existing LAFCo Approved Districts web mapping application currently 

hosted on MarinMap directly on the new AGOL site; and, 

5. Developing the scope of work for an on-call agreement to handle maintenance and update 

task orders as they arise. 

 

ESRI Licensing 

Required annual licensing for the LAFCo AGOL account includes a “Creator” license for use by 

the consulting GIS administrator and a “GIS Professional” license for daily staff use. The 

Creator license provides the appointed administrator access to the AGOL account to carry out 

any required maintenance or updates. The GIS Professional license provides the ArcPro desktop 

software and AGOL access for daily staff use. LAFCo will retain and manage the access 

credentials and will allow the designated GIS administrator access to the site to perform their 

duties as needed. The GIS Professional license can be designated as site administrator in the 

future if desired and the Creator license can be allowed to lapse if no longer required, to save on 

annual maintenance costs. 

Each license provides a total of 500 credits annually, for a combined total of 1000 credits if both 

licenses are maintained. Credits are required for numerous AGOL uses/functions. For this 

project, credits will be used primarily for storing LAFCo’s GIS data and web application. Credits 



CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC 

MEMORANDUM 

11021-22 MARIN LAFCO WEB APPLICATION SCOPING 

January 12, 2023 

Page 3 of 7 

 

 
1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

will also be used for any geoprocessing that occurs from within the AGOL Cloud. While it is not 

anticipated that LAFCo would exceed the allotted annual credits, additional credits may be 

purchased if necessary. No credits are needed for the public to view and query data on the 

proposed web mapping application. 

LAFCo may qualify for ESRI’s non-profit pricing program, greatly reducing the annual licensing 

costs, and is therefore encouraged to apply before purchasing the licensing. 

 

Web Application Requirements 

The objective is to build a new web app that closely resembles the existing one and includes only 

the tools and features required by LAFCo, while minimizing development costs. ESRI’s Web 

App Builder software is proposed for developing the layout and map tools and is included with 

the software license. It is important to note that these tools (or widgets) will have a different look 

than those on the current LAFCo web app, which was built using different software. However, 

further customizations of the tools and the look of the web app to meet LAFCo’s specifications is 

possible under this approach. 

The current web application includes the following features: 

• Existing search functions include searching by Address, Prop ID (APN), File Number, 

Approval Date, District Name, and Change Type. 

• The District Lookup function allows the user to manually look up a district by name via a 

list of the existing layers by type/category and name. The map then zooms to the selected 

district boundary.  

• The Identify Districts function allows the user to identify all participating districts when 

they click on the web map, for example by clicking on a specific parcel. 

• There are Buffer Options under layer feature actions which allow the user to generate a 

buffer at a specified distance and export the buffer to a Shapefile, and the buffer search 

results to a .csv or Excel file. 

• The typical map surrounds and web map navigation features such as the legend and layer 

list, zoom and pan, scale, coordinates, and home will all be included. Layer grouping in 

the existing web app will be implemented in the new application to maintain the existing 

user experience. 

 

Objective 1: The web application needs to be easy to use and provide accurate, useful geospatial 

information and functions to support the business needs of LAFCo and their collaboration with 

constituents. 

Solution 1: 

A) Marin County reference data such as assessor parcels and roads will be included in the web 

app and accessed using web links to the County of Marin servers, which will provide the current 

version of the data available from the County. 



CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC 

MEMORANDUM 

11021-22 MARIN LAFCO WEB APPLICATION SCOPING 

January 12, 2023 

Page 4 of 7 

 

 
1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

B) The key LAFCo boundary layers will be compiled into a file geodatabase and uploaded to the 

AGOL site as hosted feature layers. This will create copies of these layers that can be configured 

in the web app, edited as needed by the consulting GIS administrator per LAFCo’s direction, and 

then updated in the web app once approved. The Districts group on the existing web app totals 

25 layers.  

C) The new web app will model the look and feel of the current web app as closely as possible. 

Any changes or adjustments approved by LAFCo during the scoping or development phases will 

also be implemented. 

D) The new web app will include the tools and existing functionality that is required by LAFCo 

to meet their business needs (see the list at the beginning of this section). Development costs can 

be reduced by limiting the functionality to only the required features. By developing their own 

application, LAFCo can deploy any new features desired in the future on their timeline. 

Objective 2: The current versions of the LAFCo boundary layers need to be accessible to LAFCo 

and the public and available for download in a timely manner. 

Discussion: The ability to carry out layer edits necessitates read/write access to the data layers. 

The data layers currently reside on the Marin County servers and are: 

• utilized in the County’s day-to-day work; 

• utilized in other County web applications such as the public-facing “Marin Map Viewer”; 

and, 

• provided to the public via MarinMap’s GeoHub site. 

 

Currently, the County of Marin serves as the “author” for these publicly available data layers. 

They are responsible for making the data available and ensuring it is accurate. 

LAFCo can edit copies of the data layers downloaded from the MarinMap GeoHub site, but the 

authoritative source data on the County server will remain unchanged until the County makes 

those edits. Moving forward with the proposed implementation necessitates the creation of 

copies of the LAFCo boundary layers as noted in Solution 1B. These copies could be edited on 

LAFCo's timeline and posted to their public web app once official. If the County of Marin has 

not updated the source data, this would result in two different versions of a data layer visible in 

these public-facing web applications. It is important to note that layers visible in a web app are 

not necessarily available for download. But this brings up the potential issue of managing two 

copies of the same data layer and who will serve as the authoritative source for the data under 

this new scenario. 

Discussions will need to occur with the County of Marin regarding who will serve as the 

authoritative source for the LAFCo approved boundary layers that are currently maintained by 

the County before the proposed implementation begins. The questions that will need to be 

resolved by LAFCo and the County are: 1) how will LAFCo and the County manage and 

coordinate on updates to the layers; and 2) how will these data layers be provided to the public 

for download, if LAFCo elects to take a more active role with management of the data and the 

web app?  



CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC 

MEMORANDUM 

11021-22 MARIN LAFCO WEB APPLICATION SCOPING 

January 12, 2023 

Page 5 of 7 

 

 
1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

Solution 2: We have outlined three possible alternatives to coordinate data with the County of 

Marin to ensure continuity between the two agencies and to provide public access to the data: 

Alternative A: LAFCo manages copies of the data layers; the County authors the source data and 

provides it for public download via the MarinMap GeoHub site. 

A LAFCo controlled, public-facing web app will include independent local copies of the 

approved LAFCo boundary layers for search and analysis (Solution 1B). This memorandum 

proposes LAFCo utilize the consulting GIS administrator to execute the approved boundary 

updates. The updated local copy of the layer will be posted to AGOL and the web app once the 

change is official. The consulting GIS administrator will review the County copy of the updated 

layer when it becomes available to ensure they are identical. 

Alternative B: LAFCo manages the source data layers; LAFCo authors the source data and 

provides it for public download via a LAFCo GeoHub site. 

LAFCo will do everything as noted in Solution 2A above except for reviewing the County copy 

of the updated data layer to ensure they are identical. Instead, as the author of the data, LAFCo 

will publish a copy of the updated layer as a hosted feature service via GeoHub for consumption 

by the County of Marin and the public. The County will execute updates to their server copy on 

their timeline. Regarding the County’s public-facing GIS applications, the County would be 

expected to use the most current available layers to avoid presenting inaccurate data to the 

public. To accomplish this, the County of Marin will either access the LAFCo boundary layers in 

their public-facing web applications via a web link to the published feature services or utilize 

available enterprise server functionality to periodically overwrite their server copy from the 

current published feature service layer. This will ensure utilization of the current version of the 

data available from LAFCo. As stated in the discussion above, LAFCo and the County will need 

to determine the best approach considering the changes proposed under this alternative. 

Alternative C: County manages the source data layers; County authors the source data and provides 

it for public download via the MarinMap GeoHub site. 

LAFCo will utilize the consulting GIS administrator to execute the approved boundary updates for 

internal use by LAFCo. The LAFCo boundary layers will be accessed by the LAFCo web app 

using web links to the County of Marin servers, which will provide the current version of the data 

available from the County. Implementing this alternative will affect solution 1B; copies of the 

layers would not be posted to the LAFCo AGOL site because hosted feature layers would not be 

needed. Under this alternative, LAFCo will continue to wait for the County to update the layers 

and only one copy will ever be available to the public. LAFCo will not need the GIS administrator 

to verify the two copies of the layer are identical. 

B) The current versions of the approved LAFCo boundary layers will be available on the Marin 

County GeoHub site (Solution 2 alternatives A & C). 

Alternative: The current versions of the approved LAFCo boundary layers will be available on 

the proposed LAFCo data Hub site (Solution 2 Alternative B; also see Site Configuration below). 

 

 



CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC 

MEMORANDUM 

11021-22 MARIN LAFCO WEB APPLICATION SCOPING 

January 12, 2023 

Page 6 of 7 

 

 
1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

 Data Author Provide for download Maintains a copy 

Alternative A Marin County Marin County LAFCo 

Alternative B LAFCo LAFCo County 

Alternative C Marin County Marin County No Copy 

 

Site Configuration & Maintenance 

A LAFCo AGOL account will need to be configured to set up the LAFCo organization, assign 

users for the licenses, set up any groups or permissions, and download the software. LAFCo IT 

administrators may be needed to assist with permissions to install user desktop software. 

The AGOL account includes Hub Basic, which allows for an unlimited number of Hub sites to 

be deployed for the organization. A Hub site (like MarinMap’s GeoHub) would be used for 

hosting the individual GIS data layers for public download and can also host the link to the web 

app. The Hub site will be needed if LAFCo decides to take over hosting the LAFCo boundary 

data layers from the County of Marin. Regarding the LAFCo web app, it can be hosted from the 

Hub site or linked directly from LAFCo’s existing website. 

Once the new web app is deployed, maintenance will be required for certain changes requested 

by LAFCo, whether to the application itself or the individual layers. Updates to the layers can be 

managed so that there is no impact to the web app functions. If there are changes to the schema 

of a layer as part of a planned update, then reconfiguration within the application would be 

necessary and anticipated. During a planned layer update, it is recommended that the web app be 

tested as part of each update to ensure it is still working as expected. 

Periodically the AGOL site should be accessed to monitor the credit usage and total credits 

remaining. When credits begin to run low the site administrator will receive a warning email, 

first at 75% used and again at 100% used. If desired by LAFCo, a report can be produced to 

show usage. The licensing will need to be renewed annually before it expires to ensure no 

disruption to the AGOL site and the hosted web app. 

 

Estimate of Probable Cost 

The estimate of probable cost for LAFCo to control and operate their web app is broken out by 

the main components of the project as presented here and grouped by initial one-time, annual, 

and as-needed expenses. 

  

Initial One-Time Costs 1  

Configure LAFCo AGOL Site 2 $1,800.00 

Develop Web Application on AGOL 3 $9,000.00 

Annual Costs  

ESRI Licensing 4 $1,200.00 



CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC 

MEMORANDUM 

11021-22 MARIN LAFCO WEB APPLICATION SCOPING 

January 12, 2023 

Page 7 of 7 

 

 
1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 Phone (707) 542-6268    Fax (707) 542-2106

As-Needed Costs  

Data Layer updates and Application Maintenance 5  

- Per layer edit/update and application maintenance requests 

(hourly rate, billed in quarter hour increments) 

$135 - $151.00/hr 

 

1. Assumes performance by outside consultant. 

2. Includes configuring a GeoHub webpage, if required. It also includes an optional office visit 

by the consulting GIS administrator to assist with installation. 

3. Includes a 15% contingency ($1,200) for unforeseen or LAFCo requested refinements to the 

web app that may arise during the development/review phase.  

4. The ESRI Licensing is for the two annual licenses at standard pricing and no additional 

credits. This expense may be lower if LAFCo qualifies for non-profit licensing. 

5. Under an on-call agreement, LAFCo would be billed for the time it takes to complete the 

task in increments of a quarter of an hour. 

 

Conclusions: 

The proposed use of an AGOL account through the ESRI ArcGIS platform provides the 

functionality to meet LAFCo’s needs. This approach offers excellent out-of-the-box functionality 

and the option to deploy highly sophisticated custom refinements to both the look and spatial 

query tools if needed. The software licensing includes cloud configuration software and hosting 

without the need to administer a local server. Once operational, the ongoing costs will be limited 

to the annual licensing and the time required to make periodic updates to the hosted feature 

layers and any required maintenance to the web application. 

It is proposed that LAFCo use a consultant to carry out layer edits and maintenance to the web 

application. LAFCo will need to work with the County of Marin to determine who will be 

responsible for providing the data layers for public download and how they will work together to 

maintain the data layers. 

LAFCo will have more control over the annual costs of maintaining and provisioning public GIS 

data at a scale that is appropriate to their needs, while utilizing a platform developed and 

maintained by the world's leading GIS software company. LAFCo will benefit from utilizing a 

broadly used and maintained GIS software platform, where the responsibility of maintaining the 

platform rests on ESRI. Maintenance of the LAFCo web application itself is expected to be 

minimal. 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley 

 

Lew Kious, Chair 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Sanitary District 
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  
County of Marin 

 
 
 

AGENDA REPORT 
February 9, 2023 

Item No. 7 (Business Item) 
 

TO: Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
FROM: Jeren Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 

 
SUBJECT: Approval of Proclamation for Commissioner Larry Loder 

 
 

Background 
 

The Commission will recognize the contributions of Commissioner Larry Loder whose 
individual contributions and collaborative efforts with fellow Commission Members have 
served the County of Marin for many years. 

 
Staff Recommendation for Action 

 
1) Staff recommendation – Approve and present Commissioner Larry Loder with the 

attached proclamation. 
 
 

Attachment: 
1. Proclamation for Larry Loder 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 



MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
 

RESOLUTION OF COMMENDATION FOR 
 

LARRY LODER 
 

EXPRESSING GRATITUDE FOR HIS SERVICE 

 
WHEREAS Larry Loder served the citizens of Marin County from 2019 to 2023 as the 

Public Member of the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission; and 
  
 WHEREAS during his service as the Public Member of this Commission, Larry’s dedicated 
sense of responsibility toward the people of Marin County and the mission of the Marin Local 
Agency Formation Commission contributed greatly to the effectiveness of this Commission; and 

 
WHEREAS his ability to take the measure of a public issue from competing points of view 

and sum up central issues with clarity and clear-spoken analysis; and 
 
WHEREAS as a member of this Commission, Larry earned the respect of his colleagues, 

representatives of other public agencies, and the general public due to the keen sense of objectivity, 
integrity, and humanity with which he discharged his responsibilities; and 

 
WHEREAS his work on the Marin LAFCO Legislative Committee aided in guiding the 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission’s overarching legislative positions; and 
 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that the members of this Commission, wish 
to express their deep appreciation and sincere thanks for Larry Loder’s service on the Marin Local 
Agency Formation Commission and lasting contributions to the people of Marin County.  
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission on this 9th 
day of February 2023. 
 
 

____________________________ 
        Lew Kious, Chairperson 
 
 
Attest: 
 
___________________________ 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 



 
  

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

 

 

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo   
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley  

 

Lew Kious, Chair  
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary  
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate 
County of Marin  

  

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Executive Officer Report – Section A 
 
TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
FROM:  Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
   
SUBJECT: Budget Report for FY 2022-2023 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
Background  
 
Marin Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) adopted a budget for FY 2022-2023 totaling 
$593,909.08.  As of January 31, 2023, LAFCo has spent $291,659.03.  This report covers 7 months, 
which is about 58% of the year.  We have already spent 49.1% of our budget this year.  You will note 
three line items are higher than the expected amount for where we are for being five months into 
the FY.  As mentioned at previous meetings two line items, Membership and Dues (30) and General 
Insurance (15), consist of bills that have large sums that get paid at the start of the Fiscal year in the 
case of line item 15 and are mostly paid for in the case of line item 30.  The third item is Misc Services 
(35).  As mentioned at the previous meeting the amount listed is to cover the cost for the in-person 
workshop we held.  This also has become the line item we use for costs associated with our payroll 
system that are charged now that we are not within the County system anymore.  It is likely this line 
item will end up over budget for the year.   
 
 
Attachment:   
1) FY 2022-2023 Budget Report 
 



Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

410 · Prior Year Carryover 0.00 87,360.91 -87,360.91 0.0%
400 · Agency Contributions 504,874.95 506,548.17 -1,673.22 99.7%

Total Income 504,874.95 593,909.08 -89,034.13 85.0%

Expense
Services and Supplies

05 · Commissioner Per Diems 3,000.00 10,000.00 -7,000.00 30.0%
10 · Conferences 3,583.86 5,000.00 -1,416.14 71.7%
15 · General Insurance 5,389.41 6,500.00 -1,110.59 82.9%
20 · IT & Communications Services 8,871.28 18,000.00 -9,128.72 49.3%
25 · Legal Services 6,751.60 37,500.00 -30,748.40 18.0%
30 · Memberships & Dues 16,471.00 17,500.00 -1,029.00 94.1%
35 · Misc Services 1,563.38 2,000.00 -436.62 78.2%
40 · Office Equipment Purchases 0.00 4,139.00 -4,139.00 0.0%
45 · Office Lease/Rent 20,690.88 35,670.08 -14,979.20 58.0%
50 · Office Supplies & Postage 1,121.01 4,000.00 -2,878.99 28.0%
55 · Professional Services 2,905.50 24,000.00 -21,094.50 12.1%
60 · Publications/Notices 0.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 0.0%
65 · Rent  - Storage 0.00 650.00 -650.00 0.0%
70 · Training 0.00 1,700.00 -1,700.00 0.0%
75 · Travel - Mileage 204.38 3,500.00 -3,295.62 5.8%

Total Services and Supplies 70,552.30 172,159.08 -101,606.78 41.0%

Salary and Benefit Costs
100 · Salaries

105 · Sal - Regular Staff 177,222.09 340,000.00 -162,777.91 52.1%
110 · Payroll Tax 4,076.18

Total 100 · Salaries 181,298.27 340,000.00 -158,701.73 53.3%

120 · County of Marin - Group Health 19,546.99 35,500.00 -15,953.01 55.1%

130 · MCERA / Pension 20,261.47 40,250.00 -19,988.53 50.3%

140 · Retiree Health 0.00 6,000.00 -6,000.00 0.0%

Total Salary and Benefit Costs 221,106.73 421,750.00 -200,643.27 52.4%

Total Expense 291,659.03 593,909.08 -302,250.05 49.1%

Net Ordinary Income 213,215.92 0.00 213,215.92 100.0%

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

900 · Interest Earnings 281.61
910 · Fees for Services 12,459.02

Total Other Income 12,740.63

Net Other Income 12,740.63

Net Income 225,956.55 0.00 225,956.55 100.0%

9:17 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
01/31/23 FY23 BUDGET REPORT
Accrual Basis July 2022 through June 2023

Page 1



 
  

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

 

 

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo   
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley  

 

Lew Kious, Chair  
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary  
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate 
County of Marin  

  

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Executive Officer Report – Section B 
 
TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
FROM:  Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
   
SUBJECT: Current and Pending Proposals  
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
Background  
 
The Commission is invited to discuss the item and provide direction to staff on any related matter as 
needed for future discussion and/or action. 
 
We have no applications on today's agenda.  Since our last meeting we have received one new application, 
LAFCo File 1370, see comments below. 
 
LAFCo File 1362 was approved by LAFCo at our 2/11/22 meeting with a condition that an easement is 
obtained from a neighboring property so they could connect to the Mill Valley sewer system.  In January 
staff reached out to the applicant to get an update and inform them that they had until 2/11/23 to 
complete the condition or ask for an extension.  The applicant informed us that he has not been able to 
get any of his neighbors to agree to an easement and did not feel he was going to be able to get that 
agreement so was not looking to get an extension with the understanding that on 2/12/23 his application 
would be deemed terminated.   
 
LAFCo File 1367, 255 Margarita annexation into San Rafael Sanitary District (SRSD), was approved by the 
Commission at the October meeting with a need to complete conditions of approval by 12/9/22.  The 
applicant did not ask for an extension and did not complete the conditions by the date so the application 
was deemed terminated.  On 1/11/23 a representative of the applicant reached out to LAFCo asking about 
how to complete the process.  They stated they plan to move the lateral to the current easement based 
on the 2015 plans originally submitted to SRSD and LAFCo.  Staff informed them they needed to submit a 
new application, with fees, since the last one has expired.  Staff also informed them they needed to correct 
the map and legal description from the last application.  On 1/12/23 in the early afternoon, we received 
a new application and payment for 255 Margarita.  This application has been given a new application 
number (File #1370) and will be part of the April meeting.  Also on 1/12/23, shortly after we received the 
new application, SRSD held its hearing on disconnecting 255 Margarita on 1/31/23.  Given the new 
application and other factors, the SRSD board approved moving the disconnect order to 4/28/23 with 
instructions that should they get everything taken care of, including LAFCo approvals, by that date then 
the discount order will be rescinded.  If they don’t complete everything by that date then SRSD staff will 
disconnect the parcel from the system.      
 
Attachment:   
1) Chart of Current and Pending Proposals 



Current and Pending Proposals

LAFCo File # Status Proposal Description  Government 
Agency

Latest Update

1370 In Review Period Annexation of 
255 Margarita 
Drive 

Landowner (Paul Thompson) requesting annexation approval of 255 
Margarita Drive (016‐011‐29) in the unincorporated island community 
of Country Club to the San Rafael Sanitation District. The affected 
territory is approximately 1.6 acres in size and currently developed 
with a single‐family residence. It has also established service with the 
SRSD as part of a LAFCo approved outside service extension due to 
evidence of a failing septic system. The outside service extension was 
conditioned – among other items – on the applicant applying to LAFCo 
to annex the affected territory to the San Rafael Sanitation District as a 
permanent means to public wastewater service.                                          

San Rafael 
Sanitation District 

In 30 day 
review period, 
should be part 
of April 2022 
meeting

1362 Waiting on 
Conditions for 
Approval

Outside Service 
Agreement with 
City of Mill 
Valley

Landowner Jon Grabham requests an Outside Service Agreement with 
the City of Mill Valley's sewer district for 11 Brighton Blvd., a parcel in 
an unincorporated area adjacent to the City of Mill Valley. The 
property has a failing septic, which County EHS has determined is a 
public safety hazard. The City of Mill Valley has taken board action in 
favor of this OSA, and has no interest in annexing the property at this 
time. 

City of Mill Valley Approved by 
Commission on 
2/11/22 waiting 
for conditions of 
approval to be 
completed

1366 Completed Annexation of 
21 & 23 Church 
Street

Landowners Benjamin Hodges, Melissa Omand, and Sarah Hodges 
(applicants) submitted an application requesting the annexation of 21 
& 23 Church Street to Tomales Village Community Services District for 
sewer service to support development on the approx. 13.25 acre lot.

Tomales Village 
Community 
Services District

Condition was 
met and the 
application is 
now considered 
completed



Current and Pending Proposals

LAFCo File # Status Proposal Description  Government 
Agency

Latest Update

1367 Terminated Annexation of 
255 Margarita 
Drive 

Landowner (Paul Thompson) requesting annexation approval of 255 
Margarita Drive (016‐011‐29) in the unincorporated island community 
of Country Club to the San Rafael Sanitation District. The affected 
territory is approximately 1.6 acres in size and currently developed 
with a single‐family residence. It has also established service with the 
SRSD as part of a LAFCo approved outside service extension due to 
evidence of a failing septic system. The outside service extension was 
conditioned – among other items – on the applicant applying to LAFCo 
to annex the affected territory to the San Rafael Sanitation District as a 
permanent means to public wastewater service.                                          

San Rafael 
Sanitation District 

Terminated on 
12/10/22 for 
failure to meet 
conidations

1368 Completed Annexation of 
5030 Paradise 
Drive

Landowner Jun Shi requesting approval to annex a lot, approximately 
.87 acres, to connect a single‐family home into the Corte Madera 
Sanitary District #2 (SD2) for 5030 Paradise Drive (APN 038‐032‐22). 
The proposal, as stated by the applicant, is for connection of a single‐
family home to SD2. 

Sanitary District #2 Approved at Dec 
2022 meeting

1369 Completed Annexation of 
Mill Valley into 
SMFPD

Mill Valley and Southern Marin Fire Protection District are looking to 
consolidate Mill Valley fire services into the district.  SMFPD as the 
applicant needs to annex and update is SOI to include all of the City of 
Mill Valley into its district boundary as part of this process. 

Southern Marin 
Fire Protection 
District

Approved at Dec 
2022 meeting

LAFC
o File #

Status
Proposal

D
escription

Agency  G
overnm

ent
Latest U

pdate

1367
Term

inated
[Annexation of 255 M

argarita 
D

rive
Landow

ner (Paul Thom
pson) requesting annexation approval of 255 M

argarita D
rive 

(016-011-29) in the unincorporated island com
m

unity of C
ountry C

lub to the 
San R

afael Sanitation D
istrict. The affected territory is approxim

ately 1.6 acres 
in size and currently developed w

ith a single-fam
ily residence. It has also established 

service w
ith the SR

SD
 as part of a LAFC

o approved outside service extension 
due to evidence of a failing septic system

. The outside service extension 
w

as conditioned ~ am
ong other item

s �
 on the applicant applying to LAFC

o 
to annex the affected territory to the San R

afael Sanitation D
istrict as a perm

anent 
m

eans to public w
astew

ater service.

San R
afael |Sanitation 

D
istrict

[Term
inated on 12/10/22 

for failure to 
m

eet  conidations

1368
C

om
pleted

[Annexation of 5030 
Paradise D

rive
Landow

ner Jun Shi requesting approval to annex a lot, approxim
ately .87 acres, to 

connect a single-fam
ily hom

e into the C
orte M

adera Sanitary D
istrict #2 (SD

2) for 
5030 Paradise D

rive (APN
 038-032-22). The proposal, as stated by the applicant, 

is for connection of a single- fam
ily hom

e to SD
2.

Sanitary D
istrict #2

Approved at D
ec 2022 

m
eeting

1369
C

om
pleted

Annexation of M
ill Valley 

into [SM
FPD

M
ill Valley and Southern M

arin Fire Protection D
istrict are looking to consolidate M

ill 
Valley fire services into the district. SM

FPD
 as the applicant needs to annex and 

update is SO
I to include all of the C

ity of M
ill Valley into s district boundary as 

part of this process.

Southern M
arin Fire Protection 

D
istrict

Approved at D
ec 2022 

m
eeting

      

      

      

      



 
  

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

 
 

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice-Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley 

Lew Kious, Chair  
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
 

Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Rick Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate 
County of Marin  

 
AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Executive Officer Report – Section C  
 
TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
FROM:  Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
  (On Behalf of Chair Kious) 
   
SUBJECT: 2023 Committee Assignments 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background 
 
The Marin Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) Policy Handbook section 3.5 (A)(iii) (Selection 
and Duties of the Chair) gives the LAFCo Chair the ability to, “Make appointments to committees as 
needed.” 
 
In addition, LAFCo Policy Handbook section 3.9 (A) states “Marin LAFCo shall maintain the following 
three standing committees on an annual basis with appointments and/or reappointments made at the 
beginning of each calendar year.” 
 
Chair Kious has made the following 2023 committee assignments:   
 
Budget and Work Plan Committee: 
Commissioner Stephen Burke  
Commissioner Lew Kious  
Commissioner Dennis Rodoni  
 
Legislative Committee: 
Commissioner Barbara Coler 
Commissioner Tod Moody  
Commissioner Craig Murray 
 
Policy and Personnel Committee: 
Commissioner Steve Burdo 
Commissioner Lew Kious  
Commissioner Eric Lucan 

 



 
  

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

 

 

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo   
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley  

 

Lew Kious, Chair  
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary  
Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate 
County of Marin  

  
 

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Executive Officer Report – Section C 
 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission  

FROM:  Jeren Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: CALAFCO Update 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background  
 
Attached you will find the December 2022 CALAFCO newsletter and the 2023 CALAFCO 
calendar. 

 
 

Attachment: 
1. CALAFCO Newsletter 
2. CALAFCO Calendar 

 
 
 
 
  

 
 

 



CALAFCO
NEWSLETTER

December, 2022 Edition

BOARDROOM Brief
OCTOBER found us in Newport Beach for the 
annual conference, the regional elections on 
October 20th, and the October 21st Board 
meeting.

Regional elections saw a return of all 
directors except for Directors Blake Inscore 
(Northern) and Daron McDaniel (Central), 
who chose not to run again. Our sincere 
thanks to them for their service and many 
contributions to CALAFCO.
Taking their places are new Directors, Tom 
Cooley, our new city member for the 
Northern Region (Plumas), and Rodrigo 
Espinosa, the new County rep for the Central 
Region (Merced). Welcome!

With the elections completed, the CALAFCO 
Board members for the next year are:
Central:
Rodrigo Espinosa (Merced)
Gay Jones (Sacramento)
Anita Paque (Calaveras) and 
Daniel Parra (Fresno)

Coastal:
Chris Lopez (Monterey)
Mike McGill (Contra Costa) 
Margie Mohler (Napa) and 
Shane Stark (Santa Barbara)
Northern:
Bill Connelly (Butte), 
Tom Cooley (Plumas)
Debra Lake (Humboldt) and
Josh Susman (Nevada)
Southern:
Mike Kelley (Imperial), 
Jo Mackenzie (San Diego) 
Derek McGregor (Orange) and 
Acquanetta Warren (San Bernardino)

(Continued on page 5)

CELEBRATING EXTRAORDINARY!

Left to Right: Don Saylor (Yolo), Carolyn Emery (Orange), Christine 
Crawford (Yolo), and Amanda Ross (Southfork Consulting) and 
Erica Sanchez (El Dorado)

On October 20, 2021, CALAFCO held its much 
anticipated Achievement Awards Dinner in the 
glittering Pacific Ballroom at the Hyatt Regency John 
Wayne hotel in Newport Beach, California. The 
prestigious awards are given annually as a way of 
highlighting exceptional people or projects that have 
advanced the principles and goals of the Cortese-Knox
-Hertzberg Act over the past year.

Honoring extraordinary efforts, the awards begin as 
nominations submitted by members from among eight
categories. Those nominations then undergo a 
thorough consideration by the Achievement Awards 
Committee, with the final award recipients unveiled 
during the Awards Dinner at the annual conference.

CALAFCO wishes to extend congratulations to this 
year's phenomenal winners:

♦ Outstanding Commissioner:
DON SAYLOR (Yolo)

Outstanding LAFCo Professional:
CAROLYN EMERY (Orange)

♦ Mike Gotch Excellence in Public Service Award for 
Innovation (two-way tie) between:

CHRISTINE CRAWFORD (Yolo), 
and the dynamic duo of ERICA SANCHEZ (El 
Dorado) and AMANDA ROSS (South Fork 
Consulting, LLC).

Congratulations to all!

 

 

BETTER COMMUNITIES.
BOLDER FUTURES.

New Gold 
Associate

Thank you to RSG, Inc. for upgrading to a Gold 
Membership!

RSG performs fiscal and reorganizational stud­
ies for LAFCos and applicants with the goal of 

(Continued on page 8)

December, 2022 | Page 1 of 8

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved.

CALAFCO NEWSLETTER, 
December 
2022 Edition



CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter December, 2022

A Message from the

Executive 
Director
Whirlwind Journey

There is something about December that soothes my 
soul. Maybe it's the changing weather, the holiday sights and sounds, the 
children oozing with excitement, or maybe it is just knowing that the 
upcoming change of years allows a little downtime and an opportunity to 
reflect, rejuvenate, and regrow. That is particularly true this year as 
December also marks my tenth month as the CALAFCO Executive Director. 
It has been a bit of a whirlwind journey, but I have been SO glad to have 
you all by my side.

With the disruption of the pandemic, it's no wonder that the last two years 
have been challenging for CALAFCO - as with many nonprofits across the 
country. However, the experience caused us not only to re-examine how 
we conduct business but to streamline some areas. While it was a painful 
period, we survived, adjusted, and even developed some new offerings - 
all in spite of the global conditions.

Then, just when we thought we were normalizing, the year took a bumpy 
turn due to a spike in COVID-19 cases. That not only forced the 
cancellation of the spring workshop but also transferred some of its 
financial obligations to the fall conference. However, despite that, we ended 
up hosting a successful and well-received conference. Simply put, that 
success is due to the army of volunteers who assisted in the planning, the 
presentations, the staffing, and the fundraising that all helped get us there. 
Because of those combined efforts, we actually made a small profit of 
approximately $5,000 on the conference - something I did not think 
possible back in May. Truly an astounding success, this was a stellar 
example of the teamwork that made the dream work! Thank you to 
everyone who offered a helping hand to make it work. (I don't dare try to 
name you all for fear of missing someone!)

But, that's behind us and we are already looking forward to building on that 
success in 2023. Of course, we have our next Staff Workshop planned for 
April 26th-28th in Murphys, California. The planning committee is currently 
being formed and we will, again, need many hands. Please contact Michelle 
McIntyre if you would like to help out. Similarly, if you have an idea for a 
session, please send that to Michelle and me as soon as possible so that 
the committee has ample time to consider it. Emails to Michelle should be 
sent to mmcintyre@placer.ca.gov while those to me should go to 
rlaroche@calafco.org. Look for a flyer for that workshop to go out in 
January.

Other things expected to occur in 2023 are the selection of a new 
accountant for CALAFCO, and the build-out of a new website. The need to 
identify a new accountant rose in June of this year when Jim Gladfelter, our 
current C.P.A., informed us that he is partially retiring and will no longer be 
preparing tax returns after this year. Since that preparation is a substantial 
portion of what he does for CALAFCO, the Board approved an R.FP seeking 
a new accountant with nonprofit expertise. That R.FP was issued on 
December 11th and is currently open. The RFP was transmitted to the EOs 
who, in turn, have distributed it to their networks and I'm pleased to report

(Continued on page 7)

FROM THE
BOARD 
CHAIR

Dear
CALAFCO members,

As the newly elected Board 
Chair, let me first say how 
honored and proud I am to 
have been selected as your 
Board Chair. I have always 
recognized the importance 
of the work that LAFCos do 
and, by extension, the 
importance of the support 
that CALAFCO provides.

Secondly, I want to offer 
my sincere thanks to my 
fellow Board members who 
elected me to this position. 
Your trust is appreciated 
and I, of course, will always 
do my best to be a 
thoughtful leader and good 
steward for CALAFCO.

And, lastly, I want to take a 
moment to recognize Anita 
Paque, our former Board 
Chair, for her leadership. 
While all of the Board 
positions come at the 
expense of one's time, the 
Board Chair position is 
more intense, so thank you, 
Anita, for your service to 
the Association during a 
difficult year!

As we close the door on 
2022, I want to wish Happy 
Holidays to everyone. I look 
forward to a rewarding 
2023 at CALAFCO!

Bill Connelly



Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved.

CONFERENCE CANDIDS
Newport Beach, October, 2022

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter December, 2022

December, 2022 | Page 3 of 8



FAREWELL to Two Contra 
Costa LAFCo Commissioners - 
Rob Schroder and Tom Butt
Submitted by Contra Costa LAFCo

Following 20 years as a Contra Costa 
LAFCo Commissioner, six years as Martinez 
City Council member, and 20 years as 
Mayor of the City of Martinez, Rob 
Schroder is retiring. During his tenure, Rob 
served on various committees and regional 
government agencies and boards, including 
the Contra Costa Transportation Authority 
(CCTA) (22 years), Central Contra Costa 
Identification Bureau (19 years), Marin 
Clean Energy (MCE) (3 years), and was an 
active member of the Contra Costa Mayors 
Conference. Commissioner Schroder began 
his LAFCo career in 2003 and is currently 
one of our longest serving Commissioners. 
During Rob's tenure, LAFCo processed 330 
applications, including four district 
formations and seven district dissolutions, 
and most recently, a large fire district 
reorganization. LAFCo also completed 1st 
and 2nd round municipal service reviews 
(MSRs)/sphere of influence (SOI) updates 
covering all municipal services.

Commissioner Schroder attended many 
CALAFCO conferences and says "serving as 
a LAFCo commissioner gave me an 
opportunity to understand the relationship 
between various governmental agencies 
and how the services they provide 
intertwine and rely on each other. The MSR 
process, although confusing when we first 
started the process many years ago, 
became a valuable tool in analyzing the 
efficient delivery of service and identifying 
deficiencies, areas, and entities that need 
to be improved or dissolved. Being a LAFCo 
commissioner made me a better Mayor 
with the knowledge of the annexation 
process and the efficient delivery of 
services."

Following nearly 12 years as a LAFCo 
Commissioner, 27 years as City of

(Continued on page 6)

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved.

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter December, 2022

IN
MEMORIAM
It is with sadness that we 
report the passing of 
Riverside LAFCo 
Commissioner, Phil 
Williams, on November 
20th.

Commissioner Williams was a Special District 
Member from the Elsinore Valley Municipal 
Water District and had served on that board 
since 2001. He was also a local real estate 
broker and lifelong resident of Lake Elsinore.

Known for his servant heart, he worked 
tirelessly with local, state, and federal 
agencies on behalf of his community.

CALAFCO sends it condolences to our 
colleagues at Riverside LAFCo and to 
Commissioner Williams' family and friends.

CONNECTIONS
News from MFCOs *

NEW Roles

BRIAN SPAUNHURST, New Fresno EO

Departing EO, David Fey, reported that Brian 
Spaunhurst was appointed in late May as his 
replacement. Somehow Brian got missed in the 
August newsletter but we are rectifying that 
omission now! Brian has thrown himself into the 
role and CALAFCO, and has attended the 
conference (where he could be seen serving time 
at the registration desk), and has also volunteered 
to serve on the Legislative Committee. Welcome 
aboard, Brian!

SHIVA FRENTZEN Appointed El Dorado EO

El Dorado LAFCo reported that its commission took 
action on September 28th to appoint Shiva 
Frentzen as Executive Officer. If Shiva's name is 
familiar, it's because she was previously an El 
Dorado LAFCo Commissioner who served on the 
CALAFCO Board of Directors. Welcome (again), 

(Continued on page 8)

December, 2022 | Page 4 of 8

FAREWELL to Two Contra Costa LAFCo Commissioners 
- Rob Schroder and Tom Butt

Submitted 
by Contra Costa LAFCo

Following 20 years as a Contra Costa LAFCo Commissioner, six 
years as Martinez City Council member, Rob Schroder is retiring. 
During his tenure, Rob served on various committees 
and regional government agencies and boards, including 
the Contra Costa Transportation Authority government 
agencies and boards, including the Contra Costa 
Transportation Authority (CCTA) (22 years),  Central Contra 
Costa Identification Bureau (19 years), Marin (CCTA) (22 
years), Central Contra Costa Identification Bureau (19 years), 
Marin Clean Energy (MCE) (3 years), and was an active 
member of the Contra Costa Contra Costa Mayors Conference. 
Commissioner Schroder began his LAFCo career 
in 2003 and is currently his LAFCo career in 2003 and is 
currently one of our longest serving Commissioners. During 
Rob's tenure, LAFCo processed 330 applications, including 
four district formations and seven district dissolutions, 
and most recently, a large fire district and most recently, 
a large fire district reorganization. LAFCo also completed 
1st and 2nd round municipal service reviews (MSRs)/sphere 
of influence (SOI) updates covering all municipal 
services.

Commissioner Schroder attended many CALAFCO conferences 
and says "serving as a LAFCo commissioner 
gave me an opportunity to understand 
the relationship between various governmental 
agencies and how the services they provide 
intertwine and rely on each other. The MSR process, 
although confusing when we when we first started 
the process many years ago, became a valuable 
tool in analyzing the efficient delivery of service 
and identifying deficiencies, areas, and entities 
that need to be improved or dissolved. Being a 
LAFCo commissioner made me a better Mayor with 
the knowledge of the annexation process and the 
efficient delivery services."
Following nearly 12 years 
as a LAFCo Commissioner, 27 years as City of
(Continued 
on page 6)



CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter December, 2022

BOARDROOM (Continued from page 1)

The new members were seated during the October
21st meeting, followed by the election of the 
following Executive Officers:
Bill Connelly (Chair)
Margie Mohler (Vice Chair)
Acquanetta Warren (Treasurer)
Daniel Parra (Secretary)

With Anita Paque rotating into the Immediate 
Past Chair position. Thank you to all for your 
service!

With those changes, the first "regular" Board 
meeting occurred on December 9, 2022, with 
Chair Connelly at the helm. At that time, the 
Board chose committee members for the new year
(staff members for the Leg Committee had been 
appointed on October 21st.) Committees and 
members are:
LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE
Board Appointees - Bill Connelly, Gay Jones, 
Mike Kelley, Chris Lopez, Jo MacKenzie, Mike 
McGill, Margie Mohler, Anita Paque, Daniel Parra 
and Josh Susman.
Staff Voting Members - Clark Alsop, Gary Bell, 
Mark Bramfitt, Scott Browne, Carolyn Emery, 
Steve Lucas, Kai Luoma, Jennifer Stephenson, and
Gary Thompson.
Staff Alternates - Rob Fitzroy, Paula Graf, Joe 
Serrano, and Paula de Sousa.
Advisory - Tara Bravo, Crystal Craig, Brandon 
Fender, Sara Lytle-Pinhey, Priscilla Mumpower, 
Erica Sanchez, Jim Simon, and Luis Tapia.

ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS COMMITTEE
Mike Kelley, Debra Lake, Margie Mohler, Anita 
Paque, and Shane Stark.

ELECTIONS COMMITTEE
Rodrigo Espinosa, Chris Lopez, Derek McGregor, 
and Josh Susman.

Continued in next column

 

 

 

CONFERENCE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Gay Jones, Derek McGregor, Margie Mohler, Anita 
Paque (Chair), and Josh Susman.

Other matters on the Board's December 9th 
agenda included receipt of the Investment and 
Financial Reports for the First Quarter, adoption 
of the Board's meeting schedule for the next year, 
approval of an RFP for Accounting Services, and 
receipt of the Conflict of Interest forms, 
Legislative Committee report, and Conference 
Overview.

Speaking of the conference, we must express 
thanks and gratitude to Paul Novak (Los Angeles) 
and Carolyn Emery (Orange), for their 
extraordinary fundraising. Because of their 
efforts, the conference posted a small profit of 
approximately $5,000 - despite the nearly 
$32,000 in additional fees that we were obligated 
to pay due to the cancellation of the spring 
workshop. Hopefully, we can keep these efforts 
going next year!!

The last item of the meeting was a closed session 
evaluation of the Executive Director's (ED) 
performance. At it's conclusion, the Board 
announced that the term of the ED's employment 
contract was extended to June 30, 2026, that 
they had formally approved a 4.9% cost of living 
increase (the allocation for which had been 
approved in April with the adopted budget) and, 
due to security concerns at the current CALAFCO 
office, approved the ED working remotely from 
any location, subject to approval by the Executive 
Committee. For full particulars of public items, 
please see the agenda packet.
The biennial Strategic Planning session is 
scheduled for February 16th at the Sacramento 
offices of Best Best & Krieger located at 500 
Capitol Mali. The Board meeting will be held the 
next day (February 17th) at the same location.

All agendas, staff reports, and minutes can be found on 
the CALAFCO website at www.calafco.org. Any 
questions should be directed to the Executive Director 
at rlaroche@calafco.org.

www.calafco.org.

rlaroche@calafco.org. 



CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter December, 2022

CONTRA COSTA FAREWELLS
(Continued from page 4)

Richmond Council member, and the past 
eight years as the City's Mayor, Tom Butt is 
retiring. Tom served on multiple boards and 
committees including MCE, CCTA, San 
Francisco Bay Conservation and 
Development Commission, West Contra 
Costa Transportation Advisory Committee, 
Association of Bay Area Governments, US 
Conference of Mayors, Climate Mayors, 
League of California Cities, and was an 
active member of the Contra Costa Mayors 
Conference. Commissioner Butt notes that 
these regional and statewide appointments 
have been critical in bringing many benefits 
to the community including hundreds of 
millions of dollars in grants, public works 
projects, legislation, and a seat at the larger 
table. During Tom's tenure, LAFCo 
processed 95 applications, including 
numerous boundary changes/ 
reorganizations, five dissolutions, and most 
recently, a large fire district reorganization 
and an out of agency service contract for 
fire services. During Commissioner Butt's 
tenure, LAFCo completed 1st and 2nd round 
MSRs/SOI updates covering all municipal 
services.

In 2019, both commissioners shared in 
receipt of CALAFCO's "Most Effective 
Commission" award. Contra Costa LAFCo 
Commissioners were recognized for their 
leadership, diligence, and endeavors to 
promote healthy and sustainable local 
agencies. Since 2010, Contra Costa LAFCo 
Commissioners assisted three special 
districts to improve their operations and 
transparency, encouraged several districts 
to revise its governance structure, 
reorganized one special district, and 
dissolved four special districts.

Congratulations and best wishes to 
Commissioners Schroder and Butt for their 
valuable and dedicated service to their 
communities and to Contra Costa LAFCo!

ALAMEDA CONDUCTS MEASURE D 
STUDY

Submitted By Rachel Jones, Executive Officer, 
Alameda LAFCo

Alameda LAFCO recently conducted a special 
study regarding ballot Measure D that was 
passed in November of 2000 and did the 
following:

• Amending the County's Urban Growth 
Boundary

• Increasing restrictions on building 
intensity, minimum parcel sizes and 
permitted uses in rural areas of the County

• Establishing that all County planning 
policies and zoning regulations must be 
consistent with provisions of Measure D, 
and

• Mandating that any changes to the land 
use designations, building intensity or 
minimum parcel sizes as established by 
Measure D be subject to a new vote of the 
County electorate

The study's purposes were to review how 
Measure D has affected agricultural and 
open space lands and the surrounding 
communities, and to consider how 
implementation of Measure D has or has not 
met its own LAFCO policies pertaining to 
agriculture and open space. The study found 
that since the measure's passing, the 
agricultural and equestrian communities of 
Alameda County argue that the strict square 
footage limitations hinders their business 
performance. Alameda LAFCO recommended 
proposed amendments to the County to 
allow equestrian centers, greenhouses and 
wineries more flexibility in their building 
plans.

This November, Alameda County voters 
approved the recommended amendments on 
Measure D, or the "Save Agriculture and 
Open Space Lands" initiative, that aimed at 
increasing profits for agriculture business 
while simultaneously preserving the county's 
open land.

For more information see: https:// 
dailvcal.org/2022/10/31/preserve-openland 
-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended- 
measure-d

https://-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended-measure-d



Upcomi
EVENTS

ng

2023 STAFF WORKSHOP
April 26 - 28, 2023
Learn technical topics in a scenic setting! Don't miss the Staff Work­
shop to be held on the beautiful grounds of Ironstone Vineyards in 
Murphys, California.

2023 ANNUAL CONFERENCE
October 18-20, 2023
Hyatt Regency Hotel, Monterey, California

CALAFCQUniversity
CALAFCO U explores topics of interest to LAFCos and are offered at 
no cost to our members.

feb. 23, 2023: The Dirty Dozen: Things I Wish I Knew About
The Act

BOARD MEETINGS:
Feb. 16, 2023 (Strategic Planning) LOCATION: Sacramento
Feb. 17, 2023 LOCATION: Sacramento
Apr. 21, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual
Jul. 14, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual
Oct. 20, 2023 LOCATION: Monterey
Dec. 1, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual

LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE MEETINGS:
Jan. 13, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual (9 AM)
Feb. 24, 2023 LOCATION: Sacramento (10 AM)
Mar. 31, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual (9 AM)
May. 5, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual (9 AM)
Jun. 16, 2023 LOCATION: San Diego (10 AM)
Jul. 28, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM)
Aug. 25, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM)
Nov. 3, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM)
Dec. 8, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM)

 

 

ED WHIRLWIND
(Continued from page 2)

that we've already begun fielding questions from 
potential bidders.

The second large administrative undertaking for 
2023 will be the website. We have known since 
March of this year that the platform on which our 
website has been built is being retired. So far, 
our vendor has been able to keep the website 
functioning at an increasing cost. However, the 
underlying computer language that it uses will 
not be supported at all after November, 2023. 
Given that we have no choice but to rebuild the 
website, it presents the ideal opportunity to 
upgrade it to an Association Management System 
(AMS) which will provide more features to the 
membership, while reducing some of the 
repetitive administrative things that Jeni does 
behind the scenes. We are currently in the 
process of comparing costs and features between 
available AMS systems and hope to be able to 
bring something before the Board in the first part 
of 2023.

While that's a lot, we're also planning for the Fall 
Conference. Our October event was so successful 
that I have already begun hearing from sponsors 
who are interested in the Monterey conference.

Beyond that administrative matrix, we also 
foresee a busy year for the Legislative Committee
who will be working through some of the back­
end things needed to get the GC 56133 proposal 
moving. Now that our new White Paper has been 
published ("Planning for a Sustainable and 
Predictable Future: Clarifying LAFCo Authority to 
Determine Government Code Section 56133(e) 
Exemption Eligibility"), we can begin the process 
of reaching out to stakeholders.

Lastly, I am pleased to report that at its 
December 9th meeting, the Board approved an 
extension to my employment contract through 
June 30, 2026. I am gratified beyond measure at 
the faith they, and you, have placed in me and I 
hope to continue to be worthy of it in the years to
come.

Hopefully, you can tell that I am exhilarated by 
the opportunities and prospects before us. While 
the year has been a bumpy one, it has led to 
good friendships, great partnerships, and the 
start of some wonderful things. I call that a 
winning year!

Happy Holidays to each of you! May the season 
ahead bring you love and laughter. May the year 
to come bring you prosperity and contentment.
Happy New Year, everyone!!

Upcoming Events

2023 STAFF WORKSHOP
April 26 
- 28, 2023

2023 ANNUAL CONFERENCE
October 
18-20, 2023
Hyatt 
Regency Hotel, Monterey, 
California



CONNECTIONS
Shiva!

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter December, 2022

J.D. HIGHTOWER takes the EO rein in San 
Joaquin

J.D. Hightower has taken the EO refers in San 
Joaquin. Jim Glaser hung around for a month or 
two to assist with the transition (and even made 
an appearance at the conference) but is looking 
forward to indulging in some traveling.

Welcome aboard, J.D.!

KRIS BERRY now with San Benito

Kris Berry has reported that she has accepted a 
contract to be San Benito's EO. This makes the 
second LAFCo in Kris' belt, as she is also EO for 
Amador LAFCo. Looks like lots of travel is in Kris' 
future. Congratulations, Kris!

STEVE ENGFER appointed Interim EO in 
Mariposa

Long-time EO, Sarah Williams, has retired after

RSG, Inc. Continued from page 1
establishing a factual, transparent and credible basis for our clients to make informed decisions. RSG 
prepared Placer LAFCo's comprehensive fiscal analysis for the 2017 incorporation proposal for Olympic 
Valley, the preliminary feasibility studies for a 2018 incorporation in Malaga (Fresno County), as well 
as several reorganization proposals and municipal service reviews.

To learn more about RSG, Inc, visit their website at www.webrsg.com or contact Jim Simon at: jsi- 
mon@webrsg.com.

Continued from Page 4

33 years with Mariposa County. In her place, the 
Board of Supervisors has appointed Assistant 
Planning Director Steve Engfer as both the 
Interim Planning Director and the Interim LAFCo 
EO. Welcome, Steve!

LORI ZINN hired as San Diego's new Clerk/
Analyst

San Diego LAFCo is pleased to welcome Lori Zinn 
who joined them as their new Clerk/Analyst. Her 
first day there was October 24th.
Congratulations, Lori!

STEPHANIE PRATT welcomed as Marin 
Clerk/Jr. Analyst

In August, Marin welcomed Stephanie Pratt to 
the LAFCo family. She comes to Marin from the 
private sector so is learning not just about LAFCo 
but the public sector. Hang in there, Stephanie, 
and welcome!

Congratulations to you all!

Assoc
SPOT

iate Mem
LIG

ber x
HT

CITY OF RANCHO MIRAGE
Located in the geographic center of the 
Coachella Valley, Rancho Mirage 

enjoys sunshine nearly every day with clean 
air. Resort living, superb dining, outdoor 
recreation, cultural and business opportunities 
all contribute to a superior quality of life.

To learn more about the City of Rancho 
Mirage, visit their website at: 
https://ranchomirageca.gov/

QK (formerly Quad Knopf) provides 
planning, engineering, biology, environmental, 
and survey services to public and private clients. 
Our planners have previous experience working 
for public agencies, including serving as LAFCo 
Analysts. We specialize in the San Joaquin Valley 
and Sacramento Valley regions.

To learn more about QK visit their website at 
www.qkinc.com, or contact Trevor Stearns at 
tstearns@qkinc.com

All information is provided by the Associate upon joining the Association. All Associate Member information can 
be found in the CALAFCO Member Directory.

CALAFCO wishes to thank all of our Associate Members for their ongoing support and partnership. We 
look forward to highlighting other Associate Members in future Newsletters.

www.webrsg.com jsimon@webrsg.com

www.qkinc.com



The California Association of Local Agency Formation Commissions

2023 Events Calendar

JANUARY
13 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)
18-20 League New Mayor & Council Academy 
25-27 CA Assn. of Sanitation Agencies Winter

Conference (Palm Springs)

FEBRUARY 
16

17

23
24

CALAFCO Board of Directors Strategic
Planning (Sacto.)
CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting
(Sacto.)
CALAFCO U Webinar
CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Sacto.)

MARCH
14-17 Fire District Assn. Annual Meeting (Napa)
31 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)

APRIL
20-21 CA State Assn. of Counties Leg Days (Sacto.)
21 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting

(Virtual)
26-28 CALAFCO Staff Workshop (Murphys)

MAY
3-5 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Conference

(Sacto.)
5 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)
16-17 CA Special Districts Assn. Leg Days (Sacto.)

JUNE
16 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (San

Diego)

JULY
14 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting

(Virtual)
28 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)

AUGUST

9-11 CA Assn. of Sanitation Agencies Annual
Conference (San Diego)

25 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)
28-31 CA Special Districts Assn. Conference

(Monterey)

SEPTEMBER
20-22 Regional Council of Rural Counties Annual

Meeting (Monterey)
20-23 League Annual Conference (Sacto.)

OCTOBER
18-20 CALAFCO Annual Conference (Monterey)
19 CALAFCO Annual Business Meeting

(Monterey)
20 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting

(Monterey)

NOVEMBER
3 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)
13-17 CA State Assn. of Counties Annual Conference

(Alameda)
28-30 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Conference

(Indian Wells)

DECEMBER
1 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting

(Virtual)
8 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Sacto.)

20
23

For current information and other CALAFCO resources please visit www.calafco.org

Last Updated: December 9, 2022



 
  

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

 

 

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   
 

 

Barbara Coler, Vice Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo   
 

Stephen Burke, Alternate  
City of Mill Valley  

 

 

Lew Kious, Chair  
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig K. Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary  
Tod Moody, Alternate 
Sanitary District #5 

 

Vacant, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Richard Savel, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular  
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate 
County of Marin  

  

AGENDA REPORT  
February 9, 2023 

Executive Officer Report – Section D 
 
TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
FROM:  Stephanie Pratt, Clerk/Junior Analyst 
   
SUBJECT: Commission Correspondence 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Attached you will find a letter from our Auditor, Davis Farr, that staff had distributed to the Commissioner in 
January about our upcoming audit for FY 21-22.   
 
No other correspondence has been received. 
 
 
Attachment: 

1) Davis Farr letter to the Commission 



 
 
 
 
 
December 19, 2022  
 
Marin  Local Agency Formation Commission  
San Rafael,  California  
 
 
This letter is  provided in  connection  with  our  engagement  to  audit the financial statements  of 
the  Marin  Local  Agency  Formation Commission  (the  “LAFCo”)  as  of and for the  year ending  
June 30, 2022. Professional  standards  require that we communication with you certain items  
including  our responsibilities with  regard to the  financial statement audit and  the  planned 
scope  and  timing of our  audit, including  significant  risks we have  identified.   Additionally,  as 
a part of  our audit, we inquire  with  those  whose duties include oversight  of  the  financial 
reporting process  (review and  acceptance  of audit  reports, etc.) to  ascertain whether or not 
anyone  on the  Commission  has  knowledge  of matters that might have  a  bearing on the 
auditor’s risk assessment for the LAFCo’s annual audit.  
 
Example of these matters are:  
 

  Known or suspected instances of employee fraud  
 

  Areas in  which the  internal controls of  the  LAFCo  are  thought by the  Commission  to 
be weak  

 
  Known or suspected misstatements in the accounting records of the  LAFCo  

 
  Known or suspected use of improper accounting practices by the  LAFCo  

 
  Any awareness of pressure upon the LAFCo  or  LAFCo  management  with respect  to 

achieving certain financial results  
 

  Matters that warrant particular attention during the audit  
 

  Information about unusual transactions or other matters relevant to the audit  
 
Generally, the  scope  of the  audit is limited to  matters involving amounts that would be 
significant to the  financial  statements  of the  LAFCo  taken as a  whole.  If additional  time  is 
required to respond to the  concerns of the  Commission, we  will  estimate for the  LAFCo  the  
costs involved.  
 
Please respond within  45 days  from  the date  of this letter if  the Commission  has  any  matters 
to report that meet the  above criteria.  
 
Our Responsibilities  
 
As stated in  our  engagement  letter dated December 19, 2022,  we are  responsible for  
conducting  our audit in  accordance  with  auditing standards  generally accepted in  the  United  
States of America and in accordance  with Government Auditing Standards for the purpose of  
forming and  expressing  an opinion about whether  the financial statements that have  been 



 

prepared by management, with  your oversight, are  prepared,  in  all material respects,  in  
accordance  with  accounting principles  generally  accepted in  the  United  States of America.  Our 
audit does not relieve you or management of  your respective responsibilities.  
 
Our responsibility relating  to other  information,  whether  financial or  nonfinancial  information 
(other than financial  statements  and  the  auditor’s  report thereon),  included in  the  LAFCo’s  
financial statements  includes only the information identified in our  report.  
 
Planned Scope of the  Audit  
 
Our audit will  include  examining, on a test basis,  evidence  supporting  the  amounts  and  
disclosures in  the  financial statements; therefore, our  audit will  involve judgment about the  
number  of transactions to be examined and  the areas to be  tested. Our  audit is designed to  
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements as a  
whole are  free of material misstatement, whether  due  to error, fraudulent financial reporting,  
misappropriation  of assets,  or violations  of laws  or  governmental  regulations. Because  of this  
concept of reasonable  assurance and  because we will not examine all  transactions,  there  is  a  
risk that material misstatements may exist and not be detected by us.  
 
Our  audit will  include  obtaining an understanding of the LAFCo  and  its environment, including  
its internal  control, sufficient to  assess the  risks of  material misstatement  of the financial 
statements and  as a basis for  designing  the  nature, timing, and  extent  of  further  audit 
procedures, but not for the  purpose  of expressing an opinion  on the effectiveness of the 
LAFCo’s internal control over  financial reporting.  However, we will  communicate to you at  the  
conclusion of  our audit  any material weaknesses or significant  deficiencies  identified. We  will  
also communicate to you:  
 

  Any violation of laws or regulations that come to our attention;  
  Our views relating  to qualitative aspects of  the LAFCo’s  significant accounting 

practices,  including  accounting policies,  accounting estimates, and  financial 
statement disclosures;  

  Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit;  
  Disagreements with management, if any, encountered during the audit;  
  Significant unusual transactions, if any;  
  The potential effects of uncorrected misstatements on future-period financial 

statements; and  
  Other  significant matters that are relevant to  your responsibilities in  overseeing  

the financial reporting process.   
 
We  plan  to begin the  audit examination of the LAFCo  in  January 2023.  We  plan  to have  the  
audit complete and finalize the financial statements  by March 31, 2023.  
 
In addition to our standard audit approach, we  have identified significant  audit risk areas for  
the  LAFCo  and plan to modify our audit approach as follows:  
 

  Risk of errors in  implementing GASB  87,  the new Lease Standard:   We will  evaluate  
the  applicability of  GASB 87 to the  LAFCo  and  if necessary, ensure  all transactions are 
properly recorded and the footnote disclosures are properly reflected.   
 



 
 
 

 

  Each year we  are  required to incorporate an element of unpredictability into our audit  
approach.  This year,  we  plan  to expand  our testing of  expense  reports.   We  will  make  
a selection of employee expense  reports,  and  if applicable,  members of the  commission  
expense reports and  will  review the support provided for the  expense  report and  
ensure  compliance with  the  LAFCo’s policies  and  procedures  related to expense 
reports.  

 

If any member of  the  Commission  has information relevant to our audit (matters  involving  
amounts that would be  significant to the financial statements of  the  LAFCo  taken as a whole),  
please contact the undersigned at 760.298.5872 or sayala@davisfarr.com.  
 
This information is intended solely for the information and  use  of  management  of  the  LAFCo  
and  the  Commission  and  is not  intended to be  and  should not be  used by anyone  other than 
these specified parties.  
 
Sincerely,  
 

Shannon Ayala, CPA  
Partner   
 

sayala@davisfarr.com

	Agenda February 2023.pdf
	Item 1
	Item 1 - Agenda Report.pdf
	AGENDA REPORT
	Background
	Discussion
	Staff Recommendation for Action
	Procedures for Consideration


	Item 1 - DRAFT December Meeting Minutes

	Item 2
	Item 2 - Ratification of Payments Staff Report.pdf
	AGENDA REPORT

	Item 2 - Attachment.pdf

	Item 3
	Item 3 - Staff Report Regarding AB 361 and Brown Act
	AGENDA REPORT
	Background and Discussion
	Recommendation
	Attachment:



	Item 3 - Attachment 1 Resolution 23-01.pdf

	Item 4
	Item 4 - Golden Gate MSR Memo.pdf
	Golden Gate MSR PUBLIC DRAFT

	Item 5
	AGENDA REPORT
	Background


	Item 6
	Item 6 -Marin Map Alternative.pdf
	AGENDA REPORT
	Background

	Staff Recommendation for Action

	Item 6 - Attachment

	Item 7
	Item 7 - Commendation Staff Report.pdf
	SUBJECT: Approval of Proclamation for Commissioner Larry Loder
	Staff Recommendation for Action

	Item 7 - Larry Loder Commendation

	EO Item A
	EO Item A - Budget Report Staff Report.pdf
	EO Item A - Attachment.pdf

	EO Item B - Current and Pending Proposals
	EO Item B - Current and Pending Proposals Staff Report.pdf
	EO Item B - Attachment 1 Current and Pending Proposals Chart.pdf

	EO Item C - Committee Assignments Staff Report
	EO Item E
	EO Item E - CALAFCO Update.pdf
	EO Item E -Attachment A CALALFCO Quarterly Newsletter 12.22
	CELEBRATING EXTRAORDINARY!

	FAREWELL to Two Contra Costa LAFCo Commissioners - Rob Schroder and Tom Butt

	MEMORIAM

	ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS COMMITTEE

	CONFERENCE PLANNING COMMITTEE

	STEVE ENGFER appointed Interim EO in Mariposa


	SPOTLIGHT


	EO Item E - Attachment B CALAFCO 2023 Calendar

	EO Item F
	EO Item F - Correspondence.pdf
	EO Item F - Correspondence Attachment

	Agenda February 2023



